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Key Figures Group

in CHF Mio.

Orders received
Orders on hand
Sales
EBITDA
– as % of sales
EBIT
– as % of sales

Net Profit
– as % of sales
– as % of equity attributable to equity holders
of Unaxis Holding AG
Cash flow from operating activities 2
Investments in fixed and intangible assets
Total assets
Equity attributable to equity holders of Unaxis Holding AG
– as % of total assets
Net liquidity inclusive of marketable securities 3
– as % of equity attributable to equity holders
of Unaxis Holding AG
Net assets 4
EBIT as % of net assets ( RONA )
Number of employees
Personnel expenses
Research and development expenses
1

A five-year comparison of key figures for 2005–2001
can be found on page 117.

2

Before change in net current assets.

3

Marketable securities are short-term investments
and treasury shares.

4

Net assets include the operating current and
non-current assets (excluding cash, cash equivalents
and financial investments), less operating liabilities
(excluding financial debt and tax provisions).

July 1 to
January 1 to December 31,
December 31, 2005
2005
unaudited

January 1 to
June 30,
2005
unaudited

January 1 to
December 31,
2004

1 455
355
1 605
59
4%
–34
–2%
18
1%

741
355
904
124
14%
78
9%
135
15%

714
518
702
–64
–9%
–112
–16%
–117
–17%

1 778
494
1 850
–3
0%
–329
–18%
–372
–20%

2%
84
91
1 983
1 039
52%
670

13%
110
32
1 983
1 039
52%
670

–10%
–26
59
2 232
1 179
53%
529

–31%
114
240
2 411
1 215
50%
669

64%
567
–6%
6 434
600
148

64%
567
14%
6 434
289
72

45%
543
–21%
6 707
312
76

55%
488
–67%
6 844
629
180

Editorial

Key figures for the Unaxis Group

1

Profile
Unaxis is a global high-tech group, involved in a broad spectrum of
sophisticated technologies. Group activities focus on surface coating,
vacuum production, data storage, optics, solar technology, aerospace
and semiconductors. Around 6 500 employees in 25 countries are
developing and manufacturing products and services for tomorrow’s
technology markets.

Editorial

Report of the Chairman of the Board

Dear Shareholders
2005 represented a turning point for Unaxis.
In 2004, Unaxis produced a loss of CHF 372 million, followed by CHF 117 million for the first half of 2005.
Following the decisive reconstitution of the Board of Directors on June 28,
2005, and subsequent management changes, the Group can show:
–
–

a return to profit of CHF 18 million for 2005 as a whole, and
a profit of no less than CHF 135 million in the second half of 2005.

This positive result was indeed achieved under difficult market conditions
and despite a decline in sales. It was thanks to a Herculean effort at all
levels of the company during the second half of 2005 that Unaxis managed
a firm return to the black.
Turnaround under new leadership
At the Unaxis Extraordinary general meeting held on June 28, 2005,
a new Board of Directors was elected by a wide majority of shareholders in
response to the motion of Victory Industriebeteiligung AG. Under the leadership of this reconstituted Board of Directors and a new management team,
the steps necessary for a turnaround at Unaxis were immediately initiated.
A Group-wide restructuring program began to gain traction after only a short
period of time:
–
–
–

the loss-making cash drain at the company was halted within the space
of four weeks,
all of the company’s business units made significant operational progress, and
each of them was able to record a profit in the fourth quarter of 2005.

This rapid return to profitability underscores the great potential that lies
within Unaxis. To illustrate the turnaround, we have decided to include 2005
mid-year figures in the financial report.
In the current year, Unaxis is charting a course toward growth. We are
impelling organic growth and a uniform organizational structure throughout
the Group and in parallel are strengthening the market and technological
position of individual business units through acquisitions. At the same time,
Unaxis must become leaner, more flexible and quicker in its response. Our
goals, starting with the current year, are annual sales growth and a net profit
margin both in excess of 15 percent.
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Unaxis has a clear vision
Unaxis’ growth path is based on a clear-cut corporate vision:
–

–
–

Unaxis will be a premium high-tech company – a company that, based
on its worldwide presence, is the preferred partner for globally active
customers,
a company that is an attractive employer, thanks to its cultural diversity
and opportunities for personal development, and
most of all a company that, due to its strategic focus on profitability,
generates sustained enterprise value for all of its shareholders.

Sharp increase in market value
In response to the company’s strategic reorientation and the determination
with which it has pursued restructuring measures, the capital market has
regained trust in Unaxis. In mid-March 2006 – at the editorial deadline of this
Annual Report – the price of Unaxis’ shares stood at around CHF 327. Thus,
in the nine months since the Extraordinary general meeting of shareholders in
late June 2005, the shares have recorded a gain of nearly 85 percent. During
that time frame, the market capitalization of Unaxis has increased by more
than CHF 2 billion to today’s level of around CHF 4.6 billion. Within a short
period, the new management team has generated significant value for the
shareholders.
Unaxis introduced a share buyback program in the second half of 2005,
repurchasing almost 10 percent of the company’s outstanding shares. Those
shares are earmarked for the financing of acquisitions as well as the coverage of employee stock ownership plans.
A strong balance sheet, unencumbered by significant financial debt
and thus highly creditworthy; available resources comprised of liquid assets,
marketable securities and treasury shares with a current value totaling some
CHF 900 million – it all provides an outstanding basis for the Group’s further
growth.
Transparency as a fundamental principle
The Board of Directors of Unaxis feels obligated in equal measure to all
shareholders. In order to emphasize this sense of duty vis-à-vis minority
shareholders, the Board insists on uncompromising transparency. In future,
Unaxis will be publishing quarterly earnings along with the figures on
orders received and orders on hand in an effort to make it easier to grasp
developments under way within the Group. We will also be broadening our
corporate governance disclosures and, as of 2006, will report the individual
compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors and Executive
Board.
Acknowledgements
In 2005, Unaxis took a large step forward. And that is mainly thanks to
our employees. In this year of transition, they demonstrated a particularly
strong commitment to the company. On behalf of the entire Board of
Directors, I would like to extend my gratitude to each and every one of
them. Our sincere thanks also go to our customers for their trust and
the close partnership we share with them, as well as to you, our valued
shareholders, for your abiding support. The achievements of 2005 lay
the foundation for the successful future of Unaxis.

Georg Stumpf
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Editorial

Unaxis has the goal of setting global standards in the innovation of
technologies and services. The supporting pillars are its core competencies
in thin film coating, vacuum and precision technologies. In these fields,
Unaxis ranks among the global market leaders, and is a driving force behind
technological development. Target markets for ongoing development based
on these core competencies include the booming solar technology sector,
where Unaxis is already a technology leader.
Diversified activities and capabilities within an enterprise that is uniformly
managed and stands solidly on a foundation of shared technologies – those
are the factors that represent the strengths of Unaxis.

“Unaxis is back on track”

In the second half of 2005, Unaxis achieved a turnaround in its operations.
Thomas P. Limberger, CEO of Unaxis, comments on the financial results, and
explains the company’s forward strategy.
Mr. Limberger, how do you take stock
of the 2005 financial year?
My own conclusions have to be limited
to the second half of 2005, because
I have borne operative responsibility for
Unaxis only since August. The course
of business in the final six months of
the year was very favorable. We pursued extensive restructuring measures
throughout the company, some of
which have already been concluded.
Unaxis has strengthened its competitiveness and expanded its market
position. And most importantly, all of
our business units succeeded at the
latest by the fourth quarter in returning
to profitability. My bottom line on the
subject: Unaxis is back on track following the second half of 2005.

What were the greatest hurdles on
the path back to profitability?
The most challenging problems were
encountered in the flat panel display and
semiconductor business. We rapidly
implemented Unaxis’ exit from the flat
panel display business and managed to
complete projects that were underway,
thereby stemming the cash drain.
Subsequently, the opportunity arose to
do something completely new with the
already existing technology. As a result,
the Solar business unit came into existence. With that, we are advancing into
a new and attractive market while
simultaneously preserving the production
facilities and the majority of workplaces.
And what has been happening in the
semiconductor segment?
The priority here was to analyze the
product platforms at Assembly &
Packaging. Based on the findings, we
launched the new Wire Bonder 3100
on a broad front. Several hundred units
of the machine have been sold, returning
Assembly & Packaging to profitability
in the fourth quarter of 2005, and our
books are also full this year. Meanwhile,
the business unit transferred its production activities to Asia, which in turn
improved its cost basis considerably.
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Unaxis is currently being restructured
quickly and radically. How have the
employees reacted to that?
At the outset skeptically, to a certain
extent also with resistance. And that is
fully understandable. Seeing how
Unaxis in recent years has been continuously subjected to a series of makeovers, there was no way we could expect
to be received with applause. I believe,
however, that the new management team
has convinced the employees of its
vision for the company. Because at the
end of the day, we are all pursuing
the same goal. We want to be successful
with Unaxis; we want to make Unaxis
a company that employees can once
again be proud of. And that is being
recognized.
Has the company culture
also changed?
Most assuredly. The concept that has
driven me since taking office as CEO is
the principle of “One Company.”
Unaxis is an enterprise that is active in
eight different fields. Each area is a
part of the whole, and the whole is
called Unaxis. This fraternal esprit in my
opinion is the true essence of the term
“Teamwork,” which we defined in 2005
as one of the four fundamental values
at Unaxis. The three others are: “Innovation,” “Integrity” and “Excellence.”
Those four elements constitute the new
value system of Unaxis. And going forward, employees as well as managers
will be measured against those tenets.

Editorial

Coating Services, too, witnessed an
What in your opinion were the highincrease in profitability in the fourth
lights of 2005 in terms of innovation?
quarter. What was accountable for
In 2005, Unaxis pressed ahead with
that?
innovation at every business unit. The
Coating Services is the undisputed
operative turnaround is not least
world leader in coating and has always
of all a result of the fact that we are
enjoyed good margins in the past. The
listening to the desires of our customers
new dimension is that the business unit and have convinced them with our
is pursuing the concept of being a fullnew products. A good example of this
range provider of services. For that rea- is the Blu-Ray technology. Blu-Ray
son, we are pressing ahead with its
is one potential successor to the DVD
and offers a quantum leap in storage
efforts on in-house coating. Secondly,
capacity. Data Storage Solutions has
we have been able to reduce throughput times at the coating centers, thanks mastered the technical challenges
involved in producing these new disks.
to a restructuring of the related processes. And that has meant lower costs That in turn has opened the door for
cooperative ventures with the world’s
and improved services which cusleading disk manufacturers and providtomers are also willing to pay for. The
fact that we have been able to increase ed Unaxis with a considerable competitive edge.
profitability even in this already successful business unit illustrates the
With what are you still not satisfied?
enormous hidden potential within
I am very satisfied with the progress
Unaxis.
made in the second half of 2005; I have
to stress that. The established objecThe focus in 2005 was on cutting
tives were not only achieved, they were
costs. Where were the most signifiexceeded. On account of the weak first
cant savings achieved?
half, we recorded a decline in total
Cost restructuring has permeated the
revenues for 2005. But Unaxis was profentire organization. We have reduced
costs significantly in all of the business itable, which is what matters. Achieving such a result despite a drop in sales
units, and central staff functions such
represents a tremendous accomplishas IT, controlling and real estate management have been restructured to a
ment on the part of each and every one
significant extent. For example, shared
of our employees.
services at the Balzers/Trübbach
facility were subjected to a detailed
analysis and either consolidated at
Group headquarters or migrated to the
business units. These measures alone
save Unaxis no less than CHF 20 million
per year – even as they provide
improved internal service
quality.

You speak of “One Company.”
What added value does Unaxis as a
corporation bring to the business
units themselves?
Unaxis is built on a foundation of
shared technological core competencies – namely thin film, vacuum
and precision technologies – which we
exploit in a broad spectrum of applications. Against that backdrop, it is
advantageous for us as a holistic company to reflect upon our fundamental
technologies. We have created mechanisms that enable research teams
from all operational areas to exchange
their knowledge and findings. That
alone already justifies the Group’s
structure.

What advantages are there other than What in concrete terms is being
these technological aspects?
done in that regard?
Through centralized functions and
When it comes to margin improvement,
Group-wide standardized processes,
Unaxis has spawned several initiatives
we can exploit synergies, reduce
that are collectively referred to as
costs, as well as take steps more rap“Operational Excellence.” At the foreidly and in a manner that is measurfront of this are specific measures,
able. We have proved that in the second such as expanding our service busihalf of 2005. In the current year, we
ness, improving the pricing and rebate
will be going even further; for example,
system, achieving more efficiency in
logistics and procurement activities
production and introducing centrally
for all business units will be centrally
steered global procurement. And
and globally coordinated in future.
not least of all, it is a matter of strictly
controlling overhead costs, for example
What does this approach mean to
by means of the previously mentioned
the employees?
restructuring of shared services.
It means a higher level of motivation
For the current year, we want to boost
and a greater sense of identity with the
revenues by means of targeted, and
company. As a group enterprise,
above all jointly coordinated, marketing
we offer an attractive work environment activities.
with a wide range of opportunities for
personal development in various indus- What goals are you pursuing over
try segments and countries. Careers
the long term?
that transcend the individual business
In its various fields of activity, Unaxis
units are now being proactively encour- wants to be the market and technologiaged. We have employees who, after
cal leader. Our quantitative goals
having previously worked for Optics in
are to achieve an annual rate of sales
China, are now at headquarters in
growth clearly in excess of 15 percent,
Corporate Development; in the same
on a net profit margin of more than
vein, other people from headquarters
15 percent. And we will achieve that in
have been offered new opportunities in the future, thereby increasing the enterAsia. By taking this tack, Unaxis desires prise value of our company. Because
not only to be a technologically and
ultimately it is a matter of fulfilling sharefinancially successful company, but also holders’ expectations.
a preferred employer that offers interesting perspectives for its people.
What strategy will you use to realize
this vision?
In all markets in which our business
units are active, we want to be the
global number one or number two in
terms of profitability. That is the clearcut strategy of Unaxis. The prerequisite
is that we achieve leading market
positions. In many areas we are already
very well situated. And to steer Unaxis’
future growth, two levers are at our
disposal: increased sales and improved
margins.

8

Editorial

What is your strategy for growth?
What priorities are you setting for
As with almost any company, organic
the current year?
growth is highly important. Aside from
We will set a fast pace in our efforts
that, we also want to strengthen the
to increase revenues, improve margins
company further via acquisitions. Only
and restructure our cost basis. I am
those companies would come into
convinced that 2006 will be another
question that have a command of
milestone in the successful developpromising future technologies or enable ment of our company.
an expansion of our existing market
position. And this, of course, at a reasonable price. The transactions concluded in 2005 underscore this acquisition strategy: Space Technology
purchased business activities in the field
of high-precision mechanisms for
aerospace applications, thereby reinforcing its product portfolio. And in
taking over two in-house coating centers,
Coating Services had the expansion
of its market position as its prime objective.
Apart from acquisitions, there is
also talk of divestitures. The semiconductor segment appears to
be back in gear – why should it
nonetheless be sold?
It is correct that the problems at
Semiconductor Equipment were quickly
remedied and that the business unit is
once again putting in a pleasing performance. But in the light of our strategy, divestiture remains the logical
option: just a few providers control the
semiconductor industry. Wafer Processing and Assembly & Packaging may
have the best technology, but their size
rules out the potential for being the
industry number one or number two in
profitability terms. Yet thanks to successful restructuring, there is no time
pressure for a divestiture.
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A strong management team
Unaxis Executive Board and Senior Management

Siegfried Lamprecht
assumed the position of
Head of Corporate Human
Resources at Unaxis
on August 1, 2005. As an
expert in personnel management, he was previously General Manager
and a partner in the
Munich-based global
executive search organization, Amrop Hever. In prior
years, he held top-level
HR management posts
at international industrial
companies, including
Gerresheimer Glas AG,
internationally active
in the packaging industry,
MAN Nutzfahrzeuge AG ,
a producer of commercial
vehicles, as well as
auto supply company
ZF Friedrichshafen AG .
Siegfried Lamprecht transferred to the business
world after twelve years
as an active officer in
the German Federal Armed
Forces. He holds a
diploma in business education from the German
Federal Armed Forces University of Munich.

Global Tax

has been a member of
the Board of Directors of
Unaxis Holding AG since
2004. He has headed
the Unaxis Group since
August 1, 2005, as its
Chief Executive Officer
and Delegate of the Board
of Directors. Prior to that,
Thomas P. Limberger was
CEO of General Electric
Germany, Austria and
Switzerland, and in this
function bore responsibility for 11 000 employees
and an organization that
generated in excess of
EUR 6 billion in annual
sales. From 1996 through
2002, he held various
management positions with
health care company
Fresenius and its subsidiary, Fresenius Medical
Care. Thomas P. Limberger
is a Board member of
the American Chamber of
Commerce in Germany
as well as the Central
Association of the Electrical Engineering and
Electronics Industry of
Germany. He holds
a Master of Business
Administration degree in
finance and strategic
management.

Ulrike Schellert

Thomas P. Limberger

Corporate Controlling

has been Chief Financial
Officer of Unaxis since
October 1, 2005. He is a
proven expert in financial
management and brings
with him in-depth experience in the industrial
and banking sectors. Prior
to joining Unaxis, Rainer
Mück was responsible for
global tax matters at
Commerzbank as the head
of its tax division. Before
that, he spent a number of
years at General Electric
and PriceWaterhouseCoopers in management
positions, most recently
as Head of Tax Matters for
General Electric Germany.
Rainer Mück earned
a degree in business management from the
University of Bamberg in
Germany.

Jörg Eichkorn

Rainer Mück
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Wafer Processing

Peter Podesser

Assembly & Packaging

Kurt Trippacher

Semiconductor Equipment

Franz Richter

Solar/Display Technology

Detlev Koch

Space Technology

Axel Deich

Vacuum Solutions

Thomas Babacan

Optics

Joe Haggerty

Data Storage Solutions

Peter Tinner

Coating Services

Hans Brändle

Global Sourcing

Matthias Steufmehl

Regional Executive Asia

Andreas Widl

Corporate Communications
& Investor Relations

Carsten Barth

Global Sales & Marketing

Andreas Harting

Corporation
Diverse activities and competencies, brought together by an overarching
group structure with global values and goals: this is how Unaxis creates
added value for customers, employees and shareholders.

Group Report

Unaxis is a premium company in the high-technology industry. Based
on clearly defined strategic objectives, a uniform structure and shared
values, the company pursues a single mission: to be a leading force
in the innovation of products, technologies and services.
Unaxis’ key competencies are centered on thin film, vacuum and precision
technologies. On the basis of those technologies, the company develops
and manufactures production systems and components, as well as providing related services for a broad range of high-tech applications. These
include surface coating, vacuum generation, data storage, optics, solar
technology, aerospace and semiconductor equipment. In all of these fields,
Unaxis is a driver of innovation. At the operational level, these business
activities are subdivided into eight business units that are managed uniformly
and centrally. Through the sophisticated activities and capabilities resident within this group enterprise, as well as by the targeted exploitation of
synergies, Unaxis creates added value. Each of its business units benefits
from the company’s global presence, know-how and standardized processes.
Strategic orientation toward profitability
Unaxis pursues a clear-cut strategy: in all of its markets, the Group aims
to be the number one or number two company in terms of profitability. The
prerequisite in this regard is that all business units protect their leading
market positions. Unaxis expands those units by means of organic growth
as well as through the acquisition of companies, parts of companies and
relevant technologies. Business units that do not achieve the company’s
strategic goals are divested. In so doing, the Group strengthens its financing ability for investments in its core businesses.
Unaxis has clearly defined the strategic orientation of each of its business units:
– Coating Services is to grow organically by focusing on its services
Traditionally, compobusiness (in-house centers); selective acquisitions to extend market
nents in need of coating
presence are also a strategic focus.
are delivered by cus– Vacuum Solutions must resolutely pursue its current restructuring protomers to the business
gram and expand its services activities. Here, too, acquisitions are
unit’s coating centers,
possible in order to broaden its market presence.
where they are processed and then returned to
– Data Storage Solutions should use new technologies as a means of
the customers. However,
generating internal growth; targeted acquisitions will round out the
in the case of in-house
product portfolio.
centers, the coating
– Optics is to grow through new applications as well as partnerships
takes place right at the
customer’s site – and
aimed at expanding its fields of business; acquisitions are possible as a
that saves time and
part of this strategy.
money.
– Space Technology must strengthen its international presence and,
among other things by means of acquisitions, gain access to the EU
market.
– Solar should grow organically and via acquisitions in the conventional
solar area in the effort to become a full-range provider.
– Wafer Processing/Assembly & Packaging: Following their turnaround,
these business units are to be divested.
Structure: Unaxis is “One company”
To orient existing resources optimally toward the achievement of the company’s strategic goals, Unaxis has introduced a uniform organizational
structure and corporate culture. The Group will now be managed as a single company, rather than as a conglomerate consisting of eight more or less
independent business units, as was the case before. Responsibilities and
competencies within the Group have been clearly allocated. Each organizational unit concentrates on its own fundamental tasks:
– The Group headquarters of Unaxis functions as a management holding
organization, which conducts the strategic and operative management
of the entire enterprise. The Corporate Functions were expanded in 2005
to include Sales & Marketing, Global Tax, Quality and Risk Management,
and Global Sourcing. The Corporate Functions prescribe globally uniform
standards and processes as well as ensuring that synergies are
exploited across business units and national boundaries.
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A diagram of the organizational structure can be
found in the Corporate
Governance section of
this Annual Report on
page 50.

–

The business units bear responsibility for conducting their business
in accordance with the Group’s strategic and operative guidelines. They
focus on developing their own specific markets and are the driving
force behind technological innovation.
In the company’s three major market areas – EMEA , the Americas and
Asia – regional organizations are in place. They coordinate the Group’s
activities in their respective territories, ensure a uniform and customeroriented presence in the marketplace, and provide centralized services
to the local operations such as monitoring corporate governance guidelines.

Shared values as the foundation for daily dealings
Unaxis has defined a set of four corporate values that serve as the cultural
foundation of the company and as a means of orientation for each and
every individual in Unaxis’ worldwide family of employees:
– Excellence: The goal of Unaxis is – through its outstanding products
and services – to generate customer benefit and consistently profitable
growth, to be a reliable partner for customers and suppliers as well as
to achieve the highest quality in its business processes. Consequently,
Unaxis has a commitment to lifelong learning and the effective management of knowledge.
– Innovation: As a high-tech company, Unaxis wishes to develop leading
technologies and creative innovations, implement the latest business
processes and lean structures, orient its product development toward
customer needs, actively pursue market research and continually
develop its portfolio of products.
– Integrity: Unaxis fulfills its promises to customers, is transparent vis-àvis customers, suppliers and employees, upholds ethical and legal
standards, maintains and fosters open communication, pays heed to its
employees’ needs and respects work-life balance as well as the concerns of society and the environment.
– Teamwork: The people at Unaxis pursue common goals, assume
responsibility, work closely together across organizational boundaries,
exchange experiences and knowledge, benefit from the diversity of
their coworkers, make use of synergies and deploy available resources
in an optimal manner.
In combination with uniform, transparent management of the enterprise, this
shared corporate culture ensures that intercompany synergies can be
exploited and established objectives are pursued with dedication – to the
advantage of all of the company’s stakeholders.
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Group Report

–

A strong portfolio
The Unaxis Group at a glance

Segments/Business units
Coating Services

Vacuum Solutions

Data Storage Solutions

Components and Special Systems
Optics

Companies
Balzers

Leybold Vacuum

Unaxis Data Storage

Unaxis Optics

Vacuum pumps
and systems

Production lines for
data storage media

Optical components
and systems

Products and services
Coating services
and equipment

End products
Precisions tools and
components for:
. Automotive industry
. Motor sport
. Aircraft industry
. Medical technology
. Toolmaking industry
. Machinery
. Consumer goods industry
. Packaging industry
. Food industry

Engine components
treated by Coating
Services provide that
crucial performance
edge.

. Semiconductors
. PC s
. DVD s / CD s
. Monitors and TV s
. Medical and
analytical instruments
. Cooling and air-conditioning
. Automotive braking systems
. Architectural glass
. Incandescent/fluorescent
lamps
. Food packaging

DVDs /CD s for:

. Music
. Films
. Computer games
. Data storage
Hard disks for:

. Game consoles
. PC s
. Digital cameras
. MP3 players

Processes from Data
Storage Solutions
apply the layers that
store feature films
and data on DVD.

Vacuum Solutions
creates just the right
conditions for producing the microchips
in notebook computers.

. Video projectors,
home cinema

. Rear-projection
. Architectural/

TV s

theatrical lighting

. Medical instruments
. Laser systems
. Automotive/industrial safety
systems

. Digital cameras
. Biomedical analysis

Dazzling home cinema
experiences are possible
thanks to optical components from Unaxis Optics.

Solar / Display Technology
Space Technology

Semiconductor Equipment
Wafer Processing

Assembly & Packaging

Unaxis Solar
Unaxis Displays

Unaxis Wafer Processing

ESEC

Aerospace structures
and mechanisms

Photovoltaic production
systems

Coating and etching
processes for the
semiconductor industry

Chip assembly equipment
and processes for the
semiconductor industry

Payload fairings for
launch vehicles:
. Ariane 5 (Europe)
. Atlas V-500 (USA)
. Vega (Europe)

Solar modules for:

. Solar farms
. Large rooftop installations
on industrial buildings

. Rooftop installations on
private homes

Composite and actuator
technology for:
. Satellite structures/
mechanisms
. Scientific instruments

Payload fairings from
Space Technology
sit atop Europe’s
Ariane launch vehicle.

. Building-integrated photo-

Semiconductors for:

. PC s
. Mobile phones/
telecommunications

. PDA s and MP3 players
. Game consoles
. Automotive sensors

Group Report

Contraves Space

Semiconductors for:

. PC s
. Mobile phones/
telecommunications

. PDA s and MP3 players
. Game consoles
. Automotive sensors

voltaics

Unaxis Solar provides
reliable, low-cost
solutions for manufacturing solar modules.

Technology from Wafer
Processing makes the
chips that store our personal contacts, mail
messages, appointment
details, and much more.
Automated equipment
from Data Storage
Solutions manufactures
hard disks for MP3
players.

Technology
Ideas are the motor that drives our company. Dedicated innovation
management turns them into market-driven products and services.

”

Group Report

“

Excellent cooperation on micromorphic solar cell technology involving
our research teams in Neuenburg and Trübbach, along with the
Institute of Microtechnology, has enabled us to develop a revolutionary
concept in photovoltaics.
Johannes Meier,
Head of Research & Development at Unaxis Solar and winner of the
2005 Swiss Solar Prize

A company like Unaxis can never afford to stand still. In an environment like high-tech industry, which is subject to continuous change,
innovation and improved market services represent never-ending
tasks. Technological competency and partnerships based on active
dialog form the basis for accomplishing those tasks.

The Technology Board
steers research in the
basic technologies
of importance to Unaxis
and ensures that they
are utilized throughout
the company. As a
superordinate competency team, it coordinates R&D efforts within
the Group and establishes key objectives.

Unaxis understands innovation as being strategically integrated developmental work which involves coming up with new ideas, selecting the
most promising among them, and turning those ideas into market-oriented
products and services. Those who wish to be successful in this regard
must have the ability to foresee future trends in technology and focus their
innovative work on meeting genuine customer needs. With a view toward
gaining the closest possible proximity to its customers, Unaxis has situated
its research and development activities decentrally in the various business
units, which themselves are uniformly and centrally managed. At the same
time, there exist structures and processes aimed at exploiting synergies
within the Group and shortening innovation cycles.
At the Group level, Unaxis has established a Technology Board, on
which the Research & Development heads of all business units have a seat.
Unaxis also sees to close collaboration between the Research & Development teams on the one hand, and Marketing and Sales on the other. In personal exchanges, market and technology trends are assessed and translated into new ideas for the innovation pipeline. As a result, innovations and
market needs can be coupled.
In its product development efforts, Unaxis places strong emphasis on
technology partnerships with customers. These cooperative ventures afford
not only a direct linkage with the market and its needs, they also reduce
technical and financial risks while shortening the time to market. Comprehensive patent protection safeguards the intellectual capital of Unaxis
against encroachment by third parties and simultaneously strengthens the
company’s negotiating position in joint development work and licensing
agreements.
Innovation for the markets of tomorrow
In all of the fields in which it is commercially active, Unaxis ranks among
the technological leaders. The company is also at the forefront in terms of
trendsetting technologies in the mass consumer electronics market.
Blu-Ray is an example. This format is currently battling with HD-DVD
(high-definition DVD) to become successor to today’s conventional DVDs.
Both of these new technologies afford a quantum leap in storage capacity.
In the BD-ROM format, a single-layer Blu-Ray disk can store a total of
25 gigabytes. However, for certain applications, dual-layer disks are necessary. The challenge in producing dual-layer disks is the upper layer, an
extremely thin 0.1 mm coating that is applied to the surface of the disk and
must have an exceedingly consistent depth. If that is not the case, the
laser beam cannot read the stored information or could even damage the
surface of the disk.
Data Storage Solutions has successfully developed a process for applying this coating. This technological breakthrough has met with a
tremendous response in the industry. For Data Storage Solutions, it paves
the way for cooperative ventures with the world’s most renowned disk
replication companies. At the important industry trade fair in Frankfurt in late
May 2006, Data Storage Solutions will be introducing the first BD-ROM
line for the industrial production of Blu-Ray disks. The business unit has
developed HD-DVD in parallel and can thus offer solutions for both
technologies.
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A capacity of 25 gigabytes is sufficient to
store 13 hours of film of
conventional quality – or
roughly 90 percent
of all feature length films
recorded in high-definition format. However,
as soon as additional
material such as various
language versions,
interviews, trailers, etc.,
is added, the laser
head must shift to a
second layer (dual
layer).

Cooperative ventures ensure knowledge transfer
In areas of strategic importance, Unaxis has been working for years now
in collaboration with select universities and research institutes all over the
world. In this way, the Group gains access to the scientific world’s latest
findings, a decisive advantage indeed given the ever-shorter product cycles
in high-tech industry. It is not a rare occurrence that such cooperative
ventures result in new business fields with attractive growth perspectives.
Since 2002, a partnership in the area of solar technology has existed
between Unaxis and the Institute for Microtechnology at the University of
Neuenburg in Switzerland. By embracing the Institute’s technological
know-how, Unaxis managed to develop a process for low-cost production
of thin film solar modules. In comparison to conventional solar cells, thin
film cells require only a fraction of that rare and expensive commodity,
crystalline silicon. They can be produced more than 30 percent less expensively. Thanks to this cost advantage, thin film solar modules have the
potential to compete with traditional energy sources in the near future.
For Unaxis, this new field of application is extremely interesting
because a production technology that has been thoroughly tested in actual
practice can be used for a new, highly promising market. That Unaxis
is in the pole position with its innovative technology was confirmed by its
winning the Swiss Solar Prize 2005. In August last year, Unaxis commenced installation of the first solar production system and concluded the
final acceptance test on December 1. As a result, the start of production
took place on schedule. A second unit was installed in March 2006.
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Innovation management establishes clearly defined focal points
In developing new products, Unaxis does not just focus its efforts on the
limits to what may be technically feasible, but far more on customer needs
and the prospects for commercial success. Innovation management
ensures that the proper objectives are set in the company’s research and
development activities, an exercise that also takes into account the
cost/benefit aspects. Unaxis regularly subjects its technology portfolio to a
rigorous validation process. Each project must fulfill various selection
criteria before it is considered for cost-intensive further development.
The “innovation funnel”
Wafer Processing, for example, applies the “innovation funnel” concept
concept is a variation
in its approach to innovation management. In this method, all innovation
of the Stage-Gate™
plans pass through clearly defined project stages, during which they are
process, which is utilized
meticulously evaluated for their potential. In the process, a team of develby many of the world’s
opment engineers and marketing people analyze the various factors that,
high-tech companies.
It has been adapted to
in total, enable a conclusion to be drawn as to the probability of success
meet the specific needs
and commercial potential of the given project. Those projects that meet the
of Wafer Processing.
criteria are pursued and all others are halted. In keeping with the funnel
principle, the early conceptual phases of many projects run in parallel, while
ultimately only the best make it through to the prototype phase and hence
into the product pipeline at Wafer Processing.
As a result of this resolute prioritization, Wafer Processing ensures
that investments of time and money are centered on the most compelling
projects. The fact that more than half of all projects emanating from the
conceptual phase are being halted early on testifies to the efficiency of this
“innovation funnel.”

The Swiss Solar Prize
2005 was awarded to
Dr. Johannes Meier,
Head of Research &
Development at Unaxis
Solar and Prof. Arvind
Shah of the Institute for
Microtechnology at the
University of Neuenburg
in recognition of the
results of their many
years of research in the
field of photovoltaics.

Customers
Unaxis is committed to putting customers at the leading edge of
competitive high-tech industry. Genuine, enduring partnerships are the key to success.

”
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“

The Unaxis in-house coating center greatly simplifies our work processes, and slashes logistics expense. Our customers benefit from
faster delivery times and top quality.
Antonio Cordone,
Country Manager, Samputensili

To offer technologies and services that give customers an edge in the
fierce competitive battle of high-tech industry – that is the Unaxis
mission. A prerequisite in this regard is to have a thorough understanding of customer needs and technological trends in their specific
markets.
Unaxis fosters intensive dialog with its customers. The insight gained in so
doing enables the company to expand its own range of products and
services in a market-oriented fashion, as well as to align its value chain with
the needs and processes of customers.
The company’s new holistic approach to management affords considerable advantages in this regard. Improvement measures can be effectively
and efficiently implemented throughout the business units. A key role is
played by the corporate Sales & Marketing function. It steers all activities
related to the company’s markets and customers, ensures that uniform
standards are applied, and provides support to sales consultants and key
account managers. At the same time, it ensures that customers’ needs
and reactions are systematically incorporated into the flow of services provided. The key element in these efforts always remains one of delivering
clearly identifiable added value to customers by providing them with innovative products, integrated service concepts and global support.
Added value through comprehensive service
By combining technologies and services, Unaxis offers tailor-made, comprehensive solutions for the production of high-tech products. Customers
are relieved from having to conduct certain steps in their production
process and are freed to focus on their core activities. And they are secure
in the knowledge that they can count on competent support at all times.
The in-house coating centers supplied by Coating Services are exemplary in this regard. The centers are built right on the customer’s factory
premises, thereby allowing the coating process to be optimally integrated
into the manufacturing process. The installations as well as the utilized
coatings are fine-tuned to meet the customer’s specific needs. Steps that
are otherwise handled out-of-house are accomplished right next door.
Coating Services currently operates 72 centers throughout the world, of
which ten are in-house. Customers’ responses to this type of comprehensive support have been very positive. Antonio Cordone, Country Manager
Samputensili is a globally of Samputensili Brazil stated: “In close cooperation with Unaxis, we are
leading manufacturer of
realizing solutions that meet the constantly increasing expectations of our
gear cutting tools. Since
customers. The in-house coating center simplifies our work processes
July of 2005, Coating
and slashes logistics expense. Our customers benefit from faster delivery
Services has operated
times and top quality.”
the company’s coating
facility in Brazil as an inhouse coating center
Long-term partnerships with customers
and in October 2005 also
Unaxis nurtures a long-term partnership with its customers, one that
took over the business
already begins in the early development stage of a new product generation
activities of two Italian
PVD coating centers from
and encompasses the entire value chain: from manufacturing, to quality
the Samputensili SpA
assurance, through to delivery and startup. Depending on the sector, this
group.

process can span just a few months or up to several years.
For example, the maiden flight of the Atlas V-500 launch vehicle in 2003
was already accompanied by a payload fairing from Space Technology.
NASA ultimately selected this launch vehicle, at present the most powerful in the American fleet, for the current mission to the planet Pluto. On
January 19, 2006, liftoff took place at the Kennedy Space Center in Cape
Canaveral, Florida, with the “New Horizons” space probe on board.
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After a ten-year journey
covering approximately
six billion kilometers,
New Horizons will
explore the atmosphere
and surface of Pluto.
From this mission to the
far reaches of space,
NASA hopes to gain new
clues on the origin of
our solar system.

As a partner of Lockheed Martin Space Systems, Space Technology

with service and support. To that end, the company has built a globespanning infrastructure. At the most important customer locations, Unaxis
has teams in place – consisting of a Key Account Manager, Technical
Account Manager as well as service and support personnel – so that rapid
and competent assistance is assured at all times.
This type of comprehensive support is particularly important in the
semiconductor industry, where speed and low costs are everything. Chip
manufacturers and subcontractors that have rapidly and cheaply available
production capacity also have advantages on the field of competition. Suppliers can only ensure the required short response times through local
presence.
To that purpose, Assembly & Packaging has built up a dedicated network. In regions with the highest frequency of customers, it has established
satellite offices that provide comprehensive service and support. For customers located far from the nearest satellite office, Residential Service
Engineers are made available. They possess the requisite specialized knowhow regarding the customer’s production equipment and processes, and
sees to the proper installation, training, maintenance, repair and necessary
spare parts. This immediate availability of support has been very favorably
received by customers, and reinforces their trust in Assembly & Packaging
as a supplier.
Improved customer care
Unaxis has staked the claim of being best-in-class in terms of customer
care. As well as quality, the main yardstick for assessing the level of service is the time it takes to respond to customer concerns.
An example in this regard: Optics realized two projects in 2005 aimed
at accelerating the processes involved in confirming customer orders and
managing enquiries. Teams of marketing specialists, quality managers and
information managers have scrutinized and optimized the related procedures. With an eye toward achieving the highest possible degree of efficiency, identical software-supported processes are now applied at all of the
business unit’s locations.
As a result, Optics has managed to shorten its response times considerably. The average processing time for customer orders has been
reduced in comparison to the previous year by 67 percent, to what is now
24 hours. The time required for handling technical callbacks and complaints has even declined by 70 percent. The software-supported approach
enables the responsible complaint managers to control the processing
status of such issues on an ongoing basis. In addition, customer complaints
systematically flow into the quality control functions associated with Optics’
products.
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Orders in the semiconductor industry are
processed at extremely
short notice to minimize
the risks associated with
excessive inventories.
Production timetables
are correspondingly tight.
If production capacity
has to be increased
through the installation
of additional equipment,
or support is needed
in case of breakdowns,
the situation needs
addressing within hours.
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The payload fairing pro- developed and built the payload fairing for the Pluto mission. A particular
tects satellites prior to
challenge in this regard was how to withstand the extreme forces that
launch and during their
occur during acceleration of the launch vehicle. Moreover, the payload fairflight through Earth’s
ing had to be outfitted with a large access door in order to facilitate instalatmosphere against
lation of the space probe’s power supply just prior to liftoff. This specific
aerodynamic and thermal stress, while provid- configuration was designed in close collaboration with Lockheed Martin.
ing the launch vehicle
Acceptance of the 20.7-meter long payload fairing was accomplished in
with an optimal form.
September 2005, representing the first time that NASA had selected a payApproximately 200 secload fairing from Space Technology.
onds after liftoff, the
payload fairing for the
Pluto mission was jetti- Continuous on-site support
soned in two halves
Unaxis’ customers are active on a global scale. Thus as their partner,
from the launch vehicle,
Unaxis must be present in all corners of the world in order to provide them
precisely as planned.

Employees
The future of Unaxis rests within the heads of our employees: imaginative
minds infused with know-how, enthusiasm and determination to create
special things together.

”
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“

Working with independent responsibility and a broad set of options
for getting the job done is a big thing at Unaxis. The culture says,
everything is possible – now go for it! I find it very inspiring to work
with people from highly diverse national backgrounds. And what
particularly impresses me is the no-compromise philosophy on quality.
Erica Meidana,
Corporate Development/Project Manager M&A

Around 6 500 individuals work for Unaxis across four continents of the
world. Their knowledge, creativity and experience represent the
greatest future potential for Unaxis. Those individuals lay the foundation
for the innovativeness and ultimate success of the company. Hence
the declared goal of Unaxis is to be an attractive employer for both its
current and future employees.

Marco Gantenbein, apprentice at the Balzers/
Trübbach facility, successfully participated in
the international 2005
WorldSkills Championship in Finland, where
he was measured
against the best in his
profession as polymechanist. This, too,
evidences the high
quality of education at
Unaxis.

The requirements of the high-tech sector, along with the cultural diversity
of the globally positioned Unaxis Group, afford a challenging and inspiring
work environment. Unaxis employs people of different nationalities as
well as from a wide range of professions and fields of study, the majority of
which are related to engineering and science. Unaxis places tremendous
importance on employee development and the Group-wide exchange of
knowledge. Broadly diversified training and continuing education programs
impart specialized know-how and build fundamental skills. As a globally
active company, Unaxis requires that its employees not only possess
industry-specific knowledge, but also interpersonal skills and the ability to
work in international project groups. These requirements are systematically
integrated into the employee’s ongoing development.
Educational programs at Unaxis are defined at Group level to ensure
uniform guidelines and standards are applied. The implementation of these
programs then takes place on a decentralized basis within the various
business units. Training centers are in place at key company locations for
technical education purposes. The largest is situated at the Balzers/
Trübbach facility, where each year approximately 2 500 employees and customers receive further training. This particular center is to be expanded,
and will in future become the Unaxis Academy.
Apprenticeship training has a long tradition at Unaxis and the company
views it as a part of its social responsibility. It represents an integral part
of the Group’s educational programs. Throughout the world, 158 young people are currently being educated at Unaxis in various technical and commercial fields. At the trainee center in Balzers/Trübbach, the 1 200 th apprentice received a diploma in 2005.
Transfer of knowledge transcends business units and regions
Unaxis attaches great significance to the networking of know-how among
its employees, regardless of where they may be located around the globe.
Training programs are structured in a manner that enables participants
from various business fields and locations to come together. Knowledge
transfer is proactively fostered by means of joint projects.
This exchange of know-how is of central importance in the training of
local specialists, particularly at the new Unaxis sites in Asia. For example,
in 2005 Vacuum Solutions built a completely new production line for
roots pumps at its Tianjin, China, facility. The goal in so doing was to serve
the Asian growth market at competitive cost and simultaneously establish
proximity to the customer for service and support purposes. The project was
realized under the leadership of a German/Chinese transfer team. The
employees responsible for engineering and production at the Tianjin site
were trained in Germany for three months and German experts ultimately
supervised the commencement of production in China. Thanks to this close
collaboration, the start-up was accomplished in record time.
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Unaxis fosters knowledge transfer and cooperation that also transcends
business units. Data Storage Solutions and Optics are currently pursuing a
joint project in which Data Storage’s DVD manufacturing process is being
evaluated in terms of its suitability for the deposition of optical components made from plastic. After initial tests confirmed the basic feasibility,
development and application engineers from both business units will
now start working on optimization of the related processes. By mid-2006,
the concept for commercial exploitation of this new approach should be
finalized.

the basis for their daily activities and interactions: Excellence, Innovation,
Integrity and Teamwork.
The values defined by Group management were translated into operative
reality at numerous “value workshops,” which were attended by managers
from all business units and regions. In the process, it was primarily a matter
of arriving at a common understanding, despite cultural differences, of the
manager’s bearing and mindset vis-à-vis the company. At the Global Leadership Meeting in early January 2006, the company’s top 100 managers
proclaimed their personal commitment to upholding these values.
On the basis of Unaxis’ set of values, a competency model was drawn
up that defines the requisite professional and personal skills at the management level: the so-called Corporate Skills & Competencies Framework.
Going forward, this model will represent the Group-wide mandatory
standard for management development and assessment. In this way, Unaxis
can identify both internally and externally the most talented people, individually further their professional and personal development and deploy them
in the right place according to their skills – and this on an international
basis. As a result of this Group-wide approach, talented people have opportunities throughout the company and stand as candidates for leadership
functions in any and all business units.
International trainee program
Unaxis has a great need for college graduates, mainly those with a technical orientation. In order to position itself as an attractive employer for
the best graduates in what is an increasingly competitive environment, the
company this year is introducing an international trainee program. For
selecting the candidates, Unaxis is bolstering its intensive collaboration
with colleges and universities by making available an Internet-based
recruiting platform. With it, Unaxis can establish a dialog with graduates
throughout the world and apply online the same process one would use in
a face-to-face assessment of the candidate. This evaluation is accompanied by the company’s managers and is based on the Unaxis competency
model.
The trainee program is intended on the one hand to familiarize up-andcoming managers with the company’s worldwide product spectrum and,
on the other, to use project-specific assignments conducted by international
teams to provide insight into the multifaceted personal development possibilities within the Unaxis Group. In a 15-month course, participants get
first-hand experience in all Unaxis business units by means of deployment
throughout the world. During that time, they work on company-relevant
projects that provide clues about the candidates’ aptitude for a future career
with the company. After they have successfully concluded the trainee
program, Unaxis offers them attractive entry opportunities that have the
potential for an imminent management role within the Group.
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The Corporate Skills &
Competencies Framework assesses the
aspects of a person’s
management competency, leadership qualities, customer orientation, initiative, strategic
thinking, ability to cope
with change, analytical
skills and commitment
to the company’s values:
Excellence
Innovation
Integrity
Teamwork
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Through the use of
plastic instead of glass,
certain subsystems of
projection display
devices could become
considerably cheaper to
produce. Because
the cost advantage of
plastic comes into play
especially when a large
Shared corporate values and competencies as a foundation
number of units is involved, Data Storage’s
In view of the new “one company” philosophy, a top priority in the second
DVD systems, which
half of 2005 was to unify the Group’s personnel administration systems and
are designed for mass
implement a standardized management development program. As a fundaproduction, would
mental element of this philosophy, Unaxis formulated a globally applicable
represent an ideal production platform.
set of corporate values, which all employees will embrace in the future as

Targeted fostering of managers
As a part of this Group-wide management development process, 2006
will witness a harmonization of the previously variegated development programs and the introduction of a Group-wide approach to developing tomorUnaxis’ commitment to
fostering its own in-house row’s managers. Based on the Corporate Skills & Competencies Frametalent for management
work, the same competencies, adjusted for the given functional level, will
positions was evidenced
be expected both from promising individuals and managers up to the topin the 2005 financial year
most levels of the company. As a result, Group management will be providby the fact that individuals within the company
ed with an annual overview of the leadership situation in the business
were appointed to the
units, with the objective of filling vacant management positions internally
majority of vacant upper
and in a timely manner with qualified, well-prepared individuals.
management functions –
An important new element of this approach to employee development
for example, the heads of
the Coating Services,
takes the form of a regularly conducted management review of contemplatVacuum Solutions and
ed personnel changes. Against the backdrop of this targeted fostering of
Solar business units, as
future managers, an extensive audit of the given candidate’s potential will
well as the position of
shed light on his/her strategic thinking capabilities, leadership qualities and
Regional Executive Asia.
personal suitability in terms of the vacancy that is to be filled. The result
represents a comprehensive assessment in which further targeted development measures are recommended for fundamentally suited candidates.
Unaxis creates individual career development plans for managers as
well as for employees with leadership potential. Applied in this regard are
potential internal measures such as assignment to demanding projects,
deployment to another business unit or company location, as well as additional outside training and education. Managers who assume new functions
are accompanied by intensive coaching, and in turn the fulfillment of their
individual performance goals is incorporated in their compensation plan.
Socially compatible job reduction and flexible employment models
A company bears responsibility for its employees. Precisely how it demonstrates that responsibility is shown above all when structural changes
require personnel layoffs. Unaxis is committed to finding socially compatible solutions in this regard and has therefore defined clear, binding guidelines that apply throughout the Group.
Provided job reductions are necessary, the company’s local personnel
offices seek a solution that is as employee-oriented as possible. By way of
example, a social plan was devised for employees who were affected by
last year’s layoffs at Assembly & Packaging. Simultaneously, the affected
individuals were actively accompanied in their professional reorientation.
Via a Job Center, open positions within the company were communicated
and support was provided in finding new opportunities outside the company.
In addition, a flexible employment model was introduced as part of an
upcoming effort to more adequately buffer the pronounced fluctuations in
employee workload.
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In collaboration with
temporary job agencies
and personnel consulting firms, Assembly &
Packaging has established a circle of qualified workers who are
temporarily available if
need be. In order to
cover peaks in capacity,
the business unit also
lends and borrows
employees via a nonprofit system operated
in conjunction with
18 other companies.
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Unaxis achieved a turnaround in the 2005 financial year, returning to
the black with a consolidated net profit of CHF 18 million. Rigorous
cost control by the new management led to a sharp increase in gross
profit margins and EBIT of CHF 78 million in the second half of 2005.
With net liquidity inclusive marketable securities standing at CHF 670
million and an imputed equity ratio of 52 percent, Unaxis remains on a
solid financial footing.
Unaxis achieved a consolidated net profit of CHF 18 million in the 2005
financial year, following a CHF 372 million loss the year before. This
corresponds to earnings of CHF 1.35 per share. The turnaround facilitated
marked operative progress in the second half of the year.
Main contributors were the Coating Services and Components & Special Systems business units, with EBIT of CHF 47 million and CHF 12 million respectively. Moreover, all the business units were able to report positive EBIT in the fourth quarter.
Net profit of CHF 135 million in second half
The leap back to profitability came as the result of significantly increased
sales, combined with the cost-reduction program. The Group can report a
second half net profit of CHF 135 million and a 15 percent net profit
margin, following CHF –117 million in negative consolidated earnings for
the first half. The second-half operative gains are reflected in EBIT of
CHF 78 million and an EBIT margin of 9 percent.

Group Sales

Q1

Group EBIT

Q2

Q3
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Second half brings surge in sales
Parallel to the global economic recovery, Coating Services and Vacuum
Solutions continued their growth trends in 2005. Sales as well as orders
received were above the levels of the previous year. Initial projects at
the Solar/Display Technology business unit took shape. These, together with
orders in progress and service activities for flat panel displays, also led
to increased sales. Orders received were effectively negative, though, as a
result of the decision to exit the flat panel display market. Space Technology held up well in a regressive market, with sales and orders received
at prior-year levels. Business volume at Data Storage Solutions, Optics
and Semiconductor Equipment slackened in 2005. Due to overcapacity,
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customers in the data storage, optics and semiconductor markets were
faced with daunting price pressures during the first half of 2005 and
responded by holding back on new investments.
For the 2005 financial year, Unaxis recorded consolidated sales of
CHF 1 605 million (2004: CHF 1 850 million). Following first half sales of
CHF 702 million, Unaxis managed to increase this figure by 29 percent
to CHF 904 million. Orders received in 2005 were CHF 1 455 million
( CHF 1 778 million). Orders on hand stood at CHF 355 million (CHF 494 million), a decline that was primarily attributable to discontinuance of the
flat panel display business.
Having each contributed roughly 24 percent to the total, Coating
Services, Vacuum Solutions and Semiconductor Equipment were the revenue drivers of Unaxis in 2005. The lower volume of revenues from the
decidedly Asia-oriented activities at Data Storage Solutions, Optics and
Semiconductor Equipment had an impact on the geographic apportionment of sales. Consequently, Europe and Asia with proportions of 41 percent and 38 percent respectively, accounted for almost equal portions
of the Group’s consolidated sales. North and South America generated
21 percent of total sales.
Cost-reduction program boosts margins
In the 2005 financial year, Unaxis implemented a far-reaching program
aimed at cutting costs in all areas of the company. Measures such as a
partial shift of the supply chain to Asia in the case of Data Storage
Solutions and Assembly & Packaging, as well as the restructuring of
Vacuum Solutions, gained full traction in the fourth quarter and led to a
considerable reduction in the cost of products sold. As a result, Unaxis
was able to boost its gross profit margin from 24 percent to 31 percent,
despite the decline in sales.
To stimulate sales growth, Unaxis started a Group-wide program in the
second half of the year in an effort to increase the effectiveness and
efficiency of selling activities. This is reflected in the increase of sales and
marketing expense to CHF 215 million (2004: CHF 205 million). Unaxis
also pressed ahead with development of new technologies in 2005. The
reduction in R&D expense to CHF 148 million ( CHF 180 million) is essentially attributable to discontinuation of the flat panel display business.
Additionally, the prioritization that has been placed on innovation projects
allows for more efficient deployment of resources. Within the scope of the
cost-reduction program, Unaxis also keyed on general and administrative
expense, among other things by consolidating central functions into
Group headquarters. However, the considerable savings achieved in doing
so were unable to fully compensate for the added expense incurred in the
first half, in particular for external consultants. Hence administrative
expense of CHF 192 million exceeded the prior-year level ( CHF 176 million).
The positive CHF 11 million financial result mainly reflects the new,
proactive approach to cash management established in the second half of

Sales by region

Europe 41%
Asia 38%
America 21%
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the year. This achieved a financial result of CHF 10 million in the second
half, following CHF 1 million in the first six months. The CHF 62 million
recorded from the sale of other financial investments represents the proceeds from the divestiture of Unaxis’ 19.5 percent interest in Inficon
Holding AG .

Outlook
For 2006, Unaxis is working on the assumption that, viewed from a Groupwide perspective, market volumes will increase considerably in comparison to the previous year. Growth impulses should mainly come from
fast-paced expansion of the market for solar modules, as well as the
anticipated recovery in demand for data storage equipment. Turnover in the
industrially oriented markets of Coating Services and Vacuum Solutions
is also likely to increase further. Only the Optics and Space Technology
business units within the Components and Special Systems segment
could be faced with stagnating or modestly declining markets in 2006. In
the semiconductor market, Unaxis anticipates continuation of the clearly
noticeable revival observed in the second half of 2005.
Against this backdrop, Unaxis expects that the current financial
year will see total sales increase by significantly more than 15 percent.
The measures for improving margins, as well as strict controls of overhead costs, will be continued with the goal of boosting the Group’s
net profit margin to a sustainable level in excess of 15 percent.

Sales by business unit

Assembly & Packaging
192

Coating Services
392

Wafer Processing
186

Solar/Display
Technology
111
Space
Technology
93
Optics
124

Vacuum
Solutions
383
Data Storage Solutions
124
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Capital base remains outstanding
At December 31, 2005, net assets of the Unaxis Group stood at CHF
1 983 million versus the CHF 2 411 million reported at the end of 2004. Net
liquidity inclusive of marketable securities stood at CHF 670 million on
the balance sheet date. Following a figure of CHF 669 million for the 2004
reporting period, this represents a CHF 1 million increase. The decline in
inventories from CHF 477 million in the previous year to the year-end 2005
level of CHF 237 million is attributable to improved inventory management
and cost controls.
Investment in fixed assets was significantly less at CHF 88 million (2004:
CHF 128 million). Equity at year-end amounted to CHF 1 039 million, which
corresponds to a equity ratio of 52 percent (E: CHF 1 215 million; E ratio:
50 percent). Thanks to a high level of liquidity and equity capital, Unaxis has
the financial power necessary to forge ahead with implementation of its
business strategy.

The Unaxis business units

Key figures in CHF million

Profile

2004

2005

Group
Orders received
Sales
EBIT

Net profit
Employees

Coating Services

Coating Services develops equipment and processes for
tool and component coating, and is the leading provider of
coating services with over 70 centers worldwide.

Orders received
Sales
EBIT

Employees

Vacuum Solutions

Vacuum Solutions produces vacuum solutions for a broad
spectrum of cutting-edge manufacturing and analytical
processes, as well as for research purposes.

Orders received
Sales
EBIT

Data Storage Solutions is the world’s leading manufacturer
of replication and coating equipment for optical and magnetic data storage media.

Components and Special
Systems

Space Technology

Solar/Display Technology

1 850

–34

–329

18

–372

6 434

6 844

392

367

392

367

47

57

2 358

2 172

390

365

383

379
6

1 479

1 513

Orders received
Sales

122

170

124

208

EBIT

–13

10

Employees

360

442

Orders received
Sales

209

309

217

328

EBIT

Optics

1 778

1 605

–5

Employees
Data Storage Solutions

1 455

12

42

Employees

757

875

Optics produces coated optical components and systems
for data and video projection, the lighting industry, optical
sensors and instruments, and biotechnology.

Orders received
Sales
Employees

114

207

124

231

476

573

Space Technology is a leading provider of lightweight
payload fairings for space launch vehicles and also develops structures, instruments and precision mechanisms
for satellites.

Orders received
Sales
Employees

95

102

93

98

281

303

Orders received
Sales

–37

129

111

105

EBIT

– 44

–296

Employees

314

529

Solar/Display Technology develops mass production
systems and coating processes for manufacturing largearea thin film solar modules and provides service and
support to makers of flat panel displays.

34

Key figures in CHF million

Profile

Semiconductor
Equipment

Orders received
Sales

379
378

462

EBIT

–32

–173

1 099

1 238

Employees

Assembly & Packaging

437

Wafer Processing develops innovative production solutions
for specialized deposition and etching processes used in
semiconductor manufacturing.

Orders received
Sales
Employees

173

203

186

195

468

571

Assembly & Packaging is a leading supplier of automated
chip assembly equipment and processes for the semiconductor industry.

Orders received
Sales
Employees

206

234

192

267

631

668
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Wafer Processing

2004

2005
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Coating Services

In addition to placing
more stringent requirements on the performance of coatings, customers are also
demanding the shortest
possible throughput
times, which can only be
achieved by local presence. Coating Services
is therefore not only
expanding its network of
coating centers, but also
operating an increased
number of in-house
centers directly at customer facilities.

Market
In response to the global economic recovery, the total market for coating
services increased to roughly CHF 1.1 billion in 2005. While Europe’s generally mature markets grew modestly, emerging regions expanded at a rate
of approximately 15 percent in North and South America and up to 35 percent in Asia. Growth impulses came mainly from innovations and new areas
of application as well as new forms of collaboration with customers.
However, increasing price pressures are being felt as a result of consolidation within the industry. With a 35-percent share of the market, Coating
Services is clearly the global leader and, with its 72 locations throughout
the world, has the widest network of coating centers.
2005
Coating Services continued to enjoy a favorable course of business and
managed to increase its sales by 7 percent in comparison to the previous
year. In the contract coating area, all market segments – cutting tools,
forming tools and components – benefited from strong demand. In particular, sales to the tool manufacturing industry registered significant gains.
In the components segment, however, increasing price pressures impeded
growth. The equipment business was able to maintain the record level
achieved last year, primarily due to a sharp rise in demand during the final
six months of 2005. In the second half, Coating Services initiated a
broad-based program aimed at enhancing its operating efficiency, thereby
enabling it to make a positive contribution to Unaxis’ overall results.
Milestones
In 2005, Coating Services opened 11 new coating centers and thus expanded its network to 72 locations. As a result, Coating Services is
now present for the first time in Argentina, Canada and Thailand. In October,
the business unit took over two production plants from Samputensili in
Italy. This acquisition is an important step in its strategy to expand in-house
coating capacity at customer facilities on an international scale. Coating
Services is also setting new standards in terms of revolutionary products.
With its innovative, aluminum/chrome-based coating BALINIT ® ALCRONA,
the business unit sensed today’s needs and in turn was able to expand further its market position in the tool-coating area. The new coating for drills,
BALINIT ® HELICA, which was introduced in the fall of 2005, is also attracting
great interest among customers. With the RS 90, Coating Services has
developed the first coating unit to target industrial mass coating of components.
Outlook
The market for coating services should continue to develop favorably over
the course of the current year. In particular, strong demand in Asia will
persist. Against this backdrop, Coating Services reckons that sales growth
will clearly exceed 5 percent. In order to meet requirements in terms
of closeness to the customer, Coating Services is pressing ahead with its
geographic expansion. By the end of 2006, the business unit will have
approximately 80 coating centers in operation throughout the world. The
goal of these new locations is on the one hand to broaden its presence
in the Asia growth region and, on the other, to enable Coating Services to
tap new areas of application. Moreover, further acquisitions are under
consideration. The program for optimizing operating efficiency will continue
in parallel.

The RS 90 enables fully
automated coating of
high volume runs, typically in the automotive
industry. Short coating
processes, as well as
minimized unit costs
and low cost of ownership, are the hallmarks
of this new machine
from Coating Services.
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Samputensili is a major
producer of gear cutting
tools. Through the sale
of two facilities to
Coating Services, the
company benefits from
having an efficient coating operation at its disposal, as well as from
gaining access to the
latest coatings for new
and reworked tools.
As a result of the transaction, Coating
Services has strengthened its position as
a coating partner for the
tool industry in Italy.

Vacuum Solutions

2005
The price pressures that were already noticeable in the previous year, mainly as a result of existing overcapacity, relentlessly persisted in 2005.
Against this backdrop, Vacuum Solutions held its own admirably. Orders
received rose on a year-on-year basis by almost 7 percent and the
business unit managed to slightly increase its sales over prior-year levels.
In 2005, Vacuum Solutions initiated a comprehensive efficiency enhancement program referred to as Operational Excellence. Various measures, such
as improvement of cost structures and optimization of the service network, already gained traction toward the end of the year and enabled the
business unit to return to profitability in the fourth quarter.
Milestones
In 2005, Vacuum Solutions put the breadth of its know-how to the test in
various challenging projects. Among other things, the business unit delivered the vacuum pumps for the world’s largest television factory in South
Korea and for the pan-Chinese natural gas pipeline, as well as pump
units for vacuum ovens in which engine components for the new wide-body
Airbus A380 are treated. In parallel, Vacuum Solutions pressed ahead with
The SOGEVAC BI fore
innovation and launched a new series of products. Its position in the key
vacuum pump is a new
Asian marketplace was resolutely strengthened. Aside from its partnership
series of single-stage
with a leading Far Eastern manufacturer, the business unit opened a
rotary vane pumps. It
represents a cost-effec- subsidiary in India and expanded its existing production plants in China.
tive alternative to previously available products Outlook
and has met with a
Depending on the specific region, 2006 should witness growth in vacuumfavorable response, parrelated applications of between 3 and 5 percent. Vacuum Solutions reckons
ticularly in the USA. The
that its orders received and sales will exceed the market average in terms
SCROLLVAC rounds out
the business unit’s port- of growth. For 2006, the business unit’s focus will be placed on expanding
folio of dry fore vacuum
its manufacturing, sales and service activities in Asia and the USA. The
pumps. With its
efficiency enhancement program will take full effect and lead to a significant
Phoeni XL leak detector,
and sustainable improvement in the unit’s profitability, while streamlining
Vacuum Solutions is
of its product array and the introduction of new platform-based products will
the market leader in
portable leak detection
also exert a favorable impact on the bottom line.
devices.
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With the innovatively
shaped turbomolecular pump in the
form of a cartridge
solution, Vacuum
Solutions offers
its customers an
extremely high level
of performance at
significantly lower
investment costs.
The issuance of a
Europe-wide patent
in late 2005 – in
addition to the existing US patent –
helps to secure the
business unit’s
long-term strategic
position.
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Market
The market of relevance to Vacuum Solutions comprises roughly half of the
world’s total CHF 5.5 billion market for vacuum-related applications. With
a 14-percent share of that market, Vacuum Solutions ranks among the top
three providers in its specific business segments. After a weak start to
the year, a marked revival of demand emerged starting in the fourth quarter.
The trend toward “dry” solutions in the fore vacuum area and in pump
systems continued, especially in the process industry segment. Stronger
demand was also to be seen in terms of magnetically levitated turbomolecular pumps, which, thanks to their maintenance-free attributes, afford
significant advantages over pumps with mechnical rotor suspension.
Additional services such as guidance and monitoring also gained in significance during 2005.

Data Storage Solutions

Market
The overall market for coating systems and replication lines for data storage devices amounts to approximately CHF 700–900 million. In 2005, the
two submarkets addressed by Data Storage Solutions developed in opposite directions. Demand for optical storage media such as CD s and DVDs
stood clearly below the prior-year level. Margin pressures resulting from
the higher cost of raw materials, as well as uncertainty regarding the next
format generation – high-definition DVD or Blu-Ray – led customers of
Data Storage Solutions to postpone their investments. On the other hand,
a new investment cycle emerged in the hard disk segment as customers
strove to satisfy demand for the latest applications in the consumer
electronics area. Data Storage Solutions managed to protect its leading
position in the market for data storage equipment, and it commands
a dominating position in metallizers and systems for rewritable formats.
2005
In step with developments in the general market, Data Storage Solutions
recorded a significant decline in orders received and sales. As a consequence, the business unit pursued wide-ranging measures to increase its
operating efficiency. The cost aspects flowed systematically into product
development and, as a result, Data Storage Solutions was able to achieve a
marked reduction in the cost of building its “Fusion 2” DVD-R line. In addition, it restructured the sales and service organization. Apart from enabling
a more flexible response to customer needs, those moves also resulted
in considerable cost savings. A significant reduction in overhead expense
was achieved as well. Thanks to these measures, Data Storage Solutions
returned to profitability in the second half of 2005. Moreover, the business
unit is now in a better position to cope with future cyclical fluctuations in
demand.

The “Mini Sprinter”
from Data Storage Solutions was developed
specially for the production of write-once,
inorganic Blu-Ray disks
( BD-R ). This solution
means that customers
no longer need to deal
with expensive lacquer
products that were otherwise used for DVD-R ,
and thus it simplifies
mass production to
a considerable degree.

Milestones
The new “Fusion 2” DVD-R replication line for writable formats has enjoyed
broad acceptance among customers, the majority of whom are located in
Asia. The most important new launch in the hard disk area was the
“Racetrack” coating unit for the next generation of magnetic data storage
devices. Both systems are setting new standards in the industry with
regard to throughput and per-disk production costs. In 2005, Data Storage
Solutions entered into cooperative ventures with its key customers
throughout the world in order to optimize the Blu-Ray technology prior to
its market introduction. The first testing units for Blu-Ray disks have
been delivered to customers, and the existing partnership with Mitsubishi
MKM was extended beyond 2005 to enable joint development of recordable, dual-layer DVD formats.
Outlook
Assuming increased demand from final customers, a market recovery should
emerge in the second half of 2006 both in terms of optical and magnetic
storage media. And if one of the storage formats – HD DVD or Blu-Ray –
ultimately gains sway in the marketplace, that would trigger an additional
surge in investment. Because the business unit offers market-ready
solutions for both technologies, it will benefit in either case. Data Storage
Solutions has set the goal of increasing its 2006 orders received and
sales to levels above those of the previous year. At the same time, the
business unit intends to expand even further its market position in
metallizers and replication lines. The program for increasing operating
efficiency at Data Storage Solutions will continue in 2006.
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Current optical storage
technology is approaching its physical limits,
given today’s enormous
quantity of data. Blu-Ray
technology increases
storage capacity by a
simple means: a laser
with a short wavelength.
Instead of the traditional
red laser, which has a
wavelength of 635 or
650 nm, Blu-Ray uses a
blue laser with a 405-nm
wavelength. As a result,
Blu-Ray disks have a
storage capacity of 25
gigabytes – sufficient for
feature-length films with
the highest quality.

Optics

Market
The overall market for optical components of relevance to Unaxis Optics
generates approximately CHF 1 billion in sales. After a long phase of
growth, the market’s most important segment, projection display, recorded
a decline in 2005 for the first time. Overstocked inventories and falling
prices for components used in front- and rear-projection equipment led to
an 8 percent decline in demand. That was compensated by growth rates of
more than 20 percent in the life sciences substrate market and roughly
10 percent in the entertainment lighting segment. Despite stiff competition,
Optics was able to protect its leading position in components for projection
displays. Its declining market share in the DLP area contrasted with significant gains in the business unit’s share of the HTPS LCD and LCOS LCD marDLP (digital light processing) is based on a
kets, where Unaxis for the first time now ranks among the top five providers,
chip the size of a fingerthanks to new key customers such as Sony. In 2005, Optics took over
nail containing up to 1.4
pole position in the entertainment lighting segment, and it remains the clear
million microscopically
small mirrors that gener- number one in life sciences substrates.
ate a digital picture on
the projection screen.
2005
HTPS (high-temperature
Following the record levels it achieved in the previous year, Optics witnessed
polysilicon) is the most
broadly applied process a noticeable decline in orders received and sales in 2005. Apart from the
for LCD projectors. LCOS generally weak state of the market in the projection display segment, this
(liquid crystal on silicon) was mainly attributable to the expiration of a major production contract for
functions similarly to
rear-projection TV components. In response to the unsatisfactory course
HTPS but enables more
of business in the first six months of 2005, Optics pursued measures in the
brilliant colors and
second half aimed at reducing operating and overhead costs. By doing so,
sharper contrast. A
number of TV manufacthe business unit managed to achieve a positive operating result.
turers have therefore
switched from HTPS to

Milestones
In 2005, Optics for the first time issued licenses for its patented ColorWheel
technology to various companies in Taiwan, thereby gaining an additional source of revenue. In the area of LCD TVs, Optics won significant new
orders, among others from Sony for its Vega and Bravia lines. Components
for MEMS (micro-electro-mechanical systems) represented the most
important new launch for Optics in 2005. The business unit was selected
as the main supplier for these products, which set the industry-wide
standard for high-resolution micro displays. Optics also garnered the
leading position for coated dual-color filters for lighting in the entertainment sector in 2005. By optimizing the related manufacturing processes,
the business unit has managed to shorten production cycles and simultaneously achieve a considerable increase in yields.

Outlook
For 2006, Optics reckons that orders received will be slightly higher
and sales will remain at the prior-year level, despite what should again be a
modest easing in the projection display segment. Continuing price pressures and the competitive battle in the TV sector should be the most significant factors in that regard. The life sciences substrate and lighting segments ought to maintain their rapid pace of growth. New LED and laser
applications will become increasingly important in the projection display
segment and lighting market. Consequently, rear-projection TVs with LED
systems are expected to secure a 10-percent share of the market, while laserbased systems are likely to gain sway as of 2007. Accordingly, Optics is
focusing on product innovations in these technologies.
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LCOS.

Thanks to innovative,
proprietary technology
from Unaxis Optics, this
light engine produces
images of the highest
quality. They are used
in the Slim TV™, a modern 16:9 rear-projection
television that has a
depth of only
25 cm for units with a
diagonal screen size
of 1.27 m.

Propelled by the latest
HDTV (high-definition
television) technology,
sales of large-format,
high-definition televisions broke all records
in 2005. The introduction of HD-DVD and BluRay in 2006 has the
potential to trigger an
additional surge in
demand. At present,
rear-projection TV s,
along with LCD and
plasma flat panel TVs as
well as home-theater
projectors, are battling
to gain viewers. The
likelihood is that the
coming years will see all
of these technologies
coexisting in the market
and benefiting from the
boom in the TV market.

Space Technology

Market
The aerospace market of relevance to Space Technology represents an
overall sales volume of approximately CHF 1 billion. In the commercial
aerospace industry, Space Technology is a leading manufacturer of payload
fairings, and its customer base comprises European and American providers of transport services that utilize launch vehicles. As a result of the
recovery in the telecommunications industry, demand in this segment has
increased for vehicles that can launch telecom satellites into space.
Nevertheless, the European aerospace transport company Arianespace, and
thus also Space Technology, continue to be confronted with competitive
pressures from globally active providers of such services. In the institutional aerospace market, the business unit is involved in significant programs
of the European Space Agency (ESA).
2005
Given the overall decline in the market, Space Technology nonetheless
managed to achieve its targets for the 2005 financial year. Orders received
and sales came in slightly lower than the prior-year readings. In the institutional aerospace market, the postponement of scientific programs due to
financial bottlenecks exerted a negative influence on the business unit’s
results. However, in late December 2005, Space Technology signed a contract to manufacture structural subsystems for the ATV European space
transporter (Automated Transfer Vehicle). Starting in 2007, this unmanned
module will regularly transport supplies to the International Space Station .
In the commercial market, Europe’s Ariane launch vehicle has successfully
carried out all of its planned starts, despite technical problems.

Solar array drive mechanisms (SADM) are key
components for supplying electrical current to
satellites. They enable
the solar power generators to be positioned in
the direction of the sun’s
rays. Looking ahead,
Space Technology will
be Europe’s only company to offer a full range
of SADM products, be
they for micro-satellites
or large Earth observation and telecommunications satellites.

Milestones
The first highlight of the past financial year was the January 2005 landing of
the European space probe “Huygens” on Saturn’s moon, Titan. Space Technology bore responsibility for various crucial subsystems, among others the
mechanisms for separating the probe from the mother ship. With its liftoffs
in February and November, the new enhanced-performance Ariane 5 launch
vehicle for cargoes of up to 10 tons has now been qualified, a factor that
will strengthen the competitiveness of Arianespace in the commercial aerospace market. In April, Space Technology and the Space Center of the
Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Lausanne (EPFL) signed a cooperation
agreement that in future will allow the business unit to utilize the findings of
EPFL scientific research. In early October 2005, Space Technology acquired
the high-precision space mechanisms business activities of French company Snecma Moteurs. As a result of this acquisition, the business unit is
now expanding its position in Europe’s aerospace market and will become
the leading European provider of solar array drive mechanisms.
Outlook
In December 2005, the ESA ministerial council conference laid the foundation for the coming five years and approved the financial means for future
aerospace programs. The key focal points will be Europe’s satellite-based
Galileo navigation system, telecommunications, scientific programs and
launch vehicles. Switzerland, and hence Space Technology, are well positioned in these areas. In order to gain access to the entire European aerospace market, Space Technology will broaden its presence in the EU region
through further acquisitions. For the 2006 financial year, the business unit
anticipates that orders received and sales will be roughly equivalent to the
levels recorded in the previous year.
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The payload fairing,
which protects satellites
during their flight
through the atmosphere,
is separated from the
launch vehicle several
minutes after liftoff. To
date, Space Technology
has supplied payload
fairings for more than
175 space missions –
in every instance, the
controlled jettison
ejection of the fairing
went flawlessly according to prediction.

Solar/ Display Technology

Market
In 2005, Unaxis retreated from the flat panel display market and is now
focusing on expansion of its solar-related activities. The newly created
Unaxis Solar business unit develops and produces equipment for the production of large area thin film Si solar modules on glass. Comprising a total
annual volume of roughly CHF 180 to 200 million for 2005, this market has
a certain start-up character. However, given the worldwide shortage of
crystalline silicon, an annual growth rate in excess of 40 percent is anticipated for the coming years. Unaxis Solar is in an excellent position to
exploit this potential. By entering the solar technology field at an early stage,
the business unit today is well established in the market and offers its
customers production systems for large-surface, thin film solar modules
that address all the crucial production steps. The process is based on a
production solution originally developed for flat panel displays and has
therefore been thoroughly tested in actual practice. In addition, Unaxis is
present in the key selling regions of the European Union, Asia and the USA.

In comparison to conventional solar modules,
thin film solar modules
require only a fraction
of the rare and expensive commodity, silicon.
They can be produced
more than 30 percent
cheaper. Thanks to
this cost advantage,
thin film solar cells
have the potential to
compete with traditional
energy sources in the
near future.

Milestones
Shortly after its founding, Unaxis Solar installed the first KAI 1200 coating
unit for mass production of solar modules at a customer’s facilities. It
successfully commenced operation in early December, and initial follow-up
orders have already been received. In parallel, Solar pressed ahead with
development of an additional production unit for the application of transparent conductive layers. This so-called TCO (transparent conducting
oxide) system combined with laser patterning tools creates the conditions
for Solar to make the move from being a supplier of individual systems
to becoming a provider of integrated production lines for solar modules. To
secure its technological edge, Solar has patented the key components
of its production process.
Outlook
An important goal in the 2006 financial year will be to install the first
integrated production line for solar modules at a customer’s facilities in
Germany. The business unit is focusing in particular on the continual
further development of its manufacturing processes. By outsourcing key
procurement activities and the final assembly of systems to Unaxis’
Thanks to thin film tech- Mecanovis subsidiary, Solar can serve its customers better and simultanenology, the KAI 1200
ously reduce costs. In the 2006 financial year, Unaxis Solar is expected
from Unaxis Solar repreto make its commercial breakthrough.
sents a superior, costeffective solution for
mass production of solar
modules. Due to their
uniform appearance and
size, modules made
with the KAI 1200 are
also ideally suited
for building-integrated
concepts.
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2005
After the restructuring of Display Technology, the flat panel display area will
continue to operate as a service organization that focuses on maintenance
of previously installed equipment. The projects underway in this area
were mostly concluded during 2005. As a result of its exit from the flat panel
display market, Display Technology recorded a significantly lower volume
of business than in the previous year as well as strongly negative results.
Expansion of solar-related activities ran according to plan, and the transfer
of approximately 50 employees from Display Technology to Solar was
successfully concluded. Since it was organized in the fourth quarter, Unaxis
Solar booked sales of CHF 20 million.

Wafer Processing

Market
The segments of the semiconductor equipment market addressed by Unaxis
Wafer Processing encompassed a total sales volume of CHF 590 million
in 2005. In comparison to the previous year, that corresponds to an increase
of roughly 10 percent. Mobile communication, portable electronic devices –
in particular MP 3 players such as the iPod – game consoles, as well as
supplemental performance requirements for notebook computers, represented the key drivers of growth. Wafer Processing commands an approximate 25-percent share of its relevant market segments. The business
unit is the world’s leading manufacturer of production systems for dry etching
of photomasks and deposition on standard and ultra-thin wafers, as well
as in the area of advanced packaging. In the compound semiconductor segment, which focuses on telecommunications, Wafer Processing has managed to expand its market position significantly.
2005
On the whole, the course of business at Wafer Processing in 2005 came
in below expectations. Orders received as well as sales were impacted by
the weak start to the financial year. Only in the fourth quarter of 2005 was
a marked increase in demand to be observed. Overall, Wafer Processing
recorded in the final three months of 2005 more than half of its entire
sales for the year. Apart from the general market recovery, this is mainly
attributable to the success of its new VERSALINE and CLUSTERLINE 200 II
systems. As a result of its boost in sales and stricter cost controls,
Wafer Processing managed a return to profitability in the last quarter.

Advanced packaging
represents the bridge
between various chips,
as well as between
those chips and the
circuit boards to which
they are connected. As
a result, electrical links
with complex chips are
established both internally and with the “outside world.”

Milestones
Wafer Processing received the “VLSI 10 Best” award for the sixth time in
succession. This commendation is the result of a broad-based customer
survey conducted by the renowned market research institute, VLSI
Research, and honors those suppliers that stand out for their technologically leading products and superior customer service. The MASK ETCHER IV™,
which is used for etching photomasks with tolerances down to 65 nanometers, has gained acceptance on a broad front and, contrary to earlier forecasts, was able to maintain the high volume of sales witnessed in the previous year. The new VERSALINE system for applications in the area of connective semiconductors, MEMS and thin film heads, also met with a favorable
response. As a result, Wafer Processing managed to expand its share of
this promising segment to roughly 30 percent. With the launch of upgrade
packages, Wafer Processing can now offer its customers opportunities to
extend the useful life of their existing Unaxis systems.
Outlook
As compared to the overall market for semiconductor equipment, which
over the next two years should achieve an average annual rate of growth in
the area of 2 percent, the segments of significance to Wafer Processing
are forecast in 2006 to experience above-average growth in the order of
5 percent. Applications in areas such as mobile communication, portable
electronic devices, game consoles and notebook computers will continue
to play a dominating role. For the current year, Wafer Processing anticipates a significant increase in orders received and sales. In keeping with
the overall business strategy of Unaxis, Wafer Processing will press ahead
with its service business and expand the proportion of sales attributable to
the Asian region. In an effort to boost profitability, the business unit is
working to achieve a further reduction in production costs. At the technological level, the shortening of production cycles, as well as the launch
of the next generation of MASK ETCHER, are top priorities.

The CLUSTERLINE 200 II
– a new system from
Wafer Processing for
production of semiconductors – is characterized by innovative
advances in wafer
handling, accessibility
and ease of maintenance. Combined with
proven process technology, this enables
customers to achieve
even greater productivity.

Assembly & Packaging

2005
In line with the general market trend, Assembly & Packaging suffered under
a disappointing course of business during the first six months of 2005.
Key customers were very cautious with their investments and revenues were
primarily generated from sales of specific technology applications. As of
the third quarter, though, demand picked up significantly in both customer
segments – integrated device manufacturers and assembly and packaging subcontractors. On the whole, however, orders received and sales at
Assembly & Packaging for all of 2005 came in below the prior-year levels.
During the first half, the business unit initiated a far-reaching restructuring
program, with the key objectives of reducing production and overhead
costs, migrating Wire Bonder operations to Asia, as well as procuring materials on a global basis. Thanks to the combined effects of sales growth,
restructuring and increased ability to deliver, Assembly & Packaging
has managed a successful turnaround and once again generated positive
results in the second half of 2005.
Milestones
Following a thoroughgoing selection procedure, ASE Global – the world’s
largest semiconductor testing and packaging firm – awarded the business unit a substantial contract for its Wire Bonder 3100. This represents a
gratifying intensification of the partnership between ASE and Assembly &
Packaging, because both companies have been working together for more
than ten years on die-bonder solutions. The new platforms for die bonding
( DB 208hS plus/ DB 2008hS3 plus) and wire bonding (WB 3100 plus) have been
launched successfully. In parallel, Assembly & Packaging pressed ahead with
the development of a new and improved product generation that is scheduled for introduction in 2006. With the opening of two new sales and
service facilities in Shenzhen and Suzhou, Assembly & Packaging has increased its presence in the promising Chinese market. An additional
branch in Chengdu is planned.
Outlook
Based on growth forecasts for the chip market, Assembly & Packaging
reckons that the back-end equipment market will expand by roughly
10 percent in 2006. Chip manufacturers are keeping their inventories at low
levels and remain cautious in terms of new investments in capital equipment. Nevertheless, Assembly & Packaging anticipates that orders received
and sales will clearly exceed prior-year levels and that it will make a positive contribution to net profit. In addition to the launch of new products, the
business unit will focus on strengthening its global presence even further,
implementing a global procurement program, as well as providing
enhanced service and customer support.
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The pick & place module
represents the heart
of the new Die Bonder
2008hS platform, the
current “best seller” at
Assembly & Packaging.
Its innovative technology
combines vibration-free
operation with maximum
production performance,
thereby optimally fulfilling customer requirements.
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Stacked die packages
consist of a number
of thin chips that are
arranged on top of
each other in a single
package. Such applications save an inordinate amount of space
and are utilized by the
chip industry mainly
in components for
portable electronic
devices.

Market
In 2005, total turnover in the market for back-end equipment amounted to
USD 2.1 billion. Versus the previous year, this represents a decline of
approximately 13 percent. Particularly in the first half of the year, demand
collapsed as a result of excess production capacity in the semiconductor
industry. By mid-year, though, chip manufacturers had once again fully
exhausted their capacity and therefore freed up investments for production
systems across a broad front. As a result, the back-end market segment
witnessed a sharp recovery in the second half of 2005. Demand in the first
half year was mainly focused on manufacturing technologies for stacked
die packages as well as for memory chips (DRAMs) and high-performance
light-emitting diodes, whereas in the second half, demand was broader
based. Assembly & Packaging is the global leader in die bonding and the
high-end segment of flip-chip bonding. In the wire-bonding area, the
business unit was able to expand its market position significantly in 2005
thanks to strong sales of its new Wire Bonder 3100.

Information for Investors

Unaxis wishes to create value for its shareholders. In 2005, the price
of Unaxis’ shares rose by 74 percent. The change of management and
resolute restructuring measures at the company have led to a significant increase in the stock market capitalization of Unaxis.
Unaxis avows a management approach that is focused on generating added
value for its shareholders. The expression of this dedicated orientation
toward value enhancement can initially be seen in the company’s strategic
emphasis on profitability: in all of its markets, Unaxis wants to be the
number one or number two in terms of profitability. The Group concentrates
its efforts on growth markets that afford above-average earnings potential,
and is expanding all of its business units so that they can maintain their
leading market positions.
Sustainably increasing enterprise value
The point of departure for generating enterprise value is to be found in
two driving forces: increased revenues and improved margins. To that end,
Unaxis has formulated concrete objectives:
–
–

Revenues: Unaxis is striving to achieve annual sales growth in excess
of 15 percent.
Margins: the Group-wide net profit margin should amount to more than
15 percent, a goal that will be achieved through the profitability of its
business units in their position as number one or number two in their
respective markets.

In the second half of 2005, Unaxis introduced strategic and operative
measures aimed at exerting a positive influence on the value drivers – i.e.
increased revenues and improved margins – as well as reducing overhead costs. Under the leadership of the Group, these measures are being
implemented in all of Unaxis’ business units. In an effort to increase
sales, the company is not only introducing new products, but perhaps even
more importantly focusing on targeted and coordinated marketing
activities. To improve margins and reduce overhead costs, Unaxis has
spawned five initiatives that are collectively referred to as “Operational
Excellence”:
–

–
–

–

–

Service Business: Unaxis is forging ahead with product-related
services, at present particularly in Coating Services and Vacuum
Solutions.
Production: the latest methods for production planning and management are being introduced on a Group-wide scale.
Procurement: a new central function, “Global Sourcing,” is coordinating
the worldwide logistics and purchasing activities of all business units,
thereby taking advantage of related synergies.
Shared Services: Shared Services are being consolidated globally;
in Balzers/Trübbach, the project is nearly complete, and implementation
is currently underway at the company’s facilities in Asia.
Current Assets: Unaxis will practice active working capital management,
with a Group-wide approach to cash management representing one
such tool.
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All business units have shown good progress and achieved initial tangible
results. Thus Unaxis has put the pieces in place for sustainable value
generation. This basic principle also pertains to the performance-related
compensation system for management: in measuring managers’ variable
salary component, Unaxis applies financial targets that are oriented especially toward EBIT margin value drivers.
Significant expansion of internal control system
During the year under review, Unaxis has broadened the range of instruments at its disposal for monitoring risks by creating an integrated, Groupwide control system. The purpose of this control system is to illuminate
risks associated with the company’s various business activities. As a result,
risks are systematically taken into account in corporate decision-making,
which in turn translates into more reliable goal achievement.
At the helm of this control system are the Group-level Risk Management,
Internal Audit, Controlling and Business Excellence functions. They constitute the central corporate body for steering and monitoring internal control
processes. In certain instances, experts such as the Legal Department,
IT unit or the external auditors are called upon to perform specific risk evaluations.
The heart of the control system is the risk management process, which
is continuously conducted throughout the entire Group. The first step
in this regard is for each business unit to determine its own operational risk
situation. All identified business risks are then evaluated by the central
Risk Management team in collaboration with the various business units.
Based on this synergistic interaction, a risk strategy is derived and
appropriate measures defined. Those findings in turn flow into the strategic
planning and budgeting process. Responsibility for implementation and
controlling of specific measures lies in the hands of the given business units,
and the results play a role in assessing the performance of the business
unit head. Within the framework of a quarterly Business Review, the risk situation is updated if need be.
In mid-2005, Unaxis introduced a software application for risk management that covers the entire process and enables automated reporting.
Consequently, Group management is constantly in a position to assess the
risk situation of the entire enterprise and introduce corrective measures.

Of primary significance
for Unaxis are market
risks, e.g. cyclical fluctuations in demand that
are characteristic for
the semiconductor and
data storage industries,
or fierce competitive
situations such as in the
projection displays area
of Optics. In addition,
there are technology
risks that can arise from
technological evolution
Corporate risk and assurance circle
or high investments in
development.

Business excellence

Business risk
management

Permanent discussion
forum

Business risk
management tool
Risk map
Audit planning

Internal audit

Controlling
Action list
Follow-up process

Field work
Audit reports
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Quality check
Audits
Improvement workshop

Price developments in 2005
Unaxis shares rose in value by 74 percent during 2005, thereby clearly outpacing the 33 percent increase in the Swiss Market Index ( SMI ) and ranking
among the best performing issues on the SWX Swiss Exchange.
This price trend was strongly influenced by the change of management
at Unaxis. From a starting point of CHF 113.90 at the outset of 2005, the
share price experienced a continuous rise during the first half and reached
CHF 173.40 on June 28, 2005, the day of the Extraordinary general
meeting of Unaxis Holding AG. Even afterward, and despite the prognoses
of many market observers, the price has continued to rise. This is a reflection of investors’ regained trust in Unaxis in response to its rigorous
strategic reorientation and measures aimed at increasing efficiency. Then,
after the announcement of Q3 2005 financial results revealed the initial
successes of Unaxis’ transformation program, a renewed
uptrend emerged and remained intact through year-end. On December 31,
2005, the shares of Unaxis were quoted at a new high of CHF 197.90.
The price was CHF 327 at the editorial deadline of this Annual Report (March
22, 2006).
In total, the market capitalization of Unaxis in 2005 rose from CHF 1 610
million at the beginning of the year to CHF 2 799 million. Average daily
trading volume in Unaxis shares rose by 168 percent compared to the previous year.
July 1 to
January 1 to December 31,
December 31, 2005
2005
unaudited

Key figures per share 1
CHF

January 1 to
June 30,
2005
unaudited

January 1 to
December 31,
2004

Market price
High
Low
Year-end
Total outstanding shares (units)
Market capitalization in million
EBIT

Net profit less minority interests
Net cash flow
Equity
Dividend 2
1

Average number of shares with voting and dividend rights

2

2005 dividend: proposal of the Board of Directors

198
114
198

198
171
198

176
114
176

200
98
113

14 142 437
2 799
–2.49
1.21
–22.51
76.28
0.00

14 142 437
2 799
5.74
9.87

14 142 437
2 489
–8.01
–8.43

76.28

84.27

14 142 437
1 598
–24.07
–27.68
–5.97
88.87
0.00

Unaxis share price 1

2005

Unaxis trading volume 1

2006

2005

2006

N

J

CHF
300

10 million

280
260

8 million

240
220

6 million

200
180

4 million

160
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2 million
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0
J
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M

A

M

J

J

A

S

O

N

D

Data until March 22, 2006
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Exchange listing and shareholder structure
The registered shares of Unaxis Holding AG are listed on the SWX Swiss
Exchange and traded on the virt-x exchange in London. The stock symbol
is UNAX; the security number is 081 682.
The largest single shareholder in Unaxis Holding AG is Victory Industriebeteiligung AG, domiciled in Vienna, Austria, which holds a 43.14 percent
share according to the stock exchange announcement of September 6,
2005. An additional 9.99 percent are treasury shares held by Unaxis itself.
Starting October 3, 2005, Unaxis shares have been listed on the SMI MID
Cap Index ( SMIM ) of the SWX Swiss Exchange.
Investor Relations
To provide transparency for investors in terms of progress being made in
Unaxis’ performance, the company attaches great value to its investor
relations activities. In keeping with the principle of “fair disclosure,” Unaxis
is particularly observant of its obligation to treat all capital market participants equally. Apart from the publication of its quarterly financial results,
Unaxis informs the capital market promptly and comprehensively with
regard to significant events in its course of business. Moreover, Unaxis
uses its website, www.unaxis.com, as a platform for detailed and upto-date information on the company.

Unaxis share performance 1

2005

2006

N

J

%
365
250
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220
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160
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115
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A

M

J
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A

S
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D
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Unaxis
SMI (Swiss Market Index)
1

Data until March 22, 2006
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In addition to the latest
company-related information, the Unaxis website includes all of the
company’s financial
publications and presentations, which can be
downloaded as desired.
Those interested in
receiving ongoing information on the company
can subscribe to the
direct e-mail service for
transmission of Unaxis
media releases.

Investors

Further details of Unaxis’ information policy can be found in
the Corporate Governance section on page 66 of this Annual Report.

The SMIM index includes
a maximum of the 30
largest and most liquid
mid-cap stocks in the
Swiss equity market that
are not already included
in the SMI index.

M

Share data 2005 through 2001

Number of shares
Par value per share in CHF
Voting rights per share
Total outstanding shares
Treasury shares
Shares with voting/dividend rights
Conditional shares for convertible
and warrant bonds
– of which reserved
Conditional shares for employee
stock ownership plans
– of which reserved

2004

2005

2003

2002

2001

20
1
14 142 437
1 412 694
12 729 743

20
1
14 142 437
223 581
13 918 856

20
1
13 170 092
220 443
12 949 649

20
1
13 170 092
213 360
12 956 732

20
1
13 170 092
180 840
12 989 252

2 000 000
0

2 000 000
0

2 000 000
0

2 000 000
0

480 000
0

360 000
0

360 000
0

360 000
0

360 000
0

360 000
0

0

0

2 000 000

2 000 000

2 000 000

Authorized shares

Per-share data
in CHF

2004

2005

Net profit less minority interests per share 1
Equity per share 1
Dividend per share 2
Share price 3
High
Low
Year-end

2003

2002

2001

1.21
76.28
0

–27.68
89
0

2.50
115
2.00

–3.00
114
2.00

8.53
128
2.00

198
114
198

200
98
113

184
74
175

207
66
93

393
103
179

Market capitalization
in CHF million

2004

2005

High
Low
Year-end
1

Based on average number of shares with voting and dividend rights

2

2005 dividend: proposal of the Board of Directors

3

Adjusted figures

2 799
1 610
2 799

2003

2 829
1 386
1 598
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2002

2 423
975
2 305

2001

2 726
869
1 225

5 176
1 357
2 357

Corporate Governance

Unaxis Corporate Governance follows the “Swiss Code of Best
Practice for Corporate Governance” as well as internationally
recognized standards.

Corporate Governance

Unaxis feels a strong sense of obligation to uphold the recognized principles of good corporate governance as laid out in the “Swiss Code of Best
Practice for Corporate Governance” propounded by “Economiesuisse.”
By addressing this justified concern, Unaxis aims to sustain and increase
the trust placed in it by the company’s present and future shareholders,
providers of funding, employees and business partners, as well as the
general public.
Responsible corporate governance requires transparency with regard
to the organization of management and control mechanisms at the uppermost echelons of the enterprise. Therefore, the “Directive on Information
Relating to Corporate Governance” ( DCG ), enacted by the SWX Swiss Exchange and effective since July 1, 2002, requires issuers of securities to
make available to investors certain key information pertaining to corporate
governance.
In this Annual Report, the corporate governance information is once
again presented in a separate section, as prescribed by DCG. The framework of the Directive has been adopted, with references to other portions
of the Annual Report included in certain instances in an effort to avoid
redundancies and enhance readability. All material changes between the
balance sheet date and the time this Annual Report went to press have
been taken into account.
Supplementary to the requirements of DCG, as of 2006 Unaxis will be
disclosing the individual compensation for each member of the Board
of Directors and Executive Board.
Details on corporate governance at Unaxis can also be accessed in the
corresponding section of the company’s website, www.unaxis.com.
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Group structure

Committees
Audit and Finance
Human Resources
Board of Directors
Internal Audit

Executive Board
Regions

Chief Executive Officer

EMEA1

Americas
Asia

Corporate Functions
Sales & Marketing
Business Development
Information Management
Communications & IR
Global Sourcing
Legal & Secretary
Global Security
Business Excellence

Chief Financial Officer
Corporate Human
Resources Officer

Controlling
Accounting/Reporting
Treasury
Risk Management
Global Tax
Compensation & Benefits
Management Development

Coating Services

Vacuum Solutions

Data Storage
Solutions

Components and
Special Systems
Optics
Space Technology

1

Europe, Middle East, Africa
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Solar/Display
Technology

Semiconductor
Equipment

.
.
.

Wafer Processing
Assembly &
Packaging

Group structure and Group companies
Operational Group structure:
Management of the Unaxis Group is carried out at the behest of the Board
of Directors by its delegate, the CEO, the Executive Board and ultimately
by the business units that directly conduct the company’s business operations. The Board of Directors, Executive Board and the managers of the
company’s respective business units are supported in their work by centralized Corporate Functions offices and regional administrative organizations.
Listed Group companies:
Unaxis Holding AG, Pfäffikon SZ , is listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange
(symbol: UNAX; security number: 081682; ISIN number: CH 0000816824). On
December 31, 2005, the company’s stock market capitalization totaled
CHF 2 799 million. For further information on Unaxis Holding AG , see
page 118.
Unlisted Group companies:
Unaxis Holding AG, as parent company of the Group, owns either directly
or indirectly all of the Group companies, mostly with a 100 percent interest.
The local companies included in the scope of consolidation are reflected
on page 125 as part of the Group’s legal structure of equity interests, as well
as listed by country on pages 114/115 together with additional details on
each company’s share capital, percentage of shares owned and workforce.

Significant shareholders (as at 12. 31. 2005)
Victory Industriebeteiligung AG , Vienna, Austria 2
Unaxis Holding AG, Pfäffikon SZ
1

Basis: issued and outstanding shares (14 142 437)

2

Beneficial ownership
at the time of print: 3
– 50% Millennium Privatstiftung, Praterstrasse 62–64,
1020 Vienna, Austria
– 50% RPR Privatstiftung, Herrengasse 2–4,
1010 Vienna, Austria

Shareholdings as per most
recent official disclosure
No. of shares In percent 1

6 101 400
1 365 715

43.14
9.66

Shareholdings
recorded in share register
No. of shares In percent 1

6 572 499
68 777

46.47
0.49

Corporate Governance

Cross-shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings that would require disclosure.

3

As at December 31, 2005:
– 33% Millennium Privatstiftung, Praterstrasse 62–64, 1020 Vienna, Austria
– 33% M.U.ST. Privatstiftung, Tokiostrasse 11/3/36, 1220 Vienna, Austria
– 33% RPR Privatstiftung, Herrengasse 2–4, 1010 Vienna, Austria
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Capital structure

Capital
The share capital of Unaxis Holding AG amounts to CHF 282 848 740, consisting of 14 142 437 registered shares, each with a par value of CHF 20.
The company also has conditional capital in the amount of CHF 40 million to cover convertible bonds and warrant bonds, etc. as well as
CHF 7.2 million for employee stock ownership plans.
Authorized capital and conditional capital
Authorized capital:
The company has no authorized capital.
Conditional capital for warrant bonds and convertible bonds:
Pursuant to Art. 6a of the Articles of Association, the company’s share capital may be increased by a maximum aggregate amount of CHF 40 million
through the issuance of a maximum of two million registered shares with a
par value of CHF 20 per share by means of the exercise of option and conversion rights granted in connection with bonds of the company or one of
its Group companies. The subscription rights of shareholders are excluded
in this regard. The current holders of option certificates and/or convertible
bonds are entitled to purchase the new shares. When issuing warrant
bonds and convertible bonds, the Board of Directors is empowered to limit
or exclude the preemptive subscription rights of shareholders (1) to finance
or refinance the acquisition of enterprises, divisions thereof, or equity
interests, or of newly planned investments of the company or (2) to issue
warrant and convertible bonds on the international capital markets. To the
extent that preemptive subscription rights are excluded, (1) the bonds are
to be placed with the public at market conditions, (2) the exercise period
for the option and conversion rights may not exceed seven years as of the
date of the bond offering and (3) the exercise price for the new shares
must at least correspond to the market conditions at the time of the bond
offering.
Conditional capital for employee stock ownership plans:
Pursuant to Art. 6b of the Articles of Association, the company’s share capital shall, to the exclusion of the preemptive subscription rights of shareholders, be increased through the issuance of a maximum of 360 000 fully
paid-in registered shares with a par value of CHF 20 each, by a maximum
aggregate amount of CHF 7.2 million via the exercise of option rights granted to the employees of the company or of one of its Group companies
according to an employee stock ownership plan to be approved by the Board
of Directors. The issuance of shares at less than the current market price
is permissible. The details shall be determined by the Board of Directors.
Changes in capital
The company’s share capital remained unchanged during the year under
review.
Detailed information on changes in the equity capital of Unaxis
Holding AG over the past three years can be found in the table entitled
“Changes in shareholders’ equity” on page 122 of the Annual Report.
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Shares and participation certificates
The equity securities of Unaxis Holding AG consist exclusively of
14 142 437 fully paid-in CHF 20 par value registered shares, all of which are
equal with respect to their attendant voting rights, dividend entitlement
and other rights.
In principle, the registered shares of Unaxis Holding AG are not certificated but are instead carried solely as book-entry securities in the inventory
of SIS SegaInterSettle AG . Shareholders may at any time request that the
company print and deliver their shares in certificate form free of charge, and
the company may at any time print certificates for uncertificated shares
(registered shares with deferred printing of certificates). If registered shares
are to be printed, Unaxis Holding AG may issue certificates covering
multiples of registered shares. The share certificates bear the facsimile
signatures of two members of the Board of Directors.
Profit-sharing certificates
Unaxis Holding AG has issued no profit-sharing certificates.
Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations
There are no restrictions on the transfer of Unaxis Holding AG shares.
The company recognizes only those parties entered in the share register as
shareholders or usufructuaries. Fiduciary shareholders and nominees are
also entered in the share register.

Corporate Governance

Convertible bonds and warrants/options
As at December 31, 2005, there were no outstanding convertible bonds or
warrant bonds.
In conjunction with share ownership programs, members of the Board
of Directors and employees held a total of 60 864 options (see page 108
et seq., note 31) on December 31, 2005, each of which entitles the holder
to acquire one registered share of Unaxis Holding AG . These option rights
are covered in full by shares that have been acquired in the open market,
so that their exercise will not result in any change in share capital. The
aggregate par value of the shares purchasable by means of the outstanding
options amounts to CHF 1 217 280.
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Competent and lean
The Unaxis Board of Directors

Georg Stumpf
has been Chairman of
the Board of Directors of
Unaxis Holding AG since
February 2006, after having
been elected to the Board
in 2005. Millenium Privatstiftung, Vienna, which
was founded by Georg
Stumpf, is a 50-percent
owner of Victory Industriebeteiligung AG , the largest
shareholder in Unaxis.
Via his own company,
Stumpf AG , which has
offices in Vienna, London
and Budapest, Georg
Stumpf has been successfully managing investment
projects in Europe since
1995. Before that, he was
Managing Director of the
Stumpf family enterprise,
which over the past 50
years has owned an array
of financial interests in
industrial companies and
in the field of commercial
real estate development.
Georg Stumpf has an
educational background
in structural and civil
engineering and graduated
summa cum laude from
the Vienna University of
Economics and Business
Administration with
a degree in business
management.
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has been a member of
the Board of Directors of
Unaxis Holding AG since
2004 and became Vice
Chairman in February
2006. He has headed the
Unaxis Group since
August 1, 2005, as its
Chief Executive Officer and
Delegate of the Board of
Directors. Prior to that,
Thomas P. Limberger was
CEO of General Electric
Germany, Austria and
Switzerland, and in this
function bore responsibility for 11 000 employees
and an organization that
generated in excess of
EUR 6 billion in annual
sales. From 1996 through
2002, he held various
management positions
with health care company
Fresenius and its subsidiary, Fresenius Medical
Care. Thomas P. Limberger is a Board member of
the American Chamber
of Commerce in Germany
as well as the Central
Association of the
Electrical Engineering
and Electronics Industry
of Germany. He holds a
Master of Business
Administration degree in
finance and strategic
management.

Günther Robol
has been a member of
the Board of Directors of
Unaxis Holding AG since
2005. He is an independent management consultant who specializes in
auditing, corporate financial examination and insolvency law. Prior to that,
Günther Robol headed
the Austrian affiliate of
PriceWaterhouseCoopers
as the President of its
management committee.
From 1965 through 1991,
he worked for a number
of auditing firms. Günther
Robol is a director of
several other companies
and a lecturer at the
Innsbruck University of
Applied Sciences. In
addition, he has been Vice
President of the Austrian
Institute of Auditors and
a member of various professional associations.
Günther Robol completed
his studies in economics
and sociology in Vienna
with a degree in business
management.

Christian Schmidt
has been a member of
the Board of Directors of
Unaxis Holding AG since
2005. He is co-owner and
Executive Board member
of a number of industrial
companies and holds
various directorships in
Switzerland and elsewhere. Christian Schmidt
completed studies in the
field of geotechnics and
water resources planning
at the University of Natural
Resources and Applied
Life Sciences in Vienna, as
well as in technical management sciences at the
Swiss Federal Institute of
Technology (ETH) in Zurich.

Mirko Kovats
(without picture)
held the post of Chairman
of the Board of Unaxis Holding
AG from June 2005 through
January 2006. Until January
2006, he was co-owner of
Victory Industriebeteiligung AG .
Mirko Kovats is the
largest shareholder of A-Tec
Industries AG as well as
Chairman of the Board of ATB
Austria Antriebstechnik AG .
Mirko Kovats studied commercial sciences at the Vienna
School of Economics.
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Thomas P. Limberger

Board of Directors

The basis for the organization and duties of the Board of Directors of
Unaxis Holding AG is anchored in the Swiss Code of Obligations as well as
in the Articles of Association of Unaxis Holding AG and its Rules of
Organization.
Members of the Board of Directors
With the exception of its previously existing member, Thomas P. Limberger,
the Board of Directors of Unaxis Holding AG was replaced on the occasion
of the Extraordinary general meeting of shareholders on June 28, 2005.
On the balance sheet date, the Board comprised five and, as of February 1,
2006, four members (the Articles of Association permit a maximum of nine).
The members of the Board have no material business dealings with the
Unaxis Group. Since August 1, 2005, Thomas P. Limberger has acted additionally as Delegate of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
( CEO) of Unaxis.
Composition of the Board of Directors since June 28, 2005
Mirko Kovats stepped down from Unaxis’ Board of Directors on January 31,
2006. Effective February 1, 2006, Georg Stumpf was elected Chairman and
Thomas P. Limberger Vice Chairman of the Board.
Name/Nationality

Residency Position

Age

Elected

Term expires Executive/Non-executive

Georg Stumpf (A)

A

33

2005

2008

Non-executive

Thomas P. Limberger (D)

CH

38

2004

2007

Executive since
Aug. 1, 2005

Günther Robol (A)
Christian Schmidt (A)
Mirko Kovats (A)

CH
CH
A

65
48
57

2005
2005
2005

2008
2008
–

Non-executive
Non-executive
Non-executive

Chairman since
Feb. 1, 2006,
previously
Vice Chairman
Board Delegate;
Vice Chairman
since Feb. 1, 2006
Member
Member
Member and
Chairman until
Jan. 31, 2006

Composition of the Board of Directors until June 28, 2005
At the Ordinary general meeting of shareholders on April 26, 2005, Willy
Kissling and Pius Baschera stepped down from the Board of Directors and
Heinrich Fischer was newly elected to the Board. On June 28, 2005, all
directors resigned with the exception of Thomas P. Limberger.

Name/Nationality

Residency Position

Age

Elected

Resigned on

Willy Kissling (CH)

CH

61

1998

April 26, 2005 Non-executive

Markus Rauh (CH)

CH

66

1999

June 28, 2005 Non-executive

Peter Küpfer (CH)

CH

61

1998

June 28, 2005 Non-executive

Pius Baschera (CH)
Harald Eggers (D)

CH
D

Chairman until
April 26, 2005
Vice Chairman;
Chairman as of
April 26, 2005
Member; Vice
Chairman as of
April 26, 2005
Member
Member

55
55

1998
2003

Heinrich Fischer (CH)
Thomas P. Limberger (D)

CH
CH

Member
Member

55
38

2005
2004

April 26, 2005 Non-executive
June 28, 2005 Executive from
January 1, through
June 28, 2005
June 28, 2005 Non-executive
Remains on
Executive since
BoD
August 1, 2005
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Executive/Non-executive

Other activities and vested interests
See page 54–55 (Members of the Board of Directors).
Cross-involvement
No cross-involvements exist.
Elections and terms of office
Board members are elected by the general meeting of shareholders for a
term of three years. They may be reelected for a new three-year term of
office prior to the expiration of their current term. The schedule of elections
is set if possible in such a way that the term of office of about one-third
of the members expires each year. Pursuant to the Rules of Organization,
the mandate of Board members expires — notwithstanding the current
term of office – at the next Ordinary general meeting of shareholders after
a given Board member reaches age 70.
Internal organizational structure
Allocation of tasks within the Board of Directors: The Board of Directors is
the ultimate management body of the Group. It is empowered to rule
on all matters not reserved by law, statutes or regulations for, or otherwise
delegated to, some other corporate body (see also page 58, Definition
of Areas of Responsibility). Implementation of the Board’s resolutions is the
responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman of the Board of Directors presides over the Board and is
the immediate superior of the Chief Executive Officer ( CEO). The Chairman
convokes, prepares and heads meetings of the Board. He also represents
the corporation vis-à-vis shareholders, chairs the general meeting of shareholders and, in conjunction with the Audit and Finance Committee, supervises the internal audit. If the Chairman is prevented from performing
his duties due to illness, accident or extended absence, then those duties
are assumed by the Vice Chairman of the Board for the duration of any
such absence or, should he also be unavailable, by some other member to
be designated by the Board.
Committees of the Board of Directors: Two permanent committees exist to
assist the Board of Directors or prepare for important decisions: the Audit
and Finance Committee ( AFC) and the Human Resources Committee ( HRC).
Due to the limited size of the Board of Directors, the previous Corporate
Development Committee has been dissolved. The related issues are addressed within the framework of normal meetings of the Board of Directors.
As at December 31, 2005, membership of these committees was as follows:
Name

Audit and Finance Committee ( AFC)

Human Resources Committee ( HRC)

Georg Stumpf
Thomas P. Limberger
Günther Robol
Christian Schmidt
Mirko Kovats

Member
Member
Chair

Chair from January 31, 2005
Member

Mirko Kovats stepped down from the Board of Directors on January 31,
2006; since that time, the Human Resources Committee has been chaired
by Georg Stumpf.
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Member
Chair until January 31, 2005

Audit and Finance Committee ( AFC)
The AFC comprises at least three individuals, the majority of whom are
non-executive, independent members of the Board of Directors. The majority of its members, including the Chairman of the committee, must
be experienced in the fields of finance and accounting. The AFC primarily
advises the Board in the following areas:
– Risk management and audit
– Accounting and financial reporting
– Financial strategy, capital structure, determination of financial objectives, financial planning and financial controlling
– Mergers and acquisitions and other transactions bearing significant
financial impact
– Examination and approval of annual, mid-year and quarterly financial
reports on behalf of the Board of Directors
– Corporate governance issues
Human Resources Committee ( HRC)
The HRC comprises at least three individuals, the majority of whom are
non-executive, independent members of the Board of Directors. The HRC
primarily advises the Board in the following areas:
– Fundamental human resource issues in the corporation
– Personnel composition of the Board of Directors and key Corporate
Functions
– Measures pertaining to management development
– Issues regarding compensation of Board members and senior management
Work methods of the Board of Directors and its committees
The Board of Directors meets at the invitation of its Chairman as often as
business matters require, or at the request of one of its members. Prior
to the Extraordinary general meeting of June 28, 2005, ten Board meetings
were held, and subsequently an additional four. In addition, telephone
conferences were also conducted.
The members of the committees, as well as their chairmen, are elected
by the Board of Directors at the proposal of the Chairman of the Board.
Their respective terms of office correspond to their term of office as Director.
Those Board members who are not members of the committees are
entitled to take part in committee meetings in an advisory capacity. As a
general rule, members of the Executive Board and, as required, individual
specialists also take part in such meetings in an advisory capacity. Minutes
are kept of the meetings. The committees meet at the invitation of their
respective chairmen as often as business matters require.
Definition of areas of responsibility
Pursuant to Art. 17 Para. 3 of the Articles of Association, the Board of
Directors has essentially delegated the business management of Unaxis
Holding AG and of the Group as a whole to the Board Delegate and
Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The scope of tasks for which the Board bears
responsibility essentially encompasses those inalienable and non-delegable tasks as defined by law. Among these are the overall management of
Unaxis Holding AG and the Group as a whole, the determination of the
company’s strategic orientation, the appointment and dismissal of the CEO
and other members of the Executive Board and heads of the business
units, as well as the ultimate supervision of those individuals entrusted with
managing and representing the company.
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Information and control instruments vis-à-vis senior management
The Board of Directors has a wide array of instruments that enable it to
perform the tasks of monitoring strategic and operational progress as well as
risk developments. In particular, the instruments at its disposal include
the following elements:
Controlling:
With regard to strategic controlling, the key instruments are strategic
analyses prepared by the Group’s individual business units, as well as an
annually revised strategic plan.
In terms of operational controlling, the Board of Directors receives the
annual financial plan (budget) as well as monthly controlling reports with
budgeted/actual analyses to assist in the assessment of the Group’s operations.
Business risk management:
A key component of business risk management ( BRM) is the generation
of a risk matrix for the company as a whole, as well as for its individual
business units. This closely scrutinized overview is compiled at least once
a year and facilitates the identification of significant risks, enables monitoring of ongoing risk developments and constitutes the basis for measures
aimed at managing those risks. As part of this discipline, BRM is integrated
into the strategic planning and budgeting processes.
Internal audit:
Since the summer of 2003, Unaxis has had an internal audit process
conducted by specialized employees of Ernst & Young.
On the basis of the most significant risks as determined by business
risk management, the internal audit scrutinizes crucial processes with
the intent of structuring them more securely and efficiently. In addition,
compliance aspects are also investigated. It is planned for the medium term that internal personnel will progressively take over the activities
involved in the internal audit.
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External audit:
The external auditors report primarily to the Audit and Finance Committee,
secondarily to the Board of Directors and ultimately to the shareholders.
Since the 2003 financial year, the external audit has been performed by
KPMG Fides Peat.
The external Group auditors coordinate their audit plan with that of the
internal auditors. An integrated audit plan for the upcoming year, formulated on the basis of a multi-year strategic set of objectives, is submitted
annually in August for approval by the Audit and Finance Committee.
Once the audit has been conducted, the Group auditors provide the Audit
and Finance Committee with a detailed report of their relevant findings.
The continued independence of the Group auditors is ensured by written
declarations to that effect by the auditors, along with monitoring of the
magnitude of the auditing fees as compared to the total volume of fees paid
by Unaxis.
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Executive Board

Management philosophy
The Chief Executive Officer ( CEO) and the Executive Board supported
by the Corporate Functions and regional offices manage the company centrally as a unit. The overriding Group strategy and a shared corporate
culture form the basis for this collaboration. Within those guidelines, the
business units bear responsibility for the day-to-day operating activities
of Unaxis. Clearly defined, binding goals, as well as regular monitoring of
the achievement of those goals, ensure a high level of transparency
throughout the Group.
Composition and tasks
The Board Delegate/CEO bears responsibility for managing the holding
company and the Group. In addition, he presides over the Executive Board,
which is charged with preparing and providing preliminary advice on the
business transactions of Unaxis Holding AG and the Group.
Composition of the Executive Board
after the Extraordinary general meeting of June 28, 2005
Profiles of the Executive Board members can be found on page 10 of this
report. Kenneth T. Barry stepped down from his position as COO at the
end of December 2005.
Name

Nationality Age

Thomas P. Limberger
Rainer Mück
Siegfried Lamprecht
Kenneth T. Barry

D

D
D
USA

38
40
46
53

Position

Joined

In position since

Board Delegate/ CEO

2004
2005
2005
2003

Aug. 2005
Oct. 2005
Aug. 2005
July 2005

CFO

Corporate Human Resources
COO until 12/2005

Composition of the Executive Board
prior to the Extraordinary general meeting of June 28, 2005
With the exception of Harald Eggers, who continues as CEO until handing
over that post on July 31, 2005, the previous members of the Executive
Board left the company on the day following the Extraordinary general
meeting.
Name

Nationality Age

Position

Joined

In position since

Harald Eggers
Kaspar Kelterborn
Matthias Mölleney

D

CEO

2003
2002
2003

Jan. 2005
Jan. 2003
Sep. 2003

CH

D

55
41
45

CFO

Corporate Human Resources

Management contracts
As at December 31, 2005, Unaxis Holding AG and its companies had no
material outstanding third-party management contracts.
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Compensation, shareholdings and loans

Content and method of determining the compensation and
share ownership programs
In a normal year, about half of the value of compensation received by
members of the Board of Directors is paid in cash and half in the form of
stock options and/or shares. Fundamentally, it is the intention that compensation in the form of options/shares be dependent on financial targets.
However, that was not possible for the 2005/2006 period because predetermined targets were lacking as a result of the change in the Board of
Directors. The amount of remuneration for Board members is proposed
by the Human Resources Committee and set by the Board of Directors.
Members of the Executive Board receive compensation composed of a
fixed base salary plus a variable component generally amounting to about
30 percent of total remuneration if goals are met. The actual amount of the
variable component is based on attainment of individual (30 percent) and
financial (70 percent) goals, which are established in advance each year.
The financial goals are based on total revenues, EBIT and capital turnover,
or EVA (economic value added). In addition, Executive Board members
receive shares and/or options as a long-term bonus. The Human Resources
Committee approves compensation plans for Executive Board members at
the proposal of the CEO.
The granting of options and shares to directors is based on the rules
adopted on November 11, 1998, and May 5, 2004. The stock options plan
(equity plan) for management cadre members is governed by rules adopted
on May 23, 2001, and February 28, 2005.
Compensation for acting members of governing bodies
Total compensation (excluding employer social security contributions) paid
to non-executive members of the Board of Directors amounted to CHF 511 133
in the 2005 financial year. Board members were not issued any options or
shares.
Total compensation (including all employer pension fund contributions,
but excluding employer social security contributions) paid in the 2005
financial year to executive members of the Board of Directors and members
of the Executive Board amounted to CHF 4 252 742. Executive Board
members were also granted a total of 11 000 Unaxis shares, but no options.
No severance compensation was paid to members of the Board of
Directors or Executive Board during the 2005 financial year.
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Compensation for former members of governing bodies
In the 2005 financial year, CHF 2 174 717 was paid to former executive
members of governing bodies. No payments were made to former nonexecutive Board members.
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Share allotments
For the 2005 financial year, no shares were allotted to non-executive members of the Board of Directors, whereas executive members of the Board
of Directors and members of the Executive Board received a total of 11 000
shares. These were allotted in 2006. Under the company-wide stock ownership plan, members of the Executive Board each had the opportunity until
April 29, 2005, to purchase Unaxis shares for a maximum of CHF 10 000 at a
30 percent discount to the then current market price of CHF 170.
Share ownership
As at December 31, 2005, non-executive members of the Board of Directors
held, according to their own declaration, no registered shares of Unaxis
Holding AG. As at December 31, 2005, executive members of the Board of
Directors and members of the Executive Board held, according to their
own declaration, a total of 532 registered shares of Unaxis Holding AG.
Options
At December 31, 2005, non-executive members of the Board of Directors
held no options on equity securities of Unaxis Holding AG. At December 31,
2005, the executive member of the Board of Directors and Executive
Board received a total of 2312 options allocated in 2004. These options are
blocked until June 5, 2006, have an exercise price of CHF 150 and expire
on June 3, 2008. Each option grants entitlement to a single registered
share in Unaxis Holding AG.
Additional fees and remunerations
The members of the Board of Directors and Executive Board and parties
closely related to those individuals received no fees or other remuneration
for additional services rendered to Unaxis Holding AG or its Group companies during the 2005 financial year.
Loans to members of governing bodies
As at December 31, 2005, Unaxis Holding AG and its Group companies
had granted no guarantees, loans, advances or credits to members of the
Board of Directors, the Executive Board or any party closely related to
those individuals.
Highest total compensation
The total compensation paid to the executive member of the Board of
Directors, Thomas P. Limberger, amounted in 2005 to CHF 1 112 692. This
compensation was paid to him for his activities as CEO and member
of the Board of Directors. For the year under review, he was also granted
5 000 shares.
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Shareholders’ participation

Voting rights restrictions and representation
There are no restrictions on voting rights. Each shareholder may be
represented at the general meeting by means of a written proxy issued to
some other registered shareholder, by the institutional representative
(Unaxis Holding AG), or by the company-appointed independent voting
rights representative.
Statutory quorums
The Articles of Association of Unaxis Holding AG provide for no specific
quorums that exceed the provisions of corporate law.
Convocation of the general meeting of shareholders
Supplemental to the provisions of corporate law, the company’s Articles
of Association provide for the convocation of the general meeting of shareholders via a one-time announcement in the Swiss Commercial Gazette.
Agenda
Supplemental to the provisions of corporate law, the company’s Articles
of Association provide that the inclusion of an item in the agenda can be
requested at the latest ten weeks prior to the date of the general meeting
of shareholders.
Share register entries and related deadlines
The 2006 general meeting of shareholders will be held on May 23, 2006, at
the Lucerne Culture and Convention Center ( KKL). Shareholders who are
already recorded in the share register or will be recorded by April 26, 2006,
will receive, along with their invitation, a registration form for participation
at the Annual general meeting with which an admission card, including voting materials, can be requested. Changes to the share register after April
26, 2006, will only be taken into account provided it is possible to do so
from an organizational standpoint and the equal treatment of other shareholders can be ensured.
The share register status as at May 19, 2006, determines the right to
vote at the general meeting. Shareholders are not entitled to vote shares
listed on an admission card that they have subsequently disposed of.
In such cases previously issued admission cards will be exchanged at the
entrance to the general meeting.
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Right to inspect the minutes of the general meeting of shareholders
The minutes of the 32 nd Ordinary general meeting of shareholders of
April 26, 2005, as well as the minutes of the Extraordinary general meeting
of June 28, 2005, may be viewed on the Internet at www.unaxis.com. In
addition, shareholders may inspect the minutes at the headquarters of the
corporation upon prior notice. Minutes of the 2006 Ordinary general meeting will also be published on the Unaxis website once they are compiled.
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Changes of control and defense measures

Duty to make an offer
In accordance with the Articles of Association of Unaxis Holding AG,
a person who acquires shares in the company is not required to make a
public purchase bid pursuant to Arts. 32 and 52 of the Federal Act on
Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading (opting out).
Clauses on changes of control
In the event of a change of control at Unaxis Holding AG, Unaxis Management AG is under the obligation to make a severance payment to any members of the Executive Board who have been dismissed other than for cause
within the context of Art. 337 of the Swiss Code of Obligations, within a
period of two years from the effective date of a change of control or who,
themselves, resign within one month subsequent to the effective date
of a change of control. The amount of such severance payment is equal to
one yearly base salary at the time of termination plus one yearly target
achievement bonus as well as all employer contributions to the pension
fund in the twelve-month period preceding the date of termination.
Deemed to constitute a change of control is the direct or indirect
acquisition of at least 50 percent of the voting shares of Unaxis Holding AG
by any person or entity who, at the time the employment contract with the
given Executive Board member was signed, held no more than 5 percent
of the company’s shares, in combination with the replacement of the
Chairman of the Board of Directors.
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Auditors

Duration of mandate and lead auditor’s term of office
In 2002, the (outsourced) mandates for the internal and external audit
of the company were put up for bids. Following thorough evaluations, the
Board of Directors decided at the proposal of the Audit and Finance
Committee to grant the mandate for internal audit to Ernst & Young AG and
that for external audit to KPMG Fides Peat. The KPMG auditor in charge
conducted auditing work on behalf of Unaxis for the first time upon the
examination of the company’s 2003 financial statements.
Auditing fees
In the 2005 calendar year, KPMG invoiced the company CHF 2.9 million for
global auditing fees.
Additional fees
In the 2005 calendar year, KPMG invoiced the company CHF 0.2 million for
additional services provided globally.
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Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit
The Audit and Finance Committee of the Board of Directors conducts a
thorough annual assessment of the performance, remuneration and independence of the auditors and Group auditors and submits a proposal to
the Board of Directors for the election of external auditors by the general
meeting of shareholders.
At its August meeting, on the basis of an integrated strategic audit
plan that encompasses both the internal and external audit, the Audit and
Finance Committee (see also pages 57/58) conducts an annual examination
of the auditing plan for the upcoming annual financial statements. Once
the auditing work has been completed, the results are analyzed extensively
and discussed with the external auditors on the basis of a comprehensive
management letter. Those results, in turn, constitute the basis for determining the following year’s audit plan.
The auditors and Group auditors attend at least three of the four
ordinary meetings of the Audit and Finance Committee as the relevant
agenda items are dealt with.
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Information policy

General
Unaxis provides its shareholders and the capital market with transparent,
comprehensive and timely information on facts and developments of relevancy to them, and in a manner that is in keeping with the principle of
equal treatment of all capital market participants.
Apart from its detailed annual report and mid-year report, that are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ( IFRS ,
formerly IAS), Unaxis publishes key financial figures (sales, orders received,
orders on hand and EBIT ) and a related commentary for the first and third
quarters of its financial year. In addition, media releases keep shareholders
and the capital market abreast of significant changes and developments
at the company. Also, the company’s website – www.unaxis.com – is a permanently accessible platform for company-specific information.
As a company listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange, Unaxis is subject to
the duty to disclose price-sensitive facts (ad hoc publicity obligation).
Corporate notifications
The corporate notifications published in 2005, as well as those back to
2001, can be accessed at the website www.unaxis.com.
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Agenda
March 28, 2006
Media and analysts conference on the 2005 annual results
SWX Swiss Exchange, Convention Point, Zurich
April 25, 2006
Key figures for the first quarter of 2006
May 23, 2006
General meeting of shareholders
Lucerne Culture and Convention Center ( KKL)
August 22, 2006
Publication of the 2006 semi-annual report
October 24, 2006
Key figures for the third quarter of 2006
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Contact
Unaxis Management AG
Corporate Communications
Churerstrasse 120
CH -8808 Pfäffikon SZ
Phone +41 (0)58 360 96 05
Fax +41 (0)58 360 91 93
media.relations@unaxis.com
investor.relations@unaxis.com
www.unaxis.com
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We ma

ke High
In this country we have focused on the construction of roads. But as we get to the point of easily
and continuously communicating traffic conditions
to drivers, the focus will change from cement and
asphalt to information infrastructures.
Dr. Christine Johnson,
U.S. Department of Transportation

It is not, as many people believe, that
technology-dominated urban areas will come
to resemble something out of a science-fiction
movie. Just the opposite will happen: ever
smaller and smarter technology devices will
disappear into people’s pockets, clothing
and the architectural ambience.
Prof. William J. Mitchell,
Massachusetts Institute of Technology

h -Tech

possibl
People will have increasingly fewer limitations,
as the computers they interact with grow smarter.
The more sophisticated artificial intelligence
becomes, the greater the imaginative power of
those who create images by interacting with it.
Vilém Flusser,
Communications and media philosopher

e.

Sources:
pp 70/71: Pictures of the Future,
Zeitschrift für Forschung und
Innovation;
publisher: Siemens AG
– Interview with
Dr. Christine Johnson, pp 43 ff.,
spring 2002
– Interview with
Prof. William J. Mitchell, pp 34 ff.,
spring 2004
pp 72: Vilém Flusser,
Ins Universum der technischen
Bilder
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Key Figures Group

Key figures for the Unaxis Group

July 1 to
January 1 to December 31,
December 31, 2005
2005
unaudited

1

in CHF Mio.

Orders received
Orders on hand
Sales
EBITDA
– as % of sales
EBIT
– as % of sales

Net Profit
– as % of sales
– as % of equity attributable to equity holders
of Unaxis Holding AG
Cash flow from operating activities 2
Investments in fixed and intangible assets
Total assets
Equity attributable to equity holders of Unaxis Holding AG
– as % of total assets
Net liquidity inclusive of marketable securities 3
– as % of equity attributable to equity holders
of Unaxis Holding AG
Net assets 4
EBIT as % of net assets ( RONA )
Number of employees
Personnel expenses
Research and development expenses
1

A five-year comparison of key figures for 2005–2001
can be found on page 117.

2

Before change in net current assets.

3

Marketable securities are short-term investments
and treasury shares.

4

Net assets include the operating current and
non-current assets (excluding cash, cash equivalents
and financial investments), less operating liabilities
(excluding financial debt and tax provisions).

Key figures per share
CHF

January 1 to
December 31,
2004

1 455
355
1 605
59
4%
–34
–2%
18
1%

741
355
904
124
14%
78
9%
135
15%

714
518
702
–64
–9%
–112
–16%
–117
–17%

1 778
494
1 850
–3
0%
–329
–18%
–372
–20%

2%
84
91
1 983
1 039
52%
670

13%
110
32
1 983
1 039
52%
670

–10%
–26
59
2 232
1 179
53%
529

–31%
114
240
2 411
1 215
50%
669

64%
567
–6%
6 434
600
148

64%
567
14%
6 434
289
72

45%
543
–21%
6 707
312
76

55%
488
–67%
6 844
629
180

July 1 to
January 1 to December 31,
December 31, 2005
2005
unaudited

1

January 1 to
June 30,
2005
unaudited

January 1 to
June 30,
2005
unaudited

January 1 to
December 31,
2004

High
Low
End of period
Total shares outstanding (units)
Market capitalization in millions
EBIT

Net profit less minority interests
Net cash flow
Equity
Dividend 2
1

Average number of shares with voting and dividend rights.

2

Dividend 2005: proposal of the Board of Directors.

77

198
114
198

198
171
198

176
114
176

200
98
113

14 142 437
2 799
–2.49
1.21
–22.51
76.28
0.00

14 142 437
2 799
5.74
9.87

14 142 437
2 489
–8.01
–8.43

76.28

84.27

14 142 437
1 598
–24.07
–27.68
–5.97
88.87
0.00
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Key figures by segment

Business developments by segment
in CHF million

Coating Services
Sales
EBITDA
EBIT

– as % of sales
Net assets
Vacuum Solutions
Orders received
Orders on hand
Sales
EBITDA
EBIT

– as % of sales
Net assets
Data Storage Solutions
Orders received
Orders on hand
Sales
EBITDA
EBIT

– as % of sales
Net assets

191
43
21
11%
285

367
98
57
16%
236

390
45
383
4
–5
–1%
–67

198
45
198
3
–2
–1%
–67

191
44
185
1
–3
–2%
–28

365
36
379
15
6
1%
–38

122
11
124
–8
–13
–11%
57

43
11
63
3
0
1%
57

79
31
61
–11
–14
–22%
57

170
12
208
17
10
5%
79

209
179
217
29
12
6%
11

98
179
120
18
9
8%
11

111
200
97
11
3
3%
27

309
184
328
58
42
13%
14

–37
28
111
–44
–44
–39%
–105

–16
28
54
6
6
12%
–105

–21
99
57
–50
–50
–88%
–122

129
176
105
–249
–296
–280%
–119

379
92
378
0
–19
–32
–9%
407

216
92
267
0
51
44
16%
407

163
144
110
0
–70
–76
–69%
348

437
85
462
150
28
–173
–37%
353

0
7
1
–15

0
–5
–6
–15

0
12
8
–24

0
31
24
–36

EBIT

– as % of sales
Net assets

EBIT

– as % of sales
Net assets
Semiconductor Equipment
Orders received
Orders on hand
Sales
Impairment loss on goodwill
EBITDA
EBIT

– as % of sales
Net assets

January 1 to
December 31,
2004

201
47
26
13%
280

EBITDA

EBITDA

January 1 to
June 30,
2005
unaudited

392
91
47
12%
280

Components and Special Systems
Orders received
Orders on hand
Sales

Solar/Display Technology
Orders received
Orders on hand
Sales

July 1 to
December 31,
2005
unaudited

January 1 to
31. Dezember,
2005

Others
Sales
EBITDA
EBIT

Net assets
Net assets include operating current and non-current assets
(excluding cash, cash equivalents and financial investments), less
operating liabilities (excluding financial debt and tax provisions).
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Consolidated income statement

in CHF million

July 1 to
December 31,
2005
unaudited

January 1 to
December 31,
2005

Note

Sales of goods
Services rendered

January 1 to
June 30,
2005
unaudited

January 1 to
December 31,
2004

1 137
469

662
242

475
226

1 405
446

1 605

904

702

1 850

Cost of sales

–1 105

–566

–539

–1 398

Gross profit

500

338

163

453

5
6
7

–215
–148
–192
0
0
21

–108
–72
–87
0
0
8

–107
–76
–105
0
0
13

–205
–180
–176
–37
–150
–34

4, 8

–34

78

–112

–329

9
10

0
11
62

0
10
62

0
1
0

0
–17
0

40

151

–111

–346

–21

–16

–5

–26

18

135

–117

–372

2

0

1

6

16

134

–118

–379

1.21
1.21
0.00

9.87
9.87

–8.43
–8.43

–27.68
–27.68
0.00

Total sales

Marketing and selling
Research and development
Administration
Amortization of goodwill
Impairment loss on goodwill
Other income and expenses
EBIT

Income from associated companies
Financial result
Gain on sale of other investments

3

Profit/loss before taxes ( EBT )
Income taxes

11

Net profit/loss
Minority interests in net income

Net profit/loss less minority interests
Earnings per registered share in CHF
Fully diluted earnings per registered share in CHF
Dividend paid per registered share in CHF (gross)

13
13
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The additional six-month figures shown in the consolidated income statement are not a
formal part of the audited annual financial statements.

Consolidated balance sheet as at December 31

Assets
in CHF million

Note

2004

2005

Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and accrued income

14
15
16
17
18

Current assets
Loans receivable
Investments in associated companies
Other investments
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Post-employment benefit assets
Deferred tax assets

10
19
20
21
23

Non-current assets
Total assets

324
106
388
237
22

630
2
329
477
32

1 076

1 471

0
0
28
567
214
29
68

28
0
58
566
199
27
61

907

940

1 983

2 411

Equity and liabilities
in CHF million

Note

2004

2005

Payables
Accrued liabilities
Current customer advances
Current financial debt
Income tax provisions
Current post-employment benefit provisions
Current other provisions

25
26
27
28
12
22
29

130
188
56
1
21
13
133

136
189
209
2
28
12
203

544

779

34
2
249
27
82

37
3
245
27
99

Non-current liabilities

393

410

Total liabilities

937

1 190

Share capital
Treasury shares
Reserves and retained earnings

283
–244
1 000

283
–42
975

Equity attributable to equity holders of Unaxis Holding AG

1 039

1 215

7

6

Total equity

1 046

1 221

Total equity and liabilities

1 983

2 411

Current liabilities
Non-current customer advances
Non-current financial debt
Non-current post-employment benefit provisions
Deferred tax provisions
Non-current other provisions

27
28
22
24
29

Minority interests
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Consolidated cash flow statement

Note

Net profit/loss
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses on intangible assets
Addition to (+)/release of (–) other provisions
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in post-retirement benefit provisions
Expense (+)/income (–) from deferred taxes
Losses (+)/gains (–) from sale of non-current assets
Decrease (+)/increase (–) in post-employment benefit assets
Other non-cash income/expense
Translation losses (+)/gains (–) on intercompany positions

135
44
1
0
0
0
–1
6
–69
0
0
–7

–117
45
2
1
0
54
3
–2
–4
1
2
–11

–372
97
41
39
151
156
4
–3
–5
1
0
5

84

110

–26

114

17

–30
195

–57
208

27
–13

26
–128

27

–167
–104

–90
–110

–77
6

–25
114

–12

2

–14

0

–117

–46

–71

–12

–34

63

–97

102

–88
–26
–3
21
–104

–31
–26
–2
21
–105

–57
0
–1
0
1

–128
–7
–3
4
0

–1
25
0
87

0
21
–1
87

–1
4
1
0

0
11
0
0

–89

–36

–53

–123

–1
–202
6

0
–222
–2

–1
20
8

–33
–1
–25

–197

–224

27

–59

21

Cash flow from/used by operating activities
(before change in net current assets)

Cash flow from changes in net current assets
Cash flow from operating activities
Capital expenditure for property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries / associated companies / others
Capital expenditure in intangible assets
Decrease (+)/increase (–) in loans receivable
Decrease (+)/increase (–) in marketable securities
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in cash from purchase/
sale of subsidiaries
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sales of consolidated subsidiaries
Proceeds from sales of other investments

19
10
20
15
1

Cash flow used in investing activities
Dividends paid
Sale (+)/purchase (–) of treasury shares
Increase in (+)/repayment of (–) financial debt

January 1 to
December 31,
2004

18
89
3
1
0
54
2
4
–73
1
2
–18

19
20
19
6, 20
29
22
11, 24

Decrease (+)/increase (–) in receivables / accrued assets
Decrease (+)/increase (–) in inventories
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in payables /
accrued liabilities and use of other provisions
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in customer advances
Non-cash impact in net current assets
due to hedge accounting

January 1 to
June 30,
2005
unaudited

28

Cash flow used in financing activities
Translation adjustments to cash and cash equivalents

14

13

1

12

–3

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in cash and cash equivalents 1

14

–307

–195

–112

–82

630
324

518
324

630
518

712
630

–307

–195

–112

–82

8
–6
0

0
2
0

8
–8
0

0
25
0

–305

–192

–113

–57

0
5
27

0
3
11

0
2
16

1
4
27

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in cash and cash equivalents 1
Decrease (+)/increase (–) in financial debt from purchase/
sale of subsidiaries 2
Repayment of (+)/increase in (–) financial debt 2
Translation adjustments to financial debt
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in net liquidity 1

28

Additional information: Interest paid
Interest earned
Taxes paid
1

The decrease in net liquidity and cash and cash equivalents is essentially
attributable to the purchase of treasury shares and short-term investments.

2

The financial interest in Spinnerei Kunz was sold during the financial year
2005. The transferred assets included, among other things, the mortgage of
CHF 8.3 million taken out in first half of 2005.

The additional six-month figures shown in the consolidated cash flow statement are not a formal part of the audited annual financial statements.
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in CHF million

July 1 to
December 31,
2005
unaudited

January 1 to
December 31,
2005

Balance at January 1, 2004
Adjustment of share-based
compensation as of January 1, 2004
Balance at January 1, 2004
after restatement
Fair value adjustments under IAS 39
Realization under IAS 39
Translation differences
Net result recognized directly in equity
Net result (adjusted)
Total recognized income and expenses
Capital increase related to ESEC merger
Dividend distributions
Transactions with minority shareholders
Share-based compensation
Purchase of treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares

263

471

–44

–71

815

8

51

–6

–1
263

471

–44

–71

814

–26
–26
–379
–379

–26
19

1 488

Total
shareholders’
equity

72

–1
8
9
–8

51
–10

–6
–2
2

0

–10

0

0

–10

0

151
–28
1
–11
13

Minority
interests

Total equity
allocable to
shareholders

Deferred taxes

Fair value
adjustments

Hedge
accounting

Retained
earnings

Translation
differences

Treasury
shares 3

Share capital 1

in CHF million

Additional
paid-in capital 2

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

–3

1 560
–1

1 487
–3
–6
–26
–37
–379
–416
171
–28
0
1
–11
10

72
0
2
2
6
8
–6
–69

1 558
–3
–6
–24
–35
–372
–407
171
–33
–69
1
–11
10

Balance at December 31, 2004

283

622

–42

–98

406

9

41

–6

1 215

6

1 221

Balance at January 1, 2005
Fair value adjustments under IAS 39
Realization under IAS 39
Translation differences
Net result recognized in equity
Net result
Total recognized income and expenses
Dividend distributions
Share-based compensation
Purchase of treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares

283

622

–42

–98

406

9
–3
–9

41
23
–62

–6
3
3

6
0

–12

–39

6

–12

–39

6

1 215
23
–68
60
15
16
31
0
2
–248
39

0
0
2
2
–1

1 221
23
–68
60
15
18
33
–1
2
–248
39

Balance at December 31, 2005

283

–3

1

1

1 039

7

1 046

60
60
16
16

60

2
–248
46
622

1

The share capital of Unaxis Holding AG consists of 14 142 437 fully
paid-up registered shares, each with a par value of CHF 20.

2

CHF 57 million of the additional paid-in capital is not readibly available

–244

–8
–38

418

according to the provisions of Swiss company law.
3

The historical cost of treasury shares purchased to meet potential
commitments in relation to Unaxis Holding AG stock option plans:
Number
of shares

Price per
share in CHF

Cost in
CHF million

Fair value in
CHF million

Purchase 2004
Sale 2004 due to employee share purchase plan
Repurchase of employee shares

48 858
–64 915
19 195

138
196
215

7
–13
4

Balance at December 31, 2004

223 581

189

42

Exercise of employee options in 2005
Sale 2005 due to employee share purchase plan
Purchase 2005
Repurchase of employee shares

–239
–7
1 343
92

366
530
917
092

187
187
173
178

–45
–1
232
16

Balance at December 31, 2005

1 412 694

173

244

82

7
–10
4

Result
in CHF million

–3

–3
–37
–1
232
16

–7
0
0
0
–8

Accounting principles

Introduction

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Unaxis Holding AG were
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
( IFRS ). These accounting standards have been consistently applied in
all periods represented herein. The consolidated financial statements
were approved by the Board of Directors on March 17, 2006 and will be
submitted to the annual general meeting of shareholders on May 23,
2006, for approval. All standards issued by the IASB and all interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
( IFRIC) effective at the date of the consolidated financial statements
were taken into account. The consolidation was based on audited annual
individual company accounts of the Group’s subsidiaries, and prepared
according to uniform Group accounting principles. The accounting
currency of the Group is the Swiss franc ( CHF ). All line item amounts in
the consolidated financial statements are reflected in millions of Swiss
francs and all such amounts (including totals and subtotals) have been
rounded according to normal commercial practice. Thus an addition of
the amounts can result in rounding differences. All asset values have been
determined in keeping with the historical cost principle, with the exception of derivative financial instruments and financial assets available for
sale or held for trading purposes, which are stated at fair value.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions
Preparation of the annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS
requires that management makes estimates and assumptions that may
have an impact on the level of the reported revenues, expenses, assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities at the time of accounting. These estimates and assumptions are continually reassessed. Depending on the
underlying matter, the adjustments of such basic presumptions can have
an effect on the current period as well as potentially on future periods.
The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are believed to be reasonable and justified. Actual
results can differ from these estimates. Moreover, application of the
accounting principles can require management to make decisions that
may have a material impact on the amounts reported in the annual
financial statements. Above all, the assessment of business cases that
involve complex structures or legal forms call for decisions on management’s part. The most important estimates or assumptions, as well as
the source of any uncertainty in that regard, are presented below.
PP&E , goodwill, intangible assets (Notes 19 and 20):
The reported assets are examined annually for value impairment. In
assessing whether impairment exists, estimates are made of the anticipated future cash flows from use of such assets or the proceeds that
could potentially be realized from their sale. Actual cash flows can differ
from those estimates. Various factors – such as repurposing, reorganizations, technical causes, etc., can exert an influence that shortens the
useful life and thus leads to an impairment of value.

Provisions for onerous contracts (Note 29):
Provisions for onerous contracts are established if the costs
prior to the fulfillment of a given contract exceed the related revenues.
The current estimated difference between those two amounts is determined and appropriate provisions are established. Within the framework
of preparing the financial statements, a systematic reassessment of
project risks and the relevant adjustments to cost estimates for projects
is conducted in each business unit, the basis for which is the so-called
“most likely outcome”. The latter involves making assumptions regarding
the technical and time-specific realization of such projects, and also
includes a quantification of the related risks. The ultimate future obligation can vary from these estimates.
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Post-employment benefit plans (21 and 22):
Calculations of the reported assets and liabilities vis-à-vis the Group’s
defined benefits pension plans are based on statistical and actuarial
assumptions. In this regard, the net present values of the defined benefit
obligations are dependent upon assumptions such as the discount rate
used for calculating future pension obligations, future wage developments, as well as increases in other benefits for employees. Furthermore,
those calculations are based on statistical data such as probabilities
regarding retirement age and the life expectancy of the pension plan
member. Thus, these actuarial assumptions can vary substantially from
the actual results due to changes in market circumstances, higher or
lower rates of retirement, longer or shorter lifespans of insured members,
or changes in the economic and regulatory environment. Such variances
can have an influence on pension assets and liabilities recorded in future
accounting periods.
Income taxes (Note 11):
Assessment of assets and liabilities pertaining to income and deferred
taxes requires far-reaching assumptions. Management is of the opinion
that these assumptions are appropriate and that uncertainties in reported
tax assets and liabilities have received adequate consideration.

Accounting principles
The International Accounting Standards Board ( IASB) has published
a number of new and revised standards that Unaxis adopted as of
January 1, 2005. The effects of these adjustments on the Group’s consolidation principles are discussed below.
IFRS 2 Share-based Payment:
Since January 1, 2005, among other things the current market value
of equity options on the day of grant is to be determined and recorded
on the income statement over the entire time span until they vest. Except
for certain limitations, the new standard must be applied retroactively.
The transitional provisions require the retroactive application for all such
benefits granted subsequent to November 7, 2002, that have not been
vested by December 31, 2004, as well as for all yet unexercised cash
benefits that have not been paid out by December 31, 2004. The 2004
prior-year figures have been restated retroactively in accordance
with this revised standard, and have had effects on the balance sheet
dated December 31, 2004 (reduction of Group reserves in the amount
of CHF 0.6 million; increase in deferred liabilities in the amount of
CHF 0.6 million due to the recording of the liability for the Board of Directors options plan) as well as on the income statement dated December
31, 2004 ( CHF 0.6 million reduction in Group net financial result).
As at January 1, 2004, equity declined by CHF 1.3 million as a result
of the recording of this liability.
IFRS 3 Business Combinations:
The standard prescribes that, as of January 1, 2005, goodwill is no
longer systematically amortized. In place of amortization, goodwill items
are to be tested annually for impairment. This principle is being applied
prospectively. If the principle had been introduced prematurely in the
2004 financial year, the elimination of goodwill amortization would have
resulted in a reduction in expenses of approximately CHF 37 million.
IAS 1 (revised) Presentation of Financial Statements:
Under IAS 1, minority interests are now to be reported as a component
of equity. Application of this change led to a CHF 6.0 million increase in
consolidated equity as at January 1, 2005, and of CHF 72 million as at
January 1, 2004. Earnings per share continue to be calculated on the
basis of the proportion of Group net profit attributable to equity holders
of Unaxis Holding AG.
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates,
and Errors:
The revised standard stipulates that changes in the accounting methods
arising from the application of new or revised standards and interpretation guidelines are to be applied retroactively, provided the transitional
provisions do not stipulate any requirements to the contrary. Such
retroactive application requires that the comparison period as well as
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Unaxis Holding AG is a Swiss public company located in Freienbach SZ ,
Churerstrasse 120, Pfäffikon SZ . It is the ultimate parent company of
the Unaxis Group, a globally leading supplier of production systems,
components and services for selected information technology market
segments as well as for sophisticated industrial applications. Apart from
its activities in Switzerland, the Unaxis Group operates in particular
in the EU region, North America and Asia, and employed some 6 500
individuals as at the balance sheet date.

the opening balance be so adjusted as if the standard had always
been applied. Until now, Unaxis has applied the changes prospectively
unless the transitional provisions defined something to the contrary.
IAS 32 (revised) and IAS 39 (revised), Financial Instruments:

These revised standards have no impact on the Group’s results or balance
sheet items.
With the exception of the elimination of goodwill amortization, initial
application of the new or revised standards leads to no material changes
that would impair the comparability of the 2005 and 2004 consolidated
financial statements. The other accounting principles were applied without change.

Effective date: May 1, 2006:
IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS2 Share-based Payments 1
Effective date: January 1, 2007:
– IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure 2
– IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Capital Disclosures 2
1

Unaxis anticipates that there will be no or at least no material effects on its
consolidated financial statements.

2

Expected are mainly additional disclosure obligations in terms of the consolidated
financial statements.

3

The effects on the consolidated financial statements cannot be determined with
sufficient certainty at present.

Consolidation principles
Presentation of the consolidated income statement
To further enhance comparability, the Group has made the following
changes in the manner of presentation. Certain comparative figures have
been reclassified or supplemented to conform with the current year’s
presentation.
Balance sheet:
In the financial year 2005, down payments received from customers have
been offset with POC accruals. The effect of this offset as at December
31, 2005, amounted to CHF 53 million (see Note 17). The prior-year
presentation was not adjusted because doing so at the individual project
level is not practical for the consolidated accounts. Thus, the gross
amounts are reflected for the prior-year.
Income statement (comparable period adjusted accordingly):
– The presentation of sales is now being made separately according to the
categories “sales of goods” and “services rendered”.
– Disclosure has been made of the items “other operating income and
expenses”, “other income and expenses” under “other income and
expenses”, while “financial income and expenses” is reflected under
“financial result".
– “Other income and expenses” has been included in its entirety in the
EBIT calculation, while the “financial result” and “gain on sale of other
investments” are shown below EBIT .
Key figures/segment reporting:
Net assets: Due to the improved method of allocating liabilities that
has been implemented, provisions for post-employment benefit plans as
well as provisions for warranties associated with previous divestitures
are now allocable to the respective segments. The comparable prior-year
figures have been adjusted accordingly.

Future changes in accounting principles
The International Accounting Standards Board ( IASB) published the
following new or revised standards and interpretation that are to take
effect as of the 2006 financial year at the earliest and thus have not
been early applied:
Effective date: December 1, 2005:
IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste

and Electronic Equipment 1
Effective date: January 1, 2006:
– IAS 19 Employee Benefits: new option to record Actuarial Gains and
Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures 2
– IAS 39 Financial Instruments (Recognition and Measurement): Cash flow
hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions; fair value option;
financial guarantee contracts (applies also to IFRS 4) 1
– IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 3
– IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources 1
– IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease under
IAS 17 3
Effective date: March 1, 2006:
IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Countries 1

Method and scope of consolidation:
December 31 represents the uniform closing date for all companies
included in the consolidated financial statements. All companies in which
Unaxis Holding AG has either a direct or indirect interest exceeding
50 percent of the shareholders’ voting rights and companies over which
control is assured through contractual arrangements are consolidated.
Using the full consolidation method, the assets, liabilities, income and
expenses of these consolidated subsidiaries are included in their entirety.
Minority interests are recorded under equity in the consolidated financial
statements. Group companies acquired or sold during the course of the
financial year are included in or, respectively, eliminated from, the consolidated financial statements as of the date of purchase or sale. All
majority interests held are shown in the organization chart at the end of
this report.
Capital consolidation and goodwill:
The capital consolidation is performed according to the purchase
method. At the time of their initial consolidation, the assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of subsidiaries are translated at fair value.
The difference between the purchase price and the equity of the acquired
company based on such principles is capitalized at the parent-company
level as goodwill in the year of acquisition. Goodwill denominated in
foreign currencies is translated into Swiss francs at the rates prevailing
at the balance sheet date. As of January 1, 2005, capitalized goodwill
may no longer be systematically amortized, but instead is tested annually
for impairment.
Translation of foreign currencies:
Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Swiss
francs at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date; income
and expenses of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Swiss francs
using average rates for the year. Differences resulting from the application of different exchange rates are added to or deducted from equity
with no impact on the income statement. Exchange gains and losses as
recorded in the individual company accounts of subsidiaries are included
in the income statement. Excluded from this rule are specific long-term
intercompany monetary items that form part of the net investment in
a foreign subsidiary, whose exchange translation differences are also
credited or charged directly to equity. In the year that a foreign subsidiary is divested, the cumulative translation differences recorded
directly in equity are included in the income statement as part of the
gain or loss on sales of investments.
Elimination of intercompany profits:
Profits on intercompany sales not yet realized through sales to third
parties, as well as inter-company results on transfers of fixed assets and
investments in subsidiaries, are eliminated.

Valuation principles
Cash and cash equivalents are placed with various financial
institutions with top-quality international ratings. Time deposits included
therein mature in three months or less.
Receivables are valued at the original invoiced amount less any
necessary value adjustments for default risks. These risks are insured
by third parties only in exceptional cases.
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Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on their respective
settlement dates. Exceptions in this regard are financial investments held
to maturity as well as receivables and credits, which are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses from
changes in the fair value of financial investments available for sale are
temporarily recorded in equity until such investments are sold or disposed of, at which time the gains or losses are transferred to the income
statement.
Derivative financial instruments: Forward contracts and options
are utilized systematically and mainly for the purpose of reducing business-related foreign currency and interest rate risks. These transactions
are concluded with first-rate financial institutions and, as a general rule,
have a term to maturity of up to 12 months. These derivative financial
instruments are stated at fair values. If strict requirements are fulfilled
with regard to documentation, probability of occurrence, effectiveness
and reliability of valuation, hedge accounting is applied in accordance
with IAS 39, i. e. until the hedged underlying business transactions
are accounted for, the unrealized profits and losses resulting from the
valuation of derivative financial instruments at fair value are recorded
in equity with no impact on the income statement.
Inventories: Inventories of raw materials, purchased components
and trade merchandise are carried at the lower of cost or net realizable
value, whereby the FIFO and weighted average cost methods are applied
to inventory accounting. Self-produced components, work in progress
and finished goods are carried at production cost. This includes all
related material and labor costs as well as a reasonable allocation of
overhead. Recognizable reductions in value resulting from excess inventory, declines in replacement cost or sales price and the like are taken
into account through appropriate writedowns of inventory items.
Investments: Investments in associated companies (20 to 50
percent ownership of voting rights) are accounted for in accordance with
the equity method. Unrealized changes in fair value of other investments
(under 20 percent ownership of voting rights) that have been classified as
available for sale recorded in equity and transferred to financial income/
loss upon the sale or disposal of the given investment.
Property, plant and equipment: Fixed assets are recorded at historical purchase or production costs, less any economically necessary depreciation. Components of PP&E that have a differing useful life are
recorded separately and depreciated accordingly (component approach).
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis according to the anticipated useful life of the asset, as follows:

– Plant and administrative buildings
used in Group operations

3–5 years
4–7 years
5–10 years
5–15 years
3–15 years
10–25 years
Duration of the rental
contract (max. 20 years)
or, if shorter, individual
useful life

Provisions: Provisions are established if the future outflow of
resources is likely and reliably predictable for obligations arising from
past events. In this regard, the “more likely than not” principle is
applied.
Participation plans: Unaxis Holding AG offers members of the Board
of Directors and Executive Board, as well as senior managers, options
to purchase shares of the company under various participation plans. In
addition, a share purchase plan existed for Group personnel during
the year. The fair value is determined on the day of grant of such sharebased remuneration and charged to the income statement on a straight
line basis until the entitlement to exercise arises. The fair value is recorded
as personnel expense, with a corresponding increase in equity (equity
settlement), or as financial debt (cash settlement). The company owns
treasury shares that were acquired in accordance with a share buyback
program and may be used in the future for employee option plans and
potential acquisitions. The cost of acquisition of these treasury shares is
deducted directly from equity.
Post-employment benefit plans: Within the Group, various postemployment benefit plans exist, which differ in their purpose and financing according to local needs. Defined-benefit retirement plans are carried
forward and valuated annually by independent actuaries. In these calculations, the projected unit credit method is applied. Costs and cost
reductions that result from the introduction of or changes to benefits provided by a plan are charged or credited to the income statement on a
straight line basis over the average remaining service period until the
amended benefits become vested. Any changes in plans relating to
retirees are immediately booked to the income statement. Actuarial gains
and losses, which result among other things from changes in actuarial
assumptions, are charged or credited to the income statement on a
straight line basis over eight years, if such gains or losses exceed
10 percent of the defined benefit obligation or – if higher – of the plan
assets of the given plan.
Impairment of assets: At each balance sheet date, an assessment
is made as to whether there are indications that assets may be impaired.
If any such indication exists regarding assets of significant value, an
impairment test is carried out in order to determine if and to what extent
a valuation adjustment is necessary to reduce the asset to its value in
use (present value of estimated future cash flows) or, if higher, to its net
realizable sale price. In such an instance, the impairment loss is recorded
and charged to the income statement. As soon as it can be ascertained
that a previously recorded impairment loss is no longer justified (with the
exception of impairment loss on goodwill), it is reversed and credited to
the income statement. Goodwill as well as other intangible assets with an
undeterminable useful life are subjected to an annual impairment test as
at the balance sheet date.

Income statement
20–40 years

Assets’ estimated useful life and residual worth are examined annually.
Fixed assets under financial leasing agreements are treated identically to
fixed assets owned. Non-operating properties available for sale are carried at the lower of their net book value or estimated net realizable value
(less sale-related costs).
Intangible assets (excluding goodwill): Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance from which future
economic benefits are expected to flow to the Group. Intangible assets
are amortized on a straight line basis over their clearly determinable
useful lives and software over a period of two to a maximum of three
years. If the useful life cannot be determined, an annual impairment test
of the intangible asset is conducted as at the balance sheet date.
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Sales of goods: Sales of goods, after deduction of sales taxes and
credits for returns and rebates, are recorded at the time at which the utility and risks of the sold goods have essentially transferred to the customer. In the Solar/Display Technology and Space Technology business
units, revenue accruals for long-term manufacturing and services contracts are accomplished via the percentage of completion method. For
Solar/Display Technology, the percentage of completion is determined on
the basis of direct contract-related costs, after factoring out cost of
materials. The Space Technology business unit uses the milestone
method.
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– IT hardware
– Company cars
– Trucks and electrically powered vehicles
– Technical installations and machines
– Other operating and business equipment
– Central building installations
– Leasehold improvements

Discontinued operations and long-term assets held for sale:
A reclassification into “discontinued operations” is made upon the sale
of the given business activity, or at an earlier date if it fulfills the criteria
for being classified as “held for sale”. Long-term assets held for sale
are carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell
and any impairments are booked to the income statement.

Services rendered: Revenues from services that have been rendered
are recorded on the income statement according to the level of completion as at the balance sheet date.
Interest on financial debt: Interest expense is charged to the income
statement without restriction, thus no borrowing costs directly incurred
during construction are capitalized.
Research and development: Expenditures for research and development are charged directly to the income statement as incurred.
Taxes: Current-year income taxes are accrued on the basis of income reported locally for the financial year by the individual Group companies in keeping with the current-year taxation principle. Wherever the
tax-relevant basis differs from Group values, deferred taxes are determined and recorded by applying currently effective local tax rates to the
differences (liability method). Taxes on dividends from subsidiaries are
only accrued when distributions are contemplated.
Earnings per share: Earnings per share ( EPS ) is based on the portion
of consolidated net profit/loss attributable to equity holders of Unaxis
Holding AG , divided by the weighted number of shares outstanding
during the reporting period. Fully diluted earnings per share takes into
account additionally all potential equity securities that could have come
into existence as the result of an exercise of option rights.

Segment information
The presentation of segment information corresponds to the operational
and management-related structure of the Group. Segments are subdivided into business units. The individual business units of the Group are
reflected separately because the products they produce and market
are clearly distinct from one another. The same accounting principles as
described in this annual report are applied at the various business units.
Inter-segment sales are transacted at normal market conditions, and the
related cost allocations are made systematically to the Group company
that incurred the costs. The net operating assets of the business units
consist of the operating assets such as receivables, inventories, PP&E
and intangible assets, less any operating liabilities. The geographic
breakdown is based on the Group’s major markets and site locations.
Coating Services: is a global leader in the coating of precision components, especially for the automotive industry, as well as tools used in
metal and plastics processing. The most important business field for
Coating Services is contract coating services, which are offered via a
continually growing network of coating centers in Europe, the Americas
and Asia. Coating Services also operates in-house coating centers at
customer sites and markets coating equipment.
Vacuum Solutions: offers vacuum solutions used in a broad range of
modern production and analytical processes as well as for research purposes. The segment’s core competency lies in the development of systems for making vacuum and conveying process gases.

Financial risk management/financial instruments
Due to its international activities, the Group is faced with various financial risks, such as those associated with fluctuations in foreign exchange
and interest rates. Moreover, ensuring a sufficient level of liquidity is of
central importance. Management continuously monitors and steers such
risks with the support of the Corporate Treasury. As a fundamental rule,
no speculative transactions are conducted in the foreign exchange or
interest rate areas.
Foreign exchange risks: The Group’s consolidated financial statements are reflected in Swiss francs. Due to its most significant markets,
the Group is primarily exposed to price risks versus the US dollar and
Euro. When the expenses and revenues of Group companies are incurred
in differing or non-local currencies, the underlying business transactions
are hedged on a centrally coordinated basis by means of commonly used
financial instruments (see “Derivative financial instruments”).
Liquidity risks: On the basis of a consolidated, rolling liquidity plan,
the Corporate Treasury determines the Group’s required liquidity and is
responsible for ensuring its availability as well as the centralized financing of Group companies.
Interest rate risks: Risks related to fluctuations in interest rates are
monitored by the Corporate Treasury and in certain instances hedged at
Group level.
Default risks: As a fundamental principle, the Group concludes contracts only with first-rate domestic and foreign banking institutions. The
credit or default risk associated with operating receivables is monitored
decentrally by the individual Group companies (see “Receivables”).
Generally, these risks are reduced by means of customer prepayments,
letters of credit and other instruments that ensure payment. There are no
concentration risks identifiable within the Group.

Data Storage Solutions: is the world’s leading provider of coating
and replication systems for the data storage device industry. Data Storage
Solutions is the only player in the market to have a comprehensive
product range for all data formats used in the production of optical storage media such as CDs and DVD s, as well as for magnetic data storage
devices such as computer hard disks.
Components and Special Systems: is a segment comprising the
Optics and Space Technology business units. Optics is specialized in
the area of optical components and modules. Highly precise optical
thin film depositions, as well as complex optomechanical and optoelectronic modules, represent the business unit’s core competencies. Space
Technology is the world’s leading provider of payload fairings made
of composite materials for space launch vehicles. Additional products
produced by the unit are structures and precision mechanisms for satellites, instruments used in space exploration, and laser terminals for
optical data transmission between telecommunications satellites.
Solar/ Display Technology: Unaxis Solar develops production systems
for the thin film coating of solar modules. Unaxis has to a great extent
exited from its previous business activities in the production of manufacturing systems for flat panel displays.
Semiconductor Equipment: comprises the Wafer Processing and
Assembly & Packaging business units. Wafer Processing is a leading
supplier of production systems for semiconductors, which are used for
the coating and etching of wafers. Assembly & Packaging is a globally
leading provider of chip assembly equipment and system solutions for
the back-end segment of the semiconductor industry.

Related-party transactions
Deemed to be related parties and companies are members of the Board
of Directors or Executive Board, significant shareholders, as well as companies controlled by any of those individuals.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Changes in scope of consolidation/ownership structure

Note (1)

In 2005, the following change occurred in the scope of consolidation:
As a result of the sale of Spinnerei Kunz AG, Windisch, the following
balance sheet items were deconsolidated effective March 21, 2005:
in CHF million

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Property, plant and equipment
Financial investments

1
0
0
0
6
0

Assets

6

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Financial debt
Current income tax provisions
Deferred tax provisions
Post-employment benefit provisions
Other provisions
Liabilities
Equity

0
0
8
0
0
0
0
8
–2

Equity and liabilities

6

Spinnerei Kunz AG generated no revenues in the period under review
and made no contribution to EBIT .

Translation rates

Note (2)

The following rates were used to translate the most important foreign
currencies in the financial statements:

1 USD
1 EUR
1 GBP
100 KRW
100 JPY
100 CNY
100 HKD
1 SGD
1 TWD

Average rates
2005

1.25
1.55
2.27
0.12
1.13
15.20
16.00
0.748
0.039

Change
04/05

2004

1.24
1.54
2.28
0.11
1.15
15.00
16.00
0.735
0.037

Year-end rates
2005

0.2%
0.3%
–0.5%
11.9%
–1.5%
1.3%
0.0%
1.8%
5.4%

1.31
1.56
2.27
0.13
1.12
16.30
16.90
0.788
0.040
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Change
04/05

2004

1.13
1.54
2.18
0.11
1.10
13.70
14.60
0.691
0.035

16.0%
1.0%
4.2%
18.8%
1.9%
19.0%
15.8%
14.0%
14.3%
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in CHF

Impact of translation rates on sales
in %

Change versus previous year
Excluding
Impact of
Actual
translation impact translation rates

Note (3)

Coating Services
Vacuum Solutions
Data Storage Solutions
Components and Special Systems
Display Technology
Semiconductor Equipment

7.0
1.0
–40.5
–34.0
5.7
–18.3

5.9
0.9
–40.4
–33.6
5.6
–18.3

1.1
0.2
–0.1
–0.4
0.0
0.0

Total

–13.2

–13.4

0.1

Impact of translation rates of EBIT
in CHF million

Change versus previous year
Excluding
Impact of
Actual
translation impact translation rates

Note (4)

Coating Services
Vacuum Solutions
Data Storage Solutions
Components and Special Systems
Display Technology
Semiconductor Equipment
Others

–10
–10
–23
–30
252
140
–23

–11
–2
–24
–30
252
141
–18

1
–8
0
0
0
0
–5

Total

295

307

–12

Amortization of goodwill

Note (5)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Coating Services
Semiconductor Equipment

0
0

1
36

Total

0

37

Effective as of January 1, 2005, Unaxis began applying IFRS 3.
Accordingly, goodwill is no longer systematically amortized but instead
tested on an annual basis for impairment.
Amortization in the 2004 financial year for the Semiconductor
Equipment segment pertained to the Assembly & Packaging ( ESEC ) and
Wafer Processing (Plasma-Therm) business units and was based on a
useful life of 15 years.
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Impairment loss on goodwill

Note (6)

in CHF million

2004

2005

0

Total

150

The impairment loss of CHF 150 million recorded in the previous year
was the result of weakness in the markets for semiconductor equipment
and the related postponement of a market recovery until 2005. This led to
the necessity to view the medium-term strategic plans of the Assembly &
Packaging business unit as being realizable only after a shift in time.
Goodwill is allocated to the given cash-generating units ( CGUs). In testing
the goodwill positions of ESEC in the amount of CHF 93 million (2004:
CHF 93 million) and of Plasma-Therm in the amount of CHF 107 million
( CHF 92 million), these CGUs relate to the Assembly & Packaging and
Wafer Processing business units, which form the Semiconductor Equipment segment. The following segments carry goodwill:

Segments
in CHF million

2004

2005

Semiconductor Equipment
Coating Services

203
5

188
5

The change in goodwill is attributable to development in foreign exchange
rates. In 2005, no new goodwill was recognized.
The goodwill impairment test of ESEC and Plasma-Therm is based on
the value in use. To assess the sustained value of these goodwills, the
revised year-end budget and strategy plans approved by management for
the years 2006 through 2008 were examined. As a part of this analysis,
future cash flows were discounted with the pretax weighted average cost
of capital of 18.4 percent. The costs of capital were determined via the
Capital Asset Pricing Model ( CAPM). As a result of this calculation, there
was no need in the 2005 financial year to record any impairment loss (as
was also confirmed through application of sensitivity analyses and very
conservative growth rates of 0 percent to calculate the terminal value).

Other operating income and expenses 1

Note (7)
2004

2005

Licensing, patent and know-how income
Gain from sale of operating real estate
Change in post-employment benefit plan accruals
Rental income from non-operating real estate
Income from sale of non-operating real estate
Income from sale of business activities and financial interests 2
Additional other income

2
6
1
3
1
23
10

1
0
0
4
6
30
16

Other operating income

46

57

Taxes not based on income
Restructuring costs 3
Impairment losses on plant and equipment 3
Expenses from non-operating real estate
Depreciation of non-operating real estate
Additional other expenses

–7
–9
–1
–2
–1
–5

–6
–40
–39
–2
–1
–3

Other operating expenses

–25

–91

Other operating result, net

21

–34

1

In adherence with the IFRS principles, the prior-year items “other operating
income and expenses” and “other result” are now shown collectively in “other
operating result”.

2

Income from the sale of business activities and financial interests consists
mainly of the release of warranty provisions no longer required for Oerlikon
Contraves ( CHF 8 million) as well as other provisions for Bally ( CHF 12 million).
An additional CHF 2 million resulted from the sale of Spinnerei Kunz.

3

The restructuring costs and impairment losses on plant and equipment are
related to the segments as follows:
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in CHF million

Segments
in CHF million

Restructuring
costs
2005

Coating Services
Vacuum Solutions
Data Storage Solutions
Components and Special Systems
Display Technology
Semiconductor Equipment
Total

Impairment
losses
2005

2004

Note (7 ff.)
2004

0
–10
0
0
–4
4

0
1
–4
–3
–16
–18

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
–39
0

–9

–40

0

–39

Expenses included in EBIT
in CHF million

Note (8)
2004

2005

Salaries and wages
Social security and other employee benefits 1

487
113

511
118

Personnel expenses

600

629

Depreciation and amortization of:
– operating property, plant and equipment
– intangible assets (excluding goodwill)
– goodwill 2

89
3
0

97
4
37

Depreciation and amortization of operating asset

93

137

1

Included in the CHF 113 million expense for social security and other
employee benefits is CHF 25 million (2004: CHF 24 million) attributable
to specific post-retirement benefit plans of the individual companies. The
remainder includes the legally required benefit contributions of Group
companies as well as other social security expenses.

2

Additional information can be found in Note 5.

Financial result
in CHF million

1

Note (9)
2004

2005

Interest income
Other financial income 1
Foreign currency gains

5
19
1

4
1
–5

Financial income

25

0

Interest on financial debt
Interest on provisions for post-retirement benefit plans
Value adjustments to financial investments
Other financial expenses

0
–11
–1
–2

–1
–14
0
–1

Financial expenses

–14

–16

Financial result, net

11

–17

The increase in other financial income resulted from the sale
of financial investments.
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Other investments

Note (10)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Pilatus Flugzeugwerke AG, Stans 1
Inficon Holding AG , East Syracuse, USA 2

28
0

19
39

Total

28

58

Change versus previous year

–30

–8

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

0

0

1

The financial interest in Pilatus Flugzeugwerke AG was increased
during the financial year by 3.97 percent to 13.97 percent (previous
year: 10 percent). The valuation has been retained on basis of
historical costs due to the lack of information to assess a fair
value.

2

The financial interest in Inficon Holding AG was sold in October
2005. The related proceeds of CHF 62 million were recorded in
the income statement.

Income taxes

Note (11)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Current income taxes
Deferred taxes

17
4

29
–3

Total

21

26

Analysis of tax expense
in CHF million

2005
Pretax result

Group total (actual)

2004
Pretax result

Tax expense

40

Expected tax expense based on weighted average
expected tax rates: 1
expected tax income
expected tax expense

21

Tax expense

–345

26

–34
31

Difference between actual and anticipated tax expense

–10

60

40

64

–18
0
–1
1

–9
10
–2
0

Tax effect as a result of:
Unrecognized deferred taxes on current-year losses
Use of unrecognized tax loss carryforwards
from previous periods
Loss/correction of recognized tax loss carryforwards
Change in unrecognized negative valuation differences
Impact of changes in tax rates
Taxes for prior periods (incl. credits)
Non-recoverable withholding taxes
Non-deductible expenses
Non-taxable income and expenses

1

Total tax expense in excess of/
below anticipated tax expense

–2
2
3
–38

1
3
–6

–10

60

The largest increase in tax expense of CHF 40 million (2004:
CHF 64 million) was attributable to the partial waiver of recognizing
accrued tax assets on current-year tax losses.
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The lower expense related to the tax effect of non-taxable income
and expenses amounts to a net CHF 38 million. That effect is primarily
attributable to the intercompany restructuring contributions made
in 2005.

1

Calculation of
expected tax expense
in CHF million

2005
Pretax
result

Average
tax rate

Income at company level
Losses at company level

419
–371

Income/loss, net
Consolidation entries not
subject to taxes
Total

2004
Pretax
result

Anticipated
tax expense

17.8%
11.8%

Average
tax rate

Note (11 ff.)

Anticipated
tax expense

75
–44

179
–532

27.5%
15.6%

49
–83

49

31

–353

–34

–9

0

8

0

40

31

–345

–34

The reduction in average tax rates is primarily attributable to the intercompany restructuring contributions made in 2005, which essentially have a
company-level impact on the profits/losses of the affected business units.

Due
within
1 year

Income tax provisions
in CHF million

2005

Total

21

Change versus previous year

–8

Note (12)

beyond
1 year

21

2004

0

28
2

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

0

0

Earnings per share

Note (13)

in CHF million

Net profit/loss
Minority interests
Net profit/loss less minority interests
Earnings per registered share in CHF 1
Diluted earnings per registered share in CHF 1
1

2004

2005

18

–372

2

6

16

–379

1.21
1.21

–27.68
–27.68

Earnings per share of CHF 1.21 has been calculated on the basis of a net
profit of CHF 16 million attributable to equity holders of Unaxis Holding AG
(2004: loss of CHF –379 million) and the average number of outstanding shares
(issued shares less treasury shares). In 2005, the average number of shares
entitled to vote and receive dividends amounted to 13 622 057 (13 676 554).
Fully diluted earnings per share amounts to CHF 1.21. The average number of
shares used in the calculation of fully diluted earnings per share amounted to
13 628 356 (13 678 147). As at December 31, 2005, a total of 14 564 options
were “out of the money” and were therefore not included in the latter calculation (see Note 31: Participation plans).

Weighted average number of outstanding shares

2005

Total shares outstanding at year’s end
Weighted annual average number of shares outstanding
Effect of potential exercise of option rights
Weighted average number of shares outstanding on December 31

2004

14 142 437 14 142 437
13 622 057 13 676 554
6 299
1 593
13 628 356 13 678 147
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Cash and cash equivalents

Note (14)

in CHF million

1

2004

2005

Cash, postal, and bank current accounts
Time deposits

257
66

253
377

Total cash and cash equivalents 1

324

630

Change versus previous year 2

–306

–82

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

–1

0

Due to translation differences

13

–3

CHF 25 million (2004: 35 million) of total cash and cash

equivalents are held in countries in which prior approval
is required to transfer funds abroad. If the Group complies
with these requirements, such funds are at its disposition
within a reasonable period of time.

Cash and cash equivalents are held in the following currencies:
Currency
in CHF million

2004

2005

Others

157
89
32
8
10
6
22

471
52
50
27
12
6
12

Total

324

630

CHF
EUR
USD
TWD
JPY
KRW

The reduction in cash and cash equivalents is essentially due to
the purchase of treasury shares as well as short-term investments.

Securities

Note (15)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Call warrants on Inficon Holding AG , East Syracuse, USA1
Other securities 2
Total
Change versus previous year

1

0
2

106

2

104

0

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

0

0

In October 2005, a total of 11 650 500 call warrants on
Inficon Holding AG were purchased. A second tranche of
3 400 000 warrants was purchased in November 2005.

Warrant
Call warrants on Inficon Holding AG, East Syracuse, USA
2

12
94

Market value
as at December 31, 2005

Strike price

CHF

CHF

CHF

0.82

12 341 410

160.00

Term to
expiration

16. 06. 2006

Other securities are essentially various short-term investments that have been recorded at fair value.
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2

Receivables

Note (16)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Trade accounts receivable
Trade notes receivable
Other receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts

349
18
39
–18

292
20
31
–14

Total

388

329

59

–28

Change versus previous year
Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation
Due to translation differences

0

0

17

–7

No clustered risks to the Group are anticipated from the outstanding
receivables.
Breakdown of receivables by currency:
in CHF million

2005

Others

62
140
128
21
10
7
19

Total

388

CHF
USD
EUR
JPY
KRW
TWD

Inventories
in CHF Mio.

Raw materials and components
Work in progress
Finished goods
Trade merchandise
Advances paid for inventories
Accrued sales under percentage
of completion ( POC) method 1
Total
Change versus previous year

2004

2005
Value
adjustment

Gross value

Note (17)

Value
adjustment

Gross value

Net value

Net value

87
97
82
29
7

–20
–5
–30
–10
0

67
92
52
19
7

108
240
78
38
7

–29
–42
–23
–9
0

79
198
55
29
7

0

0

0

110

0

110

301

–65

237

581

–103

477

–241

123

Of which, due to changes
in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

9

–5
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Revenue is recognized based on the percentage-of-completion ( POC)
method for customer contracts in the Semiconductor Equipment segment
(Display Technology business unit) and Components and Special Systems
segment (Space Technology business unit), which can be summarized
as follows:
in CHF million

Note (17 ff.)

POC revenues recognized

173
–137

178
–255

Gross profit recognized on POC contracts

36

–77

POC costs included in work in progress as at December 31

22

94

137
–53

228
0

84

228

POC expenses recognized

Customer advances received for POC contracts
Offset with POC accrued sales 1
Net amount of customer advances for POC projects 1
The POC accruals as at December 31, 2005, in the amount of
CHF 53 million were offset against customer advances received in
the same amount. The prior-year presentation was not adjusted
because the corresponding calculation at the project-specific level
is not practical.

Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Note (18)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Derivative financial instruments
Other prepaid expenses and accrued income

2
20

14
18

Total

22

32

Change versus previous year

–10

–7

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

1

0

Gains on derivatives which qualify as hedges of future cash flows have
been recognized directly in equity, in accordance with hedge accounting as
per IAS 39 (refer to the consolidated statement of changes in equity).
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1

2004

2005

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2005
Translation differences
Changes in scope of consolidation
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Balance at December 31, 2005

15
1

70
1
–22

Note (19)

Total

2005

Non-operating
real estate

Advances and
facilities under
construction

Developed
land

in CHF million

Production and
administration
buildings

Plant,
equipment
and furniture

Property, plant and equipment

936
40

423
8

33
1

45
–45
43

4
–14
1

–3
1

–45

1 019

422

32

10

43

1 525

655
23

209
2

0

0

46

910
26
–17
89
0
–51
1

39
–5

1 477
51
–22
88
–67
0

Accumulated amortization
and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2005
Translation differences
Changes in scope of consolidation
Amortization
Impairment losses
Disposals
Transfers

77

11

–17
1

–42
1

–6

–3

Balance at December 31, 2005

714

216

0

0

28

958

Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2004
Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2005

281
304

214
206

33
32

14
9

24
15

566
567

1 030

1
552

6

66
50

Of which, assets held under finance leases
Insured values in the event of fire
Estimated fair value

1
1 654

These PP&E assets are not encumbered with third-party liens.
Open purchase commitments for property, plant and equipment at the end
of 2005 amounted to CHF 2 million (2004: CHF 3 million).
As a part of the yearly assessment, the depreciation period for machines
at the Coating Services business unit was increased from 7 to 10 years
because the anticipated useful life of those machines is higher than previously estimated. This change has the following positive effects on the calculation of results for the years 2005 through 2010, and negative effects
for the years 2011 through 2015:
in CHF million

2005

2006

2

2007

6

2008

4

2009

3

2010

1

2011

0

2012

–1

96

2013

–5

2014

–5

2015

–4

–2

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2004
Translation differences
Changes in scope of consolidation
Additions
Disposals
Transfers

79
–59
41

Total

2004

Non-operating
real estate

42
–1

69
–1

6
–7
22

0

43
0
–70

–4
6

1 444
–24
0
128
–70
–1

936

423

33

15

70

1477

611
–12

200
–2

0

0

42

83
29
–56

13
9
–7
–5

–2
5

853
–14
0
97
39
–65
0

Balance at December 31, 2004

655

209

0

0

46

910

Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2003
Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2004

281
281

206
214

35
33

42
14

27
24

591
566

Of which, assets held under finance leases
Insured values in the event of fire
Estimated fair value

928

1
538

2

142
48

Accumulated amortization
and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2004
Translation differences
Changes in scope of consolidation
Amortization
Impairment losses
Disposals
Transfers

406
–5

Advances and
facilities under
construction

35
–1

Balance at December 31, 2004

892
–17

Developed
land

in CHF million

Production and
administration
buildings

Plant,
equipment
and furniture

Property, plant and equipment

1

Note (19 ff.)

1
1 610

The Display Technology business unit (Semiconductor Equipment
segment) realized significant losses in the 2004 financial year, this because the technical complexity of new product generations led to
cost overruns that could not be passed on to customers. As a result of
this fundamental situation, the former Board of Directors of Unaxis
decided in November 2004 to restructure the Display Technology business unit.
During preparation of the annual financial statements, an examination
was made as to what extent the book value of fixed assets at the Display
Technology business unit would be supported by anticipated future cash
flows.
The cash generating unit is the business unit. Future cash flows were
discounted at an average capital cost rate of 12 percent (after tax). The
capital costs were determined through use of the Capital Asset Pricing
Model ( CAPM). Based on this calculation, the following additional impairment losses were identified and booked on December 31, 2004:

Plant, equipment and furniture
Production and administration buildings
Purchased software

29
9
1 (see Note 20)

Total

39
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in CHF million

Intangible assets
in CHF million

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2005
Translation differences, net
Changes in scope of consolidation
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Balance at December 31, 2005
Accumulated amortization
and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2005
Changes in scope of consolidation
Amortization
Impairment losses
Disposals
Transfers

Purchased
goodwill
of Group
companies

Purchased

Software

739
15

32

Note (20)

2005
Total

1

772
15
0
2
–2
–545

–545

2
–2
1

208

32

2

242

545

27

1

573
0
3
0
–2
–545

3
–2
–545

Balance at December 31, 2005
Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2004
Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2005

Other
intangible
assets

0

28

1

28

193
208

5
4

1
0

199
214

Of the total reported goodwill of CHF 208 million (2004: 193 million), CHF 203 million
( CHF 188 million) relate to the Semiconductor Equipment segment and CHF 5 million
( CHF 5 million) to the Coating Services segment. The increase in goodwill is attributable
to developments in foreign exchange rates.
There exist no intangible assets with indefinite life.
Information on the goodwill impairment test is included in Note 6.
IFRS 3 requires that accumulated amortization of goodwill be offset against the

book value of goodwill. This adjustment is reflected in the line item transfers under
purchased goodwill of Group companies.
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in CHF million

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2004
Translation differences, net
Changes in scope of consolidation
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Balance at December 31, 2004
Accumulated amortization
and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2004
Changes in scope of consolidation
Amortization 1
Impairment losses 2
Disposals
Transfers

Purchased
Other
intangible
assets

Software

Note (20 ff.)

2004
Total

639
–9

31

4

674
–9
0
112
–5
1

109

3
–2
1

–3

739

32

1

773

359

25

3

37
150

4
1
–2

–3

388
0
41
151
–5
0

Balance at December 31, 2004

545

27

1

574

Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2004

193

5

1

199

1

For amortization of goodwill, see comments in Note 5.

2

For impairment losses on goodwill, see Note 6.
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Intangible assets

Purchased
goodwill
of Group
companies

Post-retirement benefit assets

Note (21)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Total

29

27

Change versus previous year

2

–3

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

3

–2

Detailed information on the post-retirement benefit plans can be found
in Note 22.

Due
within
1 year

Post-employment benefit provisions
in CHF million

2005

Total

262

Note (22)

beyond
1 year

13

2004

249

257

Change versus previous year

5

1

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

4

–3

Post-employment benefit provisions are related to the following plans:
Summary of post-retirement
benefit plans

Defined
benefit

2005
Total

Defined
contribution

2004
Total

Defined
benefit

Defined
contribution

Number of plans

Funded plans
Unfunded plans

23
11

12
8

11
3

22
10

11
7

11
3

6 014
2 161

4 799
2 156

1 349
5

6 494
2 093

5 199
2 088

1 320
5

25

22

3

24

21

3

Number of insured members

Active members
Retirees
in CHF million

Post-retirement benefit plan expense
(operational)
Post-retirement benefit plan expense
(financial)
Total post-retirement benefit plan
expense

11

11

0

14

14

0

36

33

3

37

35

3

Post-employment benefit provisions
Post-employment benefit assets

262
29

261
29

2
0

257
27

255
27

1
0

100

Defined benefit plans
in CHF million

Plans
Funded

2005
Total

2004
Total

Unfunded

Note (22 ff.)

Plans
Funded

Unfunded

Plan assets at market values
Present benefit obligation ( PBO )

508
–781

508
–501

0
–280

481
–748

481
–508

0
–240

Assets in excess of/below PBO

–273

7

–280

–267

–27

–240

Post-employment benefit provisions
Post-employment benefit assets

261
–29

11
–29

250
0

255
–27

9
–27

246
0

Unrecognized gains/losses

–42

–11

–31

–39

–45

6

–51
9

–20
9

–31
0

–39
0

–45
0

6
0

Of which:

Actuarial gains/losses
Past service costs

Post-employment benefit cost from defined benefit plans
in CHF million

2004

2005

Current service cost after deduction of employee contributions
+ interest cost of post-employment benefit obligations
+ expected return on plan assets
+ effect of past service costs
+ amortization of actuarial losses
+ gains/losses from plan reductions and payments in lieu

22
28
–22
–1
6
–1

22
32
–22
0
2
0

Total

33

35

Actual return on plan assets

41

11

0
2

0
3

Assets:
Value of fixed assets used by Group companies
Receivables from Group companies
Particularly due to very good returns on plan assets (89 percent above
expectation) the non-recorded undercoverage of funded defined benefit
plans was reduced by CHF 34 million to CHF 11 million. Due to adjustments
in the related assumptions (discount rate and the return on plan assets), the
unfunded German plans witnessed a CHF 37 million deterioration, which led
to non-recorded undercoverage of CHF 31 million.
The amortization of actuarial losses amounting to CHF 6 million (2004:
CHF 2 million) relates to plans that exceed the 10 percent corridor (release
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over 8 years).

Note (22 ff.)

Net pension liability for defined benefit plans
in CHF million

2004

2005

Post-employment benefit provisions
Post-employment benefit assets

261
–29

255
–27

Net pension liability

231

228

Development of net pension liability
Balance at January 1
Translation differences
Changes in scope of consolidation
Post-employment benefit expense for the period
Company contributions (payments to post-retirement benefit plans)
Transfers

228
1
0
33
–31
–1

226
–1
0
35
–30
–1

Balance at December 31

231

228

Actuarial assumptions
in percent

2004

2005

Discount rate
Expected salary increase
Expected pension increase
Expected return on plan assets

3.7
2.1
0.9
4.6

3.8
2.0
0.6
4.6

Deferred tax assets

Note (23)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Total

68

61

Change versus previous year

7

–15

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

5

–3

182

207

1

2

Unrecognized deferred tax assets resulting from tax loss carryforwards
of CHF 1 013 million (previous year: CHF 998 million)
Unrecognized deferred tax assets resulting from taxable differences
of CHF 5 million (previous year: CHF 13 million)
The composition of deferred tax assets is reflected in Note 24.
Reference is also made to the comments in Note 11.

The ability to offset tax loss carryforwards is limited as follows:

in CHF Mio.

Tax loss carryforwards
not considered as deferred
tax assets

Total tax loss
carryforwards

1 year

1

1

2 years

24

24

3 years

119

119

4 years

287

287

5 years

128

128

beyond 5 years

454

555

1 013

1 114

Total

102

Deferred tax provisions

Note (24)

in CHF million

Total

27

27

Change versus previous year

0

–15

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

0

0

Composition of deferred taxes
(including deferred tax assets;
see Note 13)
in CHF million

2005
Total
taxable
differences

Deferred tax
assets

2004
Total
taxable
differences

liabilities

Deferred tax
assets

liabilities

Cash, cash equivalents and securities
Trade accounts receivable
Other receivables and accruals
Inventories
Post-employment benefit assets
Financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

9
–1
4
2
29
16
63
–20

0
2
0
4
0
4
7
3

1
1
1
3
10
4
33
0

0
1
13
–6
27
13
68
–36

0
1
0
5
0
1
10
6

0
1
4
2
9
4
36
0

Assets

120

20

54

81

23

56

Trade accounts payable
Other current and long-term liabilities
Financial debt
Provisions

1
–16
–9
–66

0
9
4
30

0
3
0
1

–1
–37
–10
–53

0
11
4
30

0
2
0
2

Liabilities

–91

42

5

–101

45

4

11
0
11

62
–15
47

59
–15
44

–19
0
–19

68
–16
52

60
–16
44

5
0

–1
39
–17

0
0
–17

13
–72
0

–2
28
–18

0
0
–18

n/a

68

27

n/a

61

27

–2

–1

1

50

0

6

Subtotal
Netting within each Group company

Of which, unrecognized deferred
tax assets
Tax loss carryforwards recognized 1
Offset for tax entities
Total (net)
Of which, deferred taxes recognized
directly in equity

Total valuation differences due to recognized loss carryforwards in 2005:
CHF – 101 million (2004: CHF – 72 million)
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1

2004

2005

Payables

Note (25)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Trade accounts payable
Trade notes payable
Other payables
Total
Change versus previous year

92
3
35

100
3
33

130

136

–6

7

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

4

–3

Breakdown of payables by currency:
in CHF million

2005

42
18
49
7
13

CHF
USD
EUR
JPY

Others
Total

130

Accrued liabilities

Note (26)

in CHF million

2004

2005

Derivative financial instruments
Accrued personnel costs
Accrued cost of sales
Other accrued liabilities
Total
Change versus previous year

9
70
39
70

2
79
36
72

188

189

–1

1

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

6

–2

Losses on derivatives which qualify as hedges of future cash flows have
been recognized directly in equity, in accordance with hedge accounting as
per IAS 39 (refer to the consolidated statement of changes in equity).
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Due
within
1 year

Customer advances
in CHF million

2005

Total

90

Change versus previous year

1 to
5 years

56

Note (27)

beyond
5 years

34

Secured

0

2004

0

246

–156

113

Of which, due to changes in scope
of consolitation

0

0

Due to translation differences

2

–1

The customer advances are distributed
among the business units as follows:
Coating Services
Vacuum Solutions
Data Storage Solutions
Components and Special Systems
Display Technology
Semiconductor Equipment
Others

1
2
0
52
32
3
0

1
2
1
57
177
8
0

Total

90

246

In the financial year 2005, customer advances received at the project
level have been offset against POC revenue accruals. This reclassification
amounted to CHF 53 million as at December 31, 2005. The prior-year
period was not adjusted because calculation at the project-specific level
is practical. Hence the prior-year figures reflect the gross amounts
recorded (see Note 17).

in CHF million

2005

Bank current accounts
Loans payable
Financial lease obligations 1
Total financial debt 2
Less cash and cash equivalents

1

1 to
5 years

Note (28)

beyond
5 years

Secured

2004

1
2
1

1
0
0

2
0

0
1

0
0
1

2
2
1

3
–324

1

2

1

1

5
–630

Net liquidity

320

625

Change versus previous year 3

–305

–57

Of which, due to changes in scope
of consolidation

–8

0

Due to translation differences

13

–3

Future financial lease payments
(see note 21)
of which, financial costs

1
0

2

85 percent of the total financial debt is denominated in euros,
7 percent in US dollars, and 8 percent in Taiwanese dollars.
100 percent of the financial debt is owed to banks. 36 percent
is subject to floating interest rates. As an average taken
over all currencies, financial debts resulted in interest charges
of 2.1 percent (2004: 2.4 percent).

3

The decrese in net liquidity is essentially attributable to the
purchase of treasury shares.

0
0

0
0
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Due
within
1 year

Financial debt/net liquidity

Due
within
1 year

Other provisions
in CHF million

2005

Total

215

Change versus previous year

Note (29)

beyond
1 year

2004

133

82

302

–87

115

Of which, due to changes in scope of consolidation

0

0

Due to translation differences

2

–2

in CHF million

Balance at January 1, 2005
Translation differences
Changes in scope of consolidation
Additions
Utilization
Reversal
Transfers 3
Balance at December 31, 2005

Product
warranties

Product
liability

34
1

4

24
–10
–7
3

Long-term
employee
benefits

Onerous
contracts 2

–1

Restructuring

Other
provisions 1

123

19

38

83

52
–25
–16
82

7
–5
–1

16
–13
–9

14
–11
–25

2005
Total

302
2
0
112
–64
–59
–79

45

4

53

20

32

61

215

42
3

3

49
4

3
17

20
13

20
41

133
82

Of which:

Due within 1 year
Due beyond 1 year
1

In the previous year, a differentiation was made between EBIT -related and
non- EBIT -related provisions. Due to the regroupings made in the income statement, the non- EBIT -related provisions under the item “Other provisions”
were reclassified. This change was applied retroactively to December 31, 2004.
As a result, the opening balance for this item on January 1, 2005, increased
accordingly by CHF 61 million to CHF 83 million. The item reflects all other
provisions, including those that were established to cover identifiable risks
from the divestiture of subsidiaries in recent years and were presented until
December 31, 2004, as non- EBIT -related provisions.
The reversal of other provisions in the amount of CHF 25 million was attributable to warranty provisions no longer needed from the divestitures of Bally
( CHF 12 million) and Oerlikon Contraves ( CHF 8 million) as a result of the
elimination of binding obligations.

2

Provisions for onerous contracts are attributable to the following business
units:

in CHF million

Balance at
01.01. 2005

Additions

Utilization

Transfers

Balance at
31.12. 2005

Display Technology
Data Storage Solutions
Assembly & Packaging
Space Technology
Coating Services

112
4
2
3
1

48
0
0
4
0

–18
–4
0
–2
0

–13
0
–2
–1
0

–82
0
0
0
0

47
0
0
4
1

Total

123

52

–25

–16

–82

53

During preparation of the financial statements, a systematic
reassessment of the project risks was conducted and appropriate
changes made to the cost estimates for the projects in the
individual business units. The basis for such was the so-called
“most likely outcome”. That requires estimates to be made with
regard to the technical and time-related realization of those
projects, and also includes a quantification of the relevant risks.
3

Reversals

A total of CHF 94.4 million of the provisions recorded in 2004 for
onerous contracts at the Display Technology business unit due
to technological risks have been reduced because appropriate
agreements have been reached with the customers concerned.
Of that total, only CHF 12.8 million has a positive effect on EBIT ,
CHF 71 million were allocated to the writedown of work in progress,
and CHF 10.6 million were allocated to warranty provisions or
allowance for doubtful accounts.
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Financial instruments
in CHF million

2005
Notional
amounts

Fair value
positive

2004
Notional
amounts

negative

Note (30)

Fair value
positive

negative

Currency derivatives
Interest-rate derivatives

445
50

2
0

9
0

391
50

14
0

2
0

Total

495

2

9

441

14

2

Based on the business activities, the following main currencies are
hedged: US dollar (57 percent), Euro (26 percent) and Japanese yen
(10 percent). Positive and negative changes in fair values of currency
derivatives (see Notes 18 and 26) are offset by the corresponding
gain or loss on the underlying hedged transactions. The maximum
risk of counterparty non-performance is equal to the positive fair
value. In view of the credit rating of the counterparties, this risk is
deemed to be negligible.
Of the reported net CHF –7 million in fair value, CHF –3 million
was recorded directly in equity with no effect on net income, and
CHF –4 million was recorded on the income statement.
Maturity of open foreign exchange forward contracts as at December 31:
2004
Contract amounts
in CHF million in %

2005
Contract amounts
in CHF million in %

Up to 3 months
3 to 12 months
Beyond 12 months

254
177
14

57.0
39.7
3.1

211
165
15

54.1
42.2
3.7

The interest-rate derivative instrument is a “reverse collar”, i.e. a “floor”
of 0.65 percent was purchased simultaneously with the sale of a “cap” at
1.50 percent. The reference rate is the 3-month CHF Libor. The derivative
position expires on April 5, 2006. As long as the reference rate remains
beneath 0.65 percent, a corresponding minimum return is guaranteed. Between the floor and the cap, the position remains neutral. If the reference
rate were to rise above 1.50 percent, compensating payments must be
made.
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The values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables,
loan balances and short-term financial debt approximate fair values. The
risk of interest rate changes on financial debt can be assessed from
the information in note 28.

Unaxis participation plans

Note (31)

The following plans are in existence, pursuant to which the holder is
entitled to purchase one share of Unaxis Holding AG for each option he
or she owns:
– Since 1998, members of the Board of Directors of Unaxis Holding AG
receive a portion of their compensation by means of a stock option plan
(exercise period: 3 to 4 years). Since 2004, Board members may opt to
take a part or all of their compensation in the form of shares. Such shares
are subject to a blocking period of 2 years. Members of the Board have a
choice as to the type of compensation they receive (cash or equity settlement).
– As a long-term bonus, members of the Executive Board and senior
management may receive a portion of their compensation in the form of
options on Unaxis Holding AG shares (exercise period: 4 or 7 years). For
personnel who are still under the employ of the Company, shares acquired
through the exercise of options are restricted as to sale for a predetermined period of 2, 3 or 4 years.
– The Board of Directors may grant options to employees at any organizational level pursuant to the “Discretionary Option Plan”, this with
the aim of recognizing outstanding performance as well as strengthening
the given employee’s bond with Unaxis.
The transitional provisions of IFRS 2 require the retroactive application
of all compensation granted subsequent to November 7, 2002, that had
not yet vested by December 31, 2004, as well as for all cash compensation that remained unpaid as at December 31, 2004. For the options
plans, a related liability in the amount of CHF 1.3 million has been recorded as at December 31, 2005 (2004: CHF 0.6 million). The income statement for the period under review has been charged with CHF 2.1 million
( CHF 0.6 million)
As at December 31, 2005, the following outstanding options had been
issued under these plans:

Board of Directors

Allotment

Options
outstanding
at Jan. 1

2001

9 118

2002

11 246

2003

18 526

2004

20 807

Total

59 697

Additions
in 2005

Exercised
in 2005

Expired
in 2005 1, 2

Modifications
in 2005

Options
outstanding
at Dec. 31

–9 118

Exercise
price
in CHF

Exercise period
from
to

0

400

05.29.04

05.30.05

–10 102

1 144

225

05.13.04

05.12.06

–18 526

0

123

05.23.05

05.22.07

20 807

150

06.06.06

06.03.08

–28 628

–9 118

21 951

In addition to these options, a total of 5 671 shares of Unaxis Holding AG
was allotted on June 4, 2004, to the six members of the Board of Directors.
The shares were restricted as to sale until June 5, 2006.
For those options exercised in the 2005 financial year, the weighted
average share price upon exercise amounted to CHF 177.5.
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Employees

Allotment

2001

2002

2003

2004

Total

Note (31 ff.)
Options
outstanding
at Jan. 1

Additions
in 2005

Exercised
in 2005

5 538
5 315
0
0
634
5 328
0
0
634

–5 538
–357
–277

7 226
12 732
0
0
818
12 758
0
0
818

–4 449

29 982
0
0
30 013
0
0
0

–21 811
–779
–3 755

–18 543
–2 900

–100 318

–1 188
277
911

Exercise
price
in CHF

Exercise period
from
to

0
3 770
0
911
634
3 783
0
911
634

400
315
315
315
315
315
315
315
315

05.29.2004
05.29.2003
04.01.2005
04.01.2005
01.01.2004
05.29.2004
04.01.2005
04.01.2005
01.01.2004

05.30.2005
05.28.2008
12.31.2005
03.31.2006
12.31.2006
05.28.2008
12.31.2005
03.31.2006
12.31.2006

2 777
9 079
444
1 853
818
9 103
444
1 853
818

225
189.5
189.5
189.5
189.5
189.5
189.5
189.5
189.5

05.13.2004
05.14.2004
04.01.2005
04.01.2005
01.01.2004
05.14.2005
04.01.2005
04.01.2005
01.01.2004

05.12.2006
05.13.2009
03.31.2006
03.31.2006
12.31.2006
05.13.2009
03.31.2006
03.31.2006
12.31.2006

–1 188
277
911

–1 356

–2 297
444
1 853

–1 358

–2 297
444
1 853

–3 316

–4 534
779
3 755
–26 694
779
3 755
22 160

321
0
0
0
0
0
0

110
110
110
110
110
110
110

05.24.2005
04.01.2005
04.01.2005
05.24.2006
04.01.2005
04.01.2005
05.24.2005

05.23.2010
12.31.2005
03.31.2006
05.23.2010
12.31.2005
03.31.2006
06.27.2005

–21
18
2
–21
18
2

0
0
0
0
0
0
380
380

141
141
141
141
141
141
176
176

06.05.2006
05.24.2005
04.01.2005
06.05.2007
05.24.2005
04.01.2005
01.07.2006
01.07.2007

06.04.2011
06.27.2005
03.31.2006
06.04.2011
06.27.2005
03.31.2006
01.07.2011
01.07.2011

–3 319

–18 522
–2 900

Options
outstanding
at Dec. 31

–357
–277

–779
–3 755
–22 125

24 058
0
0
24 082
0
0
380
380
160 696

Modifications
in 2005

Expired
in 2005 1, 2

–35
–2 596
–40
–2 597
–42

462
562
900
485
585
900

–21 465

38 913

Members of the Executive Board were granted a total of 11 000 Unaxis
shares in the 2005 financial year at a price of CHF 197.90. Said shares are
not restricted. No options were granted to those individuals in the financial
year 2005.
The employee options plan entitles the beneficiary to acquire shares (equity
settlement). Applicable in this regard are the same transitional provisions
of IFRS 2 as indicated above. The expense booked in 2005 amounted to
CHF 2.1 million (2004: CHF 1.2 million), with a charge to equity.
For those options exercised in the 2005 financial year, the weighted average
share price upon exercise amounted to CHF 178.61.
1

The options granted to employees in 2001 at an exercise price of
CHF 400 expired out-of the money in May of 2005.

2

The options granted in the years 2001 through 2004 expired in 2005
for the following reasons:
– Resignation of members (as per related rules)
– Expiration of options with reduced exercise period
Due to developments in the shareholder base and in accordance
with the rules governing Unaxis’ participation plans, the former
Board of Directors decided on May 24, 2005, that all outstanding
and previously blocked options were to be unblocked and become
exercisable until June 27, 2005. As a result of the unblocking and
shortened exercise period, the following options were exercised:
Exercise
price

Outstanding options
as at January 2005

110
141

Exercise due to early
unblocking

59 995
48 140

–22 125
–37 065
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3

With the same decision, the previous Board of Directors freed the shares
held by employees from the two-year blocking period.
The participation plans of the Board of Directors (stock option plan and
share purchase plan) were not adapted.
The modifications reflect the adjustments of exercise periods in response
to contractual arrangements and the above-mentioned change in the
shareholder structure. The Black Scholes model was used to arrive at a
revaluation of the modifications. It resulted in no higher fair value and
thus did not result in the need to record additional expense.
The potential obligation to issue shares to cover the exercise of outstanding options is covered exclusively through the purchase of Unaxis shares
in the open market. Since 2004, the social security contributions related
to options are chargeable only as of the exercise date, this in contrast to
the previous ruling under which personnel expense was charged upon
issuance. The social security expenses recorded in the 2005 financial year
as the result of the exercise of options amounts to CHF 0.3 million.
In addition, a share purchase plan exists for members of management
and the employees of the Group. Under the plan, employees were entitled
in June 2005 to acquire shares of Unaxis Holding AG at preferential conditions (a discount of 30 percent from the allotment price of CHF 170.00).
69 employees took advantage of that offer and subscribed to 3 414 shares
with a total value of CHF 580 380. The reduction in the subscription price
amounted to CHF 174 114 and was booked as personnel expenses.

Contingent liabilities
in CHF million

Note (32)

2004

2005

Performance guarantees/guarantees of debt
Pledged assets
Discounted notes receivable

2
0
3

2
0
2

Total

6

4

Payments under non-cancelable leases

Note (33)

in CHF million

Due
Due
Due
Due
Due

in
in
in
in
in

2004

2005

1st year
2nd year
3rd year
4th year
or beyond 5th year

Total
These amounts primarily relate to rental contracts for buildings. The largest
amounts pertain to the facilities in Cham (the former ESEC companies) with
a total of CHF 15 million, Unaxis Deutschland Holding GmbH with CHF 7 million, Nihon Balzers Co. Limited, Japan, with CHF 9 million, as well as those
of Balzers Inc., USA, with an amount of CHF 19 million.
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19
16
12
10
33

15
13
10
8
23

90

68

Related party transactions

Note (34)

The share capital of Unaxis Holding AG consists of 14 142 437 shares.
As at December 31, 2005, the following significant shareholder is reflected
in the share register:

Shareholder

Victory Industriebeteiligung AG , Vienna, Austria 2
1

Share ownership as per
mandatory disclosure
Number of shares As % of total 1

6 101 400

43.14

Voting rights as per share
register
Number of shares As % of total 1

6 572 499

46.47

Basis: 14 142 437 outstanding shares

2

Beneficial ownership as at December 31, 2005:
– 33% M.U.ST. Privatstiftung, Tokiostrasse 11/3/36, 1220 Vienna, Austria
– 33% RPR Privatstiftung, Herrengasse 2–4, 1010 Vienna, Austria
– 33% Millennium Privatstiftung, Praterstrasse 62–64, 1020 Vienna, Austria
Since January 27, 2006, the ownership circumstances at
Victory Industriebeteiligung AG , Vienna, are as follows:
– 50% RPR Privatstiftung, Herrengasse 2–4, 1010 Vienna, Austria
– 50% Millennium Privatstiftung, Praterstrasse 62–64, 1020 Vienna, Austria

Compensation of Board members
In a normal year, members of the Board of Directors receive compensation
in roughly equal portions of cash and options and/or shares.
In the 2005 financial year, the total compensation paid to members
of the Board of Directors (excluding employer contributions to social security) amounted to CHF 1.2 million (2004: CHF 0.3 plus 20 807 options
and 5 671 shares). The Board members were granted no options or shares
in the financial year 2005.

Members of the Executive Board
The compensation paid to members of the Executive Board consists of
a fixed base salary and a variable component. In addition, the members of
the Executive Board receive shares and/or options in the sense of a
long-term bonus.
Total compensation (including all employer pension fund contributions,
but excluding employer social security contributions) paid in the 2005
financial year to members of the Executive Board amounted to CHF 4.2 million (2004: 2.9 million plus the allotment of a total of 10 814 options on
Unaxis shares), of which CHF 2.3 million was in the form of base salary,
CHF 1.1 million as bonus, CHF 0.5 million as pension fund contributions,
and CHF 0.3 million as expense reimbursements.
Executive Board members were also granted a total of 11 000 shares of
Unaxis shares valued at CHF 2.2 million, but no options.

Compensation for former members of governing bodies
In the 2005 financial year, CHF 2.2 million was paid to former members
of the Executive Board as severance compensation (2004: CHF 0.3 million),
of which CHF 0.7 million was in the form of base salary, CHF 0.8 million
as a bonus, CHF 0.1 million as pension fund contributions, and CHF 0.6 million as expense/miscellaneous reimbursements.
No severance payments were made to former Board members.

Group and associated companies
An overview of the Group subsidiary companies can be found on page 125.
Transactions between the parent company and its subsidiaries as well as
between the Group companies have been eliminated in the consolidated
annual financial statements.
Participation plans: see Note 31.
During the year under review, there were no other related party transactions.

Events after the balance sheet date

Note (35)
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No events occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date that would have
a significant influence on the ability to assess these financial statements.

Segment information 2005–2004

in CHF million

Coating Services
2005
2004

Orders received

392

367

390

365

122

170

Orders on hand

0

0

45

36

11

12

392
0
392

367
0
367

383
4
387

379
10
389

124
2
126

208
4
213

74
228
89
1
392

59
233
74
0
367

93
205
83
2
383

96
200
82
2
379

87
11
22
4
124

159
30
18
1
208

53
246
57
37
392

40
247
55
25
367

78
234
71
0
383

71
239
70
0
379

26
76
22
0
124

55
135
19
0
208

11
25
11
14
62

19
31
5
13
67

2
6
0
0
8

6
11
1
0
18

0
1
0
0
1

0
3
0
0
3

362
1 361
316
319
2 358

312
1 301
304
255
2 172

203
1 189
82
5
1 479

183
1 220
110
0
1 513

63
284
14
0
360

80
345
17
0
442

Liabilities (only third-party)
Net assets (only third-party) 1

72
207
37
51
366
85
281

57
205
27
26
314
77
237

41
129
21
0
191
260
–69

36
131
27
0
194
234
–40

8
71
4
0
83
26
57

8
110
5
0
122
44
78

Assets including intercompany relationships
Liabilities including intercompany relationships
Net assets including intercompany relationships 1

366
86
280

314
78
236

194
261
–67

197
235
–38

83
26
57

123
44
79

Research and development expenses

15

15

31

31

12

16

EBIT

47

57

–5

6

–13

10

Sales
Sales to third parties
Intercompany sales

Sales by market region
Japan and Asia/Pacific
Europe
North America
Other regions

Sales by location
Japan and Asia/Pacific
Europe
North America
Other regions

Investments in fixed and intangible assets
Japan and Asia/Pacific
Europe
North America
Other regions

Number of employees
Japan and Asia/Pacific
Europe
North America
Other regions

Assets (only third-party)
Japan and Asia/Pacific
Europe
North America
Other regions

1

Data Storage
Solutions
2005
2004

Vacuum Solutions
2005
2004

Net assets include all operating current and non-current assets
(excluding cash and cash equivalents and financial assets), less
operating liabilities (excluding financial debts and provisions
for taxes).
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Solar/
Display Technology
2005
2004

Semiconductor
Equipment
2005
2004

Others
2005

Elimination
2005

2004

Total
2005

2004

2004

209

309

–37

129

379

437

0

0

1 455

1 778

179

184

28

176

92

85

0

0

355

494

217
0
217

328
0
329

111
0
112

105
4
109

378
0
383

462
6
468

0
0
0

0
0
0

1 605
0
1 605

1 850
0
1 850

56
99
62
0
217

95
139
94
0
328

82
21
9
0
111

100
6
0
0
105

219
94
64
1
378

309
93
58
3
462

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

611
657
329
8
1 605

817
701
327
6
1 850

8
145
64
0
217

23
175
130
0
328

12
91
9
0
111

13
93
0
0
105

110
190
78
0
378

170
205
87
0
462

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

286
982
301
37
1 605

372
1 093
360
25
1 850

2
7
1
0
10

2
11
3
0
16

0
2
0
0
2

1
9
0
0
10

1
4
3
0
8

0
114
3
0
118

0
0
0
0
0

0
8
0
0
8

17
44
15
14
91

28
188
12
13
240

130
555
72
0
757

132
633
110
0
875

69
245
0
0
314

156
373
0
0
529

291
665
143
0
1 099

237
822
179
0
1 238

0
63
3
0
66

0
71
3
0
74

1 118
4 362
630
324
6 434

1 101
4 765
723
255
6 844

18
107
18
0
142
130
12

19
117
24
0
160
146
14

4
27
0
0
32
136
–104

11
227
0
0
238
357
–120

34
305
170
0
510
104
406

28
277
149
0
454
101
353

0
99
22
0
121
135
–14

0
108
22
0
129
164
–35

177
945
271
51
1 441
877
567

159
1 175
253
26
1 612
1 123
488

142
131
11

160
146
14

31
136
–105

238
357
–119

511
105
407

454
102
353

123
138
–15

131
167
–36

1 444
877
567

1 612
1 123
488

9

11

13

38

69

69

0

0

148

180

12

42

–44

–296

–32

–173

1

24

–34

–329

113

–11
–11

–6
–6
0

0

–24
–24

–5
–5
0

0
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Components and
Special Systems
2005
2004

Country

Production
Distribution
R&D
Service

Companies by country

Name, registered office

Austria

■ ■

Balzers GmbH, Kapfenberg

EUR 350

Belgium

■ ■

SA Balzers NV , St. Truiden

EUR 620

Brazil

■ ■

Balzers Balinit do Brasil Ltda., Jundiaí SP

China

■ ■

Unaxis (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai

■ ■
■ ■

■

France

■

42 Cai, Jane

CNY 41 026

99.5

75 Ng, Damian

Leybold Vacuum (Tianjin) Int. Trade Co. Ltd., Tianjin

CNY 1 656

99.5

40 Ng, Damian

Unaxis France Holding SAS, St. Thibault des Vignes

EUR 4 000

100

0 Babacan, Thomas

EUR 762

100

27 Babacan, Thomas

100

99.5

8 Babacan, Thomas
35 Babacan, Thomas

Unaxis Deutschland Holding GmbH,
Aschheim (Munich)
Unaxis Deutschland Vertriebs GmbH,
Aschheim (Munich)

■ ■ ■

Unaxis Optics Deutschland GmbH, Geisenheim

■ ■

Balzers Verschleißschutz GmbH, Bingen

EUR 26

99.5

EUR 5 150

99.5

52 Grafe, Volker

EUR 511

99.5

353 Brändle, Hans

BuL Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Cologne

EUR 50

99.5

■

BuL Vermietungs-Verwaltungs GmbH, Cologne

EUR 25

99.5

0 Babacan, Thomas

EUR 100

99.5

56 Grossmann, Frank

Leybold Vacuum Dresden GmbH, Dresden
Leybold Vacuum GmbH, Cologne

■

perfectit! GmbH, Cologne
Unaxis IT ( UK ) Ltd., Monmouth
Balzers Ltd., Milton Keynes

EUR 1 200

99.5

EUR 25

99.5

GBP 1

100

GBP 2 000

100

■

Leybold Vacuum UK Ltd., London

GBP 300

■ ■

Balzers (India) Ltd., Bhosari/Pune

INR 70 000

■

Leybold Vacuum India Pvt. Ltd., Bhosari/Pune

■

Unaxis Italia (Branch), Arluno/Milan

INR

Balzers SpA, Brugherio/Milan

99.5
100
99.5

EUR 0

100

EUR 130

100

■

Leybold Vacuum Italia SpA, Milan

■ ■

Unaxis Japan Co. Ltd., Tokyo

JPY 450

100

Nihon Balzers Co. Ltd., Hiratsuka

JPY 100

100

Liechtenstein

■ ■ ■ ■

Luxembourg

■ ■

■

■
■ ■

224 Ronchetti, René
188 Schäfer, Ingo

■

■

1

100

EUR 30 682

■

■ ■

Poland

CNY 33 107

Leybold Vacuum Equipment Manufacturing Co. Ltd.,
Tianjin

99.5

■ ■

Philippines

Balzers Coating (Suzhou) Co. Ltd., Suzhou

144 Campos, Walter
178 Loh, Benjamin

EUR 3 095

■ ■

The Netherlands

99
100

EUR 7 108

■

Mexico

BRL 31 430

42 Zechner, Johann
50 Boghe, Willy

Leybold Vacuum France SA , Courtabœuf Cedex

■ ■ ■

Malaysia

99.5

Balzers SAS, St. Thibault des Vignes

■ ■

Japan

100

Firmenleiter

■ ■ ■

■

Italy

Number of
employees

■ ■

Germany

India

Group
owns %

CNY 99 321.334

Unaxis France SA , Palaiseau

■ ■

Great Britain

Share capital in
local currency 1

EUR 1 041

Leybold Vacuum Japan Co. Ltd., Yokohama

JPY 450

Unaxis Balzers AG, Balzers
Balzers AG, Balzers
Balzers Luxembourg Sarl, Differdange
Unaxis Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Branch), Penang
Balzers SA de CV ., Querétaro

99.5

99.5

CHF 30 000

100

6 Babacan, Thomas

839 Mattern-Klossen, Monika
57 Haupt, Reiner
4 Hämmerli, Abraham
63 Stockley, Peter J.
23 Ball, Chris
101 Keskar, Ramesh V.
5 Keskar, Ramesh V.
2 Babacan, Thomas
98 Gullo, Giancarlo
13 Barni, Emanuela
40 Fujii, Hirohide
107 Schmalz, Andreas
36 Schädlich, Christian
853 Hälg, Bruno

CHF 100

100

0 Schulz, Hans

EUR 1 000

60

15 Boghe, Willy

MYR 0

100

MXN 71 458

100

74 Cheynet, Loïc

9 Wismer, Marcel

EUR 37

100

10 Babacan, Thomas

■

Unaxis Nederland BV , Utrecht

■

Leybold Vacuum Nederland BV , Utrecht

■

Unaxis (Philippines) Inc., Manila

PHP 5 250

100

16 Thenu, Marcel

Balzers S.p.z.o.o., Polkowice-Dolne

PLZ 5 000

100

28 Danis, Marek

■ ■

EUR 463

JPY and KRW in million, all other currencies in thousand

114

99.5

8 Piaschinski, Georg

Production
Distribution
R&D
Service

Name, registered office

Singapore

■ ■ ■ ■

Unaxis Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore

■ ■

Balzers Coating Pte. Ltd., Singapore

South Korea

SGD 15 000

100

142 Wismer, Marcel

SGD 6 000

100

45 Vogel, Christian

Unaxis Korea Ltd., Gyeonggi-do, Seoul

KRW 1 050

Balzers Korea Coating Co. Ltd., Pyong Taek,
Kyonggi-Do

KRW 6 000

89.9

Leybold Vacuum Korea Ltd., Seoul

KRW 7 080

99.5

19 Ende, Andreas
67 Biana, Alberto

■ ■

Leybold Vacuum Spain SA , Sant Feliu de Llobregat

EUR 168

99.5

Unaxis Holdin g AG , Pfäffiko n SZ

■

SEK 11 600
SEK 800

51
99.5

5 McGrail, Peter
38 Kim, Brian
157 Gim, Jong-Seong

8 Beck, Wolfgang
63 Hansson, Göran
6 Ball, Chris

C HF 282 849

100

0 Eggers, Harald (a.i.)

Unaxis Management AG, Pfäffikon SZ

CHF 2 000

100

57 Baumgartner, Beat

Unaxis Schweiz AG, Cham

CHF 2 400

100

365 Steinbichler, Jürgen

Unaxis SPTec SA , Neuenburg

CHF 1 000

100

■

Unaxis Trading AG, Trübbach

CHF 8 000

100

■

Unaxis International Trading AG, Cham

CHF 250

100

14 Steinbichler, Jürgen

CHF 2 000

100

32 Dosch, Vincens

■

■

100

51

■

■ ■ ■

99.5

EUR 150

Leybold Vacuum Scandinavia AB, Gothenburg

■

SGD 300

Balzers- ELAY SA, Antzuola

Balzers Sandvik Coating AB, Stockholm

■ ■

Switzerland

Balzers Revêtements SA , Brügg (Biel)

■ ■

Leybold Vacuum Schweiz AG, Zürich

■
■ ■ ■ ■

Contraves Space AG, Zürich

■ ■ ■
■

Thailand

Firmenleiter

■ ■

■

Taiwan

Number of
employees

Leybold Vacuum Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore

■

Sweden

Group
owns %

■

■ ■

Spain

Share capital in
local currency 1

CHF 300

99.5

7 Kroll, Ulrich
0 Häfeli, Erich

7 Beck, Wolfgang

CHF 15 000

100

281 Somaini, Umberto

Mecanovis AG, Trübbach

CHF 100

100

138 Suter, Dominik

InnoDisc AG, Windisch

CHF 100

100
100

0 Baumgartner, Beat

■

Unaxis Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu

TWD 20 000

■

Leybold Vacuum Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu

TWD 20 000

100

28 Lo, Joyce

■

ESEC Pacific North (Taiwan) Ltd., Hsin Chu Sein

TWD 5 000

100

27 Lo, Joyce

Balzers Coating Services Co. Ltd., Chonburi

THB 80 000

100

11 Lai, ChungPing

Unaxis USA Holding Inc., Pittsburgh, PA

USD 24 980

99.8

■ ■ ■

Unaxis USA Inc., St. Petersburg, FL

USD 14 730

99.8

■ ■

Unaxis Optics USA Inc., Golden, CO

■ ■

Balzers Inc., Elgin, IL

■ ■ ■

Leybold Vacuum USA Inc., Export, PA

■ ■

USA

■

■

Contraves Inc., Pittsburgh, PA

115

103 Lai, ChungPing

0 Druggs, Merrill
157 Barry, Ken

USD 1

99.8

72 Cusick, Mike

USD 20

99.8

316 Connell, Kent

USD 1 375

99.8

USD 500

99.8

82 Pellegrino, Dennis
3 Druggs, Merrill
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Country

Report of the Group Auditors

Report of the Group auditors to the General Meeting of
Unaxis Holding AG , Pfäffikon
As Group auditors, we have audited the consolidated financial statements
(income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of changes
in equity and notes, pages 79 through 115) of Unaxis Holding AG for the year
ended December 31, 2005. Semi-annual figures included in the income and
cash flow statements are not a formal part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
This consolidated statement is the responsibility of the Board of Directors.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this consolidated statement
based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards and
with International Standards on Auditing ( ISA), which require that an audit
be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. We have also assessed
the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position, the result of operations and the cash flows in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ( IFRS), and
comply with Swiss law.
We recommend that the consolidated financial statement submitted to you
be approved.

KPMG Fides Peat

Herbert Bussmann
Certified Public Accountant
Auditor in charge

Thomas Affolter
Certified Public Accountant

Zürich, March 17, 2006
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Key figures 2005–2001

Orders received
Orders on hand
Sales

1 455
355
1 605
59
4%
–34
–2%
18
1%
2%
84
91
1 983
1 039
52%
670
64%
567
–6%
6 434
600
148

EBITDA
– as % of sales
EBIT
– as % of sales

Net profit
– as % of sales

– as % of equity attributable to equity holders of Unaxis Holding AG
Cash flow from operating activities 1
Investments in fixed and intangible assets
Total assets
Equity attributable to equity holders of Unaxis Holding AG
– % of total assets
Net liquidity inclusive of marketable securities 2
– as % of equity attributable to equity holders of Unaxis Holding AG
Net assets 3
EBIT as % of net assets ( RONA )
Number of employees
Personnel expenses
Research and development expenses
1

Before change of net current assets.

2

Marketable securities are short-term investments and treasury
shares.

3

Net assets include all operating current and non-current assets
(excluding cash and cash equivalents and financial assets), less
operating liabilities (excluding financial debts and provisions
for taxes) for FY 2005 and 2004. Net assets include all operating
current and non-current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents and financial assets), less operating liabilities (excluding
financial debts, provisions for post-employment benefits and for
taxes and other provisions not charged against operating result)
for FY 2003 to 2001.

2004

2005

117

2003

1 778
494
1 850
–3
0%
–329
–18%
–372
–20%
–31%
114
240
2 411
1 215
50%
669
55%
488
–67%
6 844
629
180

2002

2001

1 788
575
1 610
157
10%
16
1%
32
2%
2%

1 494
409
1 490
71
5%
–83
–6%
–39
–3%
–3%

1 572
439
2 127
182
9%
–211
–10%
111
5%
7%

98
2 550
1 488
58%
728
49%
1 032
2%
6 456
595
154

77
2 525
1 476
58%
734
50%
1 075
–8%
6 544
634
157

232
3 016
1 667
55%
813
49%
1 202
–18%
7 241
775
208
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in CHF million

Income statement of Unaxis Holding AG

in CHF

Note

2004

2005

Income from investments in subsidiaries
Financial income
Other income

2
3

Financial expense
Other expense

4

Ordinary income
Gain on sales of investments
Change in value adjustments to loans and investments in subsidiaries

5
6

Net income/loss

118

61 175 552
31 891 120
2 314 187

39 101 875
13 460 940
7 454 027

95 380 859

60 016 842

–10 884 814
–32 468 819

–30 569 551
–31 471 798

52 027 226

–2 024 507

112 242 454
–159 838 822

19 755 428
–176 927 624

4 430 858

–159 196 703

Balance sheet at December 31 of Unaxis Holding AG

Assets
in CHF

Note

Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Treasury shares
Receivables
– from third parties
– from affiliated companies
Prepaid expenses and accrued income

7
8
9

Current assets
Investments
Loans to affiliated companies
Loans to third parties

%

2005

10
11
12

Non-current assets
Total assets

2004

%

212 321 481
103 248 047
245 471 728

16.8
8.2
19.4

464 337 179
0
25 264 653

39.2
0.0
2.1

762 573
4 995 402
62 130

0.1
0.4
0.0

343 548
1 202 015
2 377 321

0.0
0.1
0.2

566 861 361

44.8

493 524 716

41.6

359 848 166
338 452 467
0

28.4
26.8
0.0

298 308 008
375 492 582
19 137 257

25.1
31.6
1.7

698 300 633

55.2

692 937 847

58.4

1 265 161 994

100.0

1 186 462 563

100.0

Equity and liabilities

Current payables
– to third parties
– to affiliated companies
Accrued liabilities
Short-term deposits from affiliated companies
Provisions

Note

13
14

L iabilities
Share capital
Legal reserve
Free reserve
Reserve for treasury shares
Retained earnings
– Balance carried forward
– Net income/loss

15

Total equity

17

16

Equity and liabilities
Contingent liabilities

%

2005

18

329
17 423
550
204 512
132 673

2004

%

373
595
000
600
946

0.0
1.4
0.0
16.2
10.5

7 949
229
98 542
174 500

0
452
255
234
000

0
0.7
0.0
8.3
14.7

355 489 514

28.1

281 220 941

23.7

282
136
235
244

740
129
000
871

22.4
10.8
18.6
26.8

282
136
598
41

740
401
000
599

23.8
11.5
50.4
4.6

6 872 882
4 430 858

0.5
0.4

6 069 585
–159 196 703

0.5
–13.4

909 672 480

71.9

905 241 622

76.3

1 265 161 994

100.0

1 186 462 563

100.0

848
361
000
158

47 554 947

119

848
314
000
205

82 767 025
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in CHF

Notes to the financial statements of Unaxis Holding AG

General
Reporting basis (1)
The Unaxis Holding AG financial statements are prepared in compliance with Swiss Corporate Law. They are a supplement to the consolidated financial statements (pages 83 through 86) prepared according
to International Financial Reporting Standards ( IFRS). While the consolidated financial statements reflect the economic situation of the Group as
a whole, the information contained in the Unaxis Holding AG financial
statements (pages 118 through 119) relates to the ultimate parent company alone. The retained earnings reported in these financial statements
provide the basis for the decision regarding the distribution of earnings
to be made during the annual general meeting of shareholders.

Income statement
Income from investments in Group companies (2)
CHF 16 million of investment income was attributable to Unaxis Trading AG.
A further CHF 12 million resulted from the partial release of provisions
related to dividend income from Contraves Space AG in 1999. This provision in the original amount of CHF 102 million was created at that time,
because the dividends received from Contraves Space AG were based
partially on write-ups of book values (see also note 14).
Financial income (3)
The increase on the prior year is related to sales and increased value of
treasury shares amounting to CHF 16 million.
Financial expense (4)
In the previous year, the value of treasury shares had to be adjusted
downward by CHF 13 million to reflect their current market value. This,
together with a reduction of CHF 8 million in foreign exchange losses,
explains the decrease in financial expense in comparison to the previous
year.
Gain on sales of investments (5)
This item includes the profit from the sale of shares in Inficon Holding AG.
Also included is the release of reserves that were no longer needed upon
the sale of financial interests in Bally and Spinnerei Kunz.
Change in value adjustments to loans and investments in
subsidiaries (6)
Restructuring contributions in the amount of CHF 109 million were
made to Unaxis Balzers AG and CHF 37 million to Unaxis International
Trading AG, Cham. A further CHF 14 million were attributable to restructuring contributions and value adjustments for subsidiaries in Switzerland
and England.

Balance sheet
Cash and cash equivalents (7)
This item is comprised of current balances denominated primarily in
CHF and held with European banks. The decrease on the previous year
is mainly due to the increase in treasury shares.
Marketable securities (8)
This item is comprised of options on shares of Inficon Holding AG, and
other short-term investments. These are reported at market value.
Treasury shares (9)
The number of treasury shares rose from 223 581 to 1 412 694. They are
stated at the lower of cost or market value as of December 31, (see also
note 16). At year-end, the shares had a market value of approximately
CHF 280 million. Due to the rights acquired by participants in the stock
option plan, 61 418 (2004: 220 393) treasury shares were restricted as to
sale on the balance sheet date.

Investments (10)
As at the balance sheet date, the significant equity interests in subsidiary
companies as reflected on page 121 were included in Unaxis Holding AG’s
investment portfolio.
An overview of all companies in which Unaxis Holding AG has either a
direct or indirect equity interest is shown at the end of this report.
These investments have been recorded on the balance sheet at historical
cost less any value adjustments.
The increase of CHF 62 million versus the previous year is mainly due
to the acquisition of a CHF 45 million minority interest in Unaxis USA
Holding Inc. from Unaxis Deutschland Holding GmbH. Also included are
capital increases at subsidiaries in Brazil, China, Thailand and India,
as well as an expanded interest in Pilatus Flugzeugwerke AG and the
sale of shares in Inficon Holding AG .
Loans to affiliated companies (11)
This item consists of loans granted at prevailing market conditions. The
greatest portion is denominated in USD (55 percent), CHF (28 percent),
EUR (9 percent) and JPY (4 percent), and the remainder (4 percent) in SGD,
PLZ, GBP and SEK . The change to the prior year represents the net effect
of new loans granted, repayments and value adjustments.
Loans to third parties (12)
This item pertained to outstanding purchase price obligations of third
parties. These were fully repaid in the year under review.
Short-term deposits from affiliated companies (13)
Included in this item are short-term time deposits made with Unaxis
Holding AG by affiliated companies.
Provisions (14)
Of the provisions made during prior years for warranty obligations
associated with sales of investments, CHF 43 million were reversed (see
also notes 2 and 5), and CHF 27 million were used. CHF 28 million in
provisions for unrealised currency gains were reserved.
Share capital (15)
The share capital of CHF 282 848 740 is comprised of 14 142 437 registered shares, each with a par value of CHF 20. On the balance sheet date,
conditional capital amounted to CHF 47 million.
At the end of 2005, the stock register contained the names of 11 532
(2004: 22 702) registered shareholders. Victory Industriebeteiligung AG,
Vienna, held 46.5 percent (2004: 0 percent) of the outstanding shares.
No other shareholders were known to the Company who held more than
5 percent of its share capital.
Reserve for treasury shares (16)
This reserve represents the historical cost to the Company of 1 412 694
(2004: 223 581) treasury shares (see also note 9).
Changes in shareholders’ equity (17)
See table on page 122.
Contingent liabilities (18)
Contingent liabilities relate primarily to performance guarantees and
guarantees for bank loans of affiliated companies.
Net release of hidden reserves (19)
The company has released hidden reserves of CHF 78 million
(2004: CHF 9 million) in the financial year 2005.

During 2005 a net of 1 104 551 (47 798) shares were acquired in the open
market and 92 092 (19 195) shares from employees. The purchase prices
ranged from CHF 118.50 to 191.70. On average, a price of CHF 172.86 was
paid. 7 530 (59 244) shares were offered to employees at a preferred
price. Members of the Board of Directors were granted no compensation
in the form of Unaxis shares (5 671 shares). Further information on
treasury share transactions can be found in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.
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Investments
Currency

Leybold Vacuum Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu
Balzers Balinit do Brasil Ltda., Jundiaí-São Paulo
Balzers Coating (Suzhou) Co. Ltd., Suzhou
Balzers Coating Pte. Ltd., Singapore
Balzers GmbH, Kapfenberg
Balzers (India) Ltd., Bhorsari, Pune
Balzers Korea Coating Co. Ltd., Pyong Taek, Kyonggi-Do
Balzers Ltd., Milton Keynes
Balzers Luxembourg Sarl, Differdange
Balzers Revêtements SA , Brügg (Biel)
Balzers S.A. de C.V., Querétaro
Balzers Sandvik Coating AB , Stockholm
Balzers Sp.z.o.o. Polkowice-Dolne
Balzers SpA., Brugherio, Milan
Balzers- ELAY SA , Antzuola
Contraves Space AG , Zürich
ESEC Industries Pte. Ltd., Singapore
InnoDisc AG , Windisch
Mecanovis AG , Trübbach
Nihon Balzers Co. Ltd., Hiratsuka
Pilatus Flugzeugwerke AG , Stans
Balzers Coating Services Co. Ltd., Chonburi
Unaxis Schweiz AG , Cham
Unaxis (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai
Unaxis Balzers AG , Balzers
Unaxis Deutschland Holding GmbH, Aschheim (Munich)
Unaxis France Holding SAS, St. Thibault des Vignes
Unaxis International Trading AG , Cham
Unaxis Japan Co. Ltd., Tokyo
Unaxis Korea Ltd., Gyeonggi-do, Seoul
Unaxis Management AG , Pfäffikon SZ
Unaxis Nederland BV , Utrecht
Unaxis IT ( UK ) Ltd., Monmouth
Unaxis Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore
Unaxis SPTec SA , Neuenburg
Unaxis Trading AG, Trübbach
Unaxis USA Holding Inc., Pittsburgh, PA

Share capital

TWD
BRL
CNY
SGD

% equity interest

20
31
33
6

EUR
INR
KRW
GBP
EUR
CHF
MXP
SEK
PLZ

70
6 000
2
1
2
71
11
5

EUR
EUR
CHF

15

SGD
CHF
CHF
JPY
CHF
THB
CHF
CNY
CHF
EUR
EUR

100
10
80
2
99
30
30
4

CHF
JPY
KRW
CHF

450
1 050
2

EUR

000
430
107
000
350
000
000
000
000
000
458
600
000
130
150
000
100
100
100
000
000
000
400
321
000
680
000
250
000
000
000
37

GBP
SGD
CHF
CHF
USD
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15
1
8
24

000
000
000
980

000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
000
600
000
000
000
000

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
78.4
89.1
100.0
60.0
100.0
100.0
51.0
100.0
100.0
51.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
14.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
99.5
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
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Company

Changes in shareholders’ equity
in CHF million

Balance at January 1, 2003

Share
capital

263.4

Transfer from free reserve
Payment of dividend for financial year 2002
Elimination of reserve for treasury shares
Net profit 2003
Balance at December 31, 2003
Capital increase
Merger loss (ESEC)
Allocation to free reserve
Payment of dividend for financial year 2003
Elimination of reserve for treasury shares
Net loss 2004
Balance at December 31, 2004

Reserve
for treasury
shares

Legal
reserve

130.9

2.6

263.4

133.5

Total
shareholders’
equity

Retained
earnings

360.0

13.2

814.1

–15.0

15.0
–25.9
336.5

0
–25.9
0
336.5

338.8

1 124.7

–305.0
–27.7
–159.2

19.4
–52.0
0.0
–27.7
0
–159.2

–2.6

44.0

345.0

19.4
–52.0
305.0
2.8

282.8

136.3

Transfer from free reserve
Allocation to reserve for treasury shares
Net profit 2005
Balance at December 31, 2005

46.6

Free
reserves

282.8

122

136.3

–2.8

41.2

598.0

–153.1

905.2

–160.0
–203.0

160.0

203.0

4.4

0
0
4.4

11.3

909.6

244.2

235.0

Proposal of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors proposes at the General Meeting to be held on
May 23, 2006, that the available earnings from the 2005 financial year,
namely:
in CHF

2004

2005

Net profit/loss
Balance carried forward from previous year
Transfer from free reserve
Available earnings

4 430 858
6 872 882
0

–159 196 703
6 069 585
160 000 000

11 303 740

6 872 882

11 303 740

6 872 882

be appropriated as follows:
Balance to be carried forward

Pfäffikon SZ , March 17, 2006
On behalf of the Board of Directors
Chairman
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Georg Stumpf

Report of the Statutory Auditors

To the annual general meeting of shareholders of
Unaxis Holding AG , Pfäffikon
As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and financial
statements (income statement, balance sheet and notes, pages 118 through
122) of Unaxis Holding AG for the year ended December 31, 2005.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards,
which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. We have also assessed
the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the
proposed appropriation of available earnings comply with Swiss law and the
Company’s articles of incorporation.
We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Zürich, March 17, 2006

KPMG Fides Peat

Herbert Bussmann
Certified Public Accountant
Auditor in charge

Thomas Affolter
Certified Public Accountant
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Legal structure as at December 31, 2005

Balance at December 31, 2005

Unaxis Management AG, Pfäffikon, SZ/CH
Unaxis Schweiz AG, Cham/ CH
Unaxis SPTec SA , Neuenburg/ CH
Unaxis Trading AG , Trübbach/ CH
Unaxis International Trading AG , Cham/ CH
Unaxis Deutschland Holding GmbH, Aschheim (Munich)/ DE
. Unaxis Deutschland Vertriebs GmbH, Aschheim (Munich)/ DE
. Unaxis Optics Deutschland GmbH, Geisenheim/ DE
. SA Balzers NV , St. Truiden/ BE
. Balzers Verschleißschutz GmbH, Bingen/ DE
. Leybold Vacuum GmbH, Cologne/ DE
BuL Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Cologne/ DE
BuL Vermietungs-Verwaltungs GmbH, Cologne/ DE
Leybold Vacuum Schweiz AG, Zurich/ CH
Leybold Vacuum Dresden GmbH, Dresden/ DE
Leybold Vacuum Spain SA , Sant Feliu de Llobregat/ ES
Leybold Vacuum France SAS, Courtabœuf Cedex/ FR
Leybold Vacuum UK Ltd., London/ GB
Leybold Vacuum Italia SpA, Milan/ IT
Leybold Vacuum Nederland BV (Branch), Utrecht/ NL
Leybold Vacuum Scandinavia AB, Gothenburg/ SE
Leybold Vacuum Equipment Manufacturing Co. Ltd., Tianjin/ CN
Leybold Vacuum (Tianjin) Int. Trade Co. Ltd., Tianjin/ CN
Leybold Vacuum India Pte. Ltd., Maharashtra/ IN
Leybold Vacuum Japan Co. Ltd., Yokohama/ JP
Leybold Vacuum Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore/ SG
. perfectit! GmbH, Cologne/ DE
. Leybold Vacuum Korea Ltd., Seoul/ KR
Unaxis France Holding SAS, St. Thibault des Vignes/ FR
. Unaxis France SAS, Palaiseau/ FR
. Balzers SAS, St. Thibault des Vignes/ FR
Unaxis IT ( UK ) Ltd., Monmouth/ GB
Unaxis Balzers AG, Balzers/ LI
. Balzers AG, Balzers/ LI
Unaxis (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai/ CN
Unaxis Japan Co. Ltd., Tokyo/ JP
Unaxis Korea Ltd., Gyeonggi-do/ KR
Unaxis Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore/ SG
. Unaxis Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Branch), Penang/ MY
. Unaxis (Philippines) Inc., Mintinlupa/ PH
Balzers Revêtements SA , Brügg (Biel)/ CH
Balzers GmbH, Kapfenberg/ AT
Balzers Coating (Suzhou) Co. Ltd., Suzhou/ CN
Balzers- ELAY SA, Antzuola/ ES
Balzers Ltd., Milton Keynes/ GB
Balzers SpA, Brugherio, MI / IT
Balzers Luxembourg Sarl, Differdange/ LU
Unaxis Nederland BV , Utrecht/ NL
. Unaxis Italia (Branch), Arluno, MI / IT 1
. Unaxis Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu/ TW
. ESEC Pacific North (Taiwan) Ltd., Hsin Chu Sein/ TW
Balzers S.p.z.o.o., Polkowice Dolne/ PL
Balzers Sandvik Coating AB, Stockholm/ SE
Balzers (India) Ltd., Bhosari, Pune/ IN
Nihon Balzers Co. Ltd., Hiratsuka/ JP
Balzers Korea Coating Co. Ltd., Kyongsan/ KR
Balzers Coating Services Co., Ltd., Chonburi/ TH
Balzers Coating Pte. Ltd., Singapore/ SG
Balzers Balinit do Brasil Ltda., Jundiaí/ BR
Balzers SA de CV , Querétaro/ MX
Leybold Vacuum Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu/ TW
Contraves Space AG, Zurich/ CH
Mecanovis AG, Trübbach/ CH
InnoDisc AG, Windisch/ CH
Unaxis USA Holding Inc., Pittsburgh, PA /US
. Unaxis Optics USA Inc., Golden, CO/US
. Unaxis USA Inc., St. Petersburg, FL /US
. Balzers Inc., Elgin, IL /US
. Leybold Vacuum USA Inc., Export, PA /US
. Contraves Inc., East Pittsburgh, PA /US

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

1

Facilities of Unaxis Nederland BV , Utrecht NL
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Unaxis Holding AG, Pfäffikon, SZ/CH
–
–
–
–
–
–

Agenda, Contact

Agenda
March 28, 2006
Media and analysts’ conference on 2005 annual results,
Convention Point, SWX Swiss Exchange, 8021 Zurich
April 25, 2006
Key figures for the first quarter of 2006
May 23, 2006
General meeting of shareholders,
Lucerne Culture and Convention Center ( KKL)
August 22, 2006
Publication of the 2006 semi-annual report
October 24, 2006
Key figures for the third quarter of 2006
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Gottschalk +Ash Int’l, Zürich
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Contact
Unaxis Management AG
Corporate Communications
Churerstrasse 120
CH -8808 Pfäffikon SZ
Phone +41 (0)58 360 96 05
Fax +41 (0)58 360 91 93
media.relations@unaxis.com
investor.relations@unaxis.com
www.unaxis.com

Flux denotes the shifting tide,
the conditions under which we operate
and our irrepressible will to keep on
evolving and improving.

